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Biff-Bang
Ferdinand Mount

4774 wordsDonald Trump  likes to tell us that 'tariff' is 'the most beautiful word in the dictionary'. He does not remind us that the word comes from the Arabic ta'rif, or that such duties were first applied by medieval sheikhs and sultans in some of the places he has designated as 'shithole countries'. They were not really things of beauty either, being modest tolls to raise a little revenue, not intended to keep out foreign stuff, and were seldom charged at more than 5 per cent. It was the same in ancient Greece and Rome: customs duties were charged at ports of entry at rates of between 1 and 5 per cent. In Rome, the portoria on luxury imports - silk, pearls, incense, pepper - could go much higher, up to 12 or even 25 per cent, but these were sumptuary taxes, to appease killjoys such as Seneca and Pliny. They too were not protective, being levied on goods that Rome could not produce itself.
 Trump once scribbled a note on the way back from a frustrating G20 conference: 'TRADE is BAD.' Classical thinkers would have tended to agree, if not on quite the same grounds. Aristotle thought that the life of tradesmen and mechanics was 'ignoble and inimical to virtue'. He rather approved of the way that Thebes disqualified business types from public office until they had been retired for ten years. In The Laws, Plato deplores people living near harbours: 'Although there is sweetness in proximity for the uses of daily life; for by filling the markets of the city with foreign merchandise and retail trading, and by breeding in men's souls knavish and tricky ways, it renders the city faithless and loveless.' Self-sufficiency, autarkeia, was always preferable, trade at best a necessary evil. Only Pericles, according to Thucydides, had positive things to say about an open commercial society:
 The greatness of our city brings it about that all the good things from all over the world flow in to us, so that to us it seems just as natural to enjoy foreign goods as our own local products ... Our city is open to the world, and we have no periodical deportations in order to prevent people observing or finding out secrets which might be of military advantage to the enemy. 

It was also Pericles, however, who brought in a law forbidding foreign-born Athenians from claiming full citizenship, which would certainly have appealed to Trump (though his wife would have fallen foul of the law, as indeed did the second wife of Pericles).
 We do not often find in the ancient world the fierce determination actually to keep out foreign imports, and foreigners too, in the sort of language the president uses, which Ben Chu quotes at the start of his sharp analysis of modern tariff mania: 'There never has been a time in the history of the United States when tariff protection was more essential to the welfare of the American people than at present.' Such a plonking plank of policy finds little or no support in economic theory. More than a thousand economists wrote to the White House imploring the president to think again. Undaunted, he persisted with tariffs across the board, twinning them with the repatriation of more than a million Mexicans (half of whom were US citizens). The president that Chu is quoting was of course Herbert Hoover in 1932. Very little that Trump has actually done is without parallel in the Hoover years, and neither is the reaction from mainstream economic theory. A thousand economists delivered exactly the same message to Trump in 2018, making just as little impact as their predecessors. All that is different today is the saucy, teasing rhetoric of the incumbent, of which the buttoned-up Herbert would have been incapable.
 This is an unnerving parallel, and not the least unnerving aspect of the rise of the tendencies - isolationist, nationalist, populist or a combination of all three - which have so abruptly turned 'globalist' into a term of abuse. Chu, a BBC journalist of Chinese descent brought up in the North of England, is an acute guide, both to the historical resonances and the present economic realities, which leave even the most cocksure of us breathless and not a little baffled. We might start at the very least by looking further back beyond the 1930s, to try to trace the peculiar origins of protectionism as a weapon of choice in the armoury of modern governments. Trade history is too often a sideline reserved for economic historians, yet any effective study of the past four hundred years ought to move it to centre stage, as a prime generator of war and peace, stability and chaos, prosperity and dearth. As Clausewitz might have said, shooting wars are trade wars carried on by other means. Napoleon's invasion of Russia, for instance, came after the tsar quit the Continental Blockade.
 Through the Middle Ages, there seems to have been a presumption that unimpeded, if not untaxed, trade was a good thing. The door needed to be kicked open now and then, as, for example, by Clause 41 of the Great Charter of 1215: 'All merchants may enter or leave England unharmed and without fear, and may stay or travel within it, by land or water, for purposes of trade, free from all illegal exactions, in accordance with ancient and lawful customs.' There were toll points on bridges, mountain passes and harbours, but the goods got through, often facilitated by local colonies of foreign traders, such as the German merchants on the Rialto.
 It is only with improved trading links and the appearance of ambitious and energetic rulers that the idea of blocking imports or subsidising exports comes into play. The period that historians have designated as early modern Europe has been associated with several things: the Reformation, and the rise of capitalism and of colonialism, to name just a few. But what it is certainly soaked in is the rise of protectionism, as both an economic tool and a demonstration of national virility. Henry VIII's declaration in his 1533 Statute in Restraint of Appeals that 'this realm of England is an empire' has been a rallying cry for nationalists ever since. The sense of a separate national identity and of an increasingly manifest destiny becomes unmistakable.
 Sceptics such as the historian William Bouwsma have argued that even the roi soleil did not always get his own way. Monarchs who wanted to throw their weight about remained as short of cash as ever. Even under Jean-Baptiste Colbert, the greatest of mercantilists (as proponents of the new orthodoxy later came to be called), the government's deficit went on rising.
 Mercantilism usually means cronyism. As soon as a government resorts to protection, it is besieged and then manipulated by entrepreneurs angling for contracts and subsidies. That certainly happened in France, where Colbert's friends and relations collected most of the taxes and then dished out the proceeds to their own businesses. Samuel Dalies de la Tour, for example, was not only chief tax collector for the Dauphine but also a big supplier of timber and iron to the rapidly growing navy, with a nice sideline in textiles and sugar and also shares in the great colonial companies - quite a match for the Rockefellers and Musks of the modern era. Rather than 'l'Etat, c'est moi,' Daniel Dessert writes in his scorching demolition of the Colbert myth, Colbert ou le mythe de l'absolutisme (2019), it was a case of 'l'Etat, c'est eux!' The same nexus of omnivorous oligarchs was to be seen in America's Gilded Age, and now in the mob of tech bros crowding into the photo at Trump's second inauguration. The itch to have it all had come to stay, along with a willingness to deploy every tool that came to hand: tariffs, blockades, monopolies.
 In England, the impulse for national control seemed to grow regardless of party or regime, king or Commonwealth, Protestant or crypto-Catholic, Whig or Tory. Edward I slapped taxes on the wool trade, which helped to pay for the ring of magnificent castles with which he encircled Wales, a forerunner of Trump's 'beautiful wall' along the Mexican border. Good Queen Bess promoted her trade and navigation acts to develop British control of the seas and of colonial trade. So did Cromwell and the Stuarts in an obsessive sequence of new laws to make sure that English trade was carried only on English bottoms - 1650, 1651, 1663, 1673 and on to 1696. Import bans whistled through Parliaments, most repellently the Irish Cattle Acts of 1663 and 1666, resisted only in the House of Lords by absentee Irish landlords who had their own cattle to flog. The welfare of the Irish people was no part of the equation. Nor did the Glorious Revolution stem the tide. The ban on French goods of 1693-96 lasted nearly a century, until the Eden Act of 1786. Import duties of between 10 and 20 per cent were devised to pay for the war with France and began to create the tariff wall that was to endure into the 19th century. These duties were tidied up by Walpole and upped in 1747 and 1759 to make a baseline of 25 per cent, plus an additional levy of anything between 5 and 20 per cent on most goods.
 Thus, in the decade when Adam Smith, himself a customs officer, was gathering material for The Wealth of Nations (1776), the British state achieved an intensity of protectionism never seen before or since. This pervasive system deeply affected both the pride and the pockets of the American colonists, just as it impoverished the cattle breeders and linen drapers of Ireland and the weavers of Bengal, who had once enjoyed a 25 per cent share of global trade, but of whom a 19th-century proconsul, Lord William Bentinck, was to write: 'The misery hardly finds a parallel in the history of commerce. The bones of the cotton weavers are bleaching the plains of India.'
 The impact of these harsh tariffs on actual trade levels remains disputed. Sugar, tobacco, iron, coffee and rice continued to flood into Britain as fast as the colonies could produce them, despite the steepling duties. A lot of the pricier goods like silk and wine were 'smuggled' (that beguiling figure of the 'smuggler', the word imported from Dutch/Low German, first appears in 1661). But the legal imports of these irresistible luxuries boomed too. On the whole, as the economic historian Ralph Davis concludes, 'the consumer paid what he was asked.' In any case, the government would have been miffed if the revenue had been seriously damaged, for these were still primarily revenue-raising taxes to pay for foreign wars.
 The effect on political sensitivity in the colonies and in Britain's other island was another matter. You could well argue that justifiable resentment at the selfishness of the mother country was the real and lasting legacy of protectionism. Forget the 'special relationship'. The underlying emotional history of British relations with the Americans, as with the Indians and the Irish, has been one long Boston Tea Party.
 There is no mention of it in the musical about him, but if American protectionism is the legacy of any one man, it is Alexander Hamilton. As early as 1782, writing in the Continentalist, he declared that 'to preserve the balance of trade in favour of a nation ought to be a leading aim of its policy.' Imposts on trade were 'one of the most eligible species of taxation'. Import duties could help late starters to catch up. 'France was much later in commercial improvements, nor would her trade have been at this time in so prosperous a condition had it not been for the abilities and indefatigable endeavours of the great COLBERT.' A decade later, in his Report on Manufactures to Congress, Hamilton reiterated George Washington's instruction that 'a free people ought to promote such manufactories as tend to render them independent of others for essential, particularly for military, supplies'; everything from gunpowder to uniforms must be made in America. And since other nations showered their companies with subsidies, America must do so too. But Hamilton went further in putting his vision into practice. He worked hand in glove with two of Richard Arkwright's former apprentices, Samuel Slater and George Parkinson, to set up America's first water-powered cotton mill. Both men had sworn on oath not to disclose the secrets of Arkwright's water frame, and they were also breaking British laws against the export of new technology. President Jackson later dubbed Slater 'the father of the American industrial revolution'. Back home in Derbyshire, he was 'Slater the Traitor'. Thus Hamilton was not only the father of the strong presidency and the American banking system, for which he is already renowned, he was also the father both of US protectionism and of US industrial espionage - something worth remembering when Trump's flunkeys profess to be horrified by China's unscrupulous theft of American technology.
 International trade was one of the few functions clearly reserved for the government under the US constitution. Import duties were especially appealing to the infant government, which had no other source of income. The first version of a federal income tax was not devised until the pressing emergency of the Civil War, and only made permanent under the Sixteenth Amendment of 1913, under the shadow of another dire emergency.
 George Washington's Farewell Address of 1796 laid down the guidelines for American exceptionalism:
 Against the insidious wiles of foreign influence ... the jealousy of a free people ought to be constantly awake, since history and experience prove that foreign influence is one of the most baneful foes of republican government ... The great rule of conduct for us in regard to foreign nations is, in extending our commercial relations, to have with them as little political connection as possible ... Our detached and distant situation invites and enables us to pursue a different course ... Why forego the advantages of so peculiar a situation? ... It is our true policy to steer clear of permanent alliances with any portion of the foreign world. 

This memorable advice feeds into the instinctive protectionism that one finds in the speeches of Washington's successors, Madison and Monroe; the same theme comes loud and strong from Andrew Jackson, and at the end of the 19th century from Trump's special hero, President McKinley. From the start, tariffs were baked into what became known as the American System. The arguments seemed rather less convincing to Adam Smith, and to most economists then and now. After all, early US governments may have been short of revenue, but they did rule over an enormous domestic free-trade area, with endless natural resources and intoxicating possibilities of territorial expansion, not to mention an adventurous and industrious population.
 Yet tariffs have never ceased to be a divisive issue in American politics, not least in the ongoing hostility between the manufacturers of the North, who insisted on tariffs, and the cotton and tobacco growers of the Southern states, who wanted to trade freely. The so-called Tariff of Abominations of 1828 nearly provoked South Carolina to break away from the union in the Nullification Crisis; the continuing friction was a contributory cause of the Civil War. The South had Gladstone's sympathy, because they were free-traders and Lincoln was blockading the Confederate ports, through which came four-fifths of Britain's cotton and a quarter of its food supplies. The blockade caused great distress in Gladstone's beloved Lancashire. By comparison, slavery seemed to him, initially anyway, a less pressing issue, though he later confessed that this had been 'a palpable error'. But the heat has never gone out of the tariff question.
Robert  Lighthizer has been wrestling with US trade policy since Reagan's day. In No Trade Is Free, he gives a passionate defence of the tariffs that he personally negotiated in Trump's first term. For him, Trump can do no wrong, and with innocent pleasure he records whenever Trump returns the compliment: 'Bob Lighthizer is great. I've heard it for years. I said: "If ever I do this, I want to get Lighthizer to represent us," because he felt the way I did.' And he does. According to Lighthizer, free trade is 'a theory that has never worked anywhere'. Or, as the great protectionist Henry Clay of Kentucky put it more picturesquely in 1832, during the Nullification Crisis, 'the call for free trade is as unavailing as the cry of a spoiled child, in its nurse's arms, for the moon or the stars that glitter in the firmament of heaven. It never has existed; it never will exist.'
 Lighthizer argues forcefully against the view that what President Trump had been trying to bring about was unprecedented: 'This claim is upside down. The dangerous change actually took place in the early 1990s, when American policymakers effectively decided to let the rest of the world make our trade policy.' This 'crazy experiment' was itself unprecedented. Its catastrophic results led to Trump's election, and one of his major goals 'was to return US trade policy to its realistic and pragmatic roots'. Historically, as we have seen, this is a justifiable claim. Lighthizer has every right to argue that 'protecting American trade interests was one of the very reasons for our revolution. Further, the America First policies of President Trump really were the heirs of the "American System" policy that guided our nation for decades.' And, Lighthizer adds, 'that made it great.' But did it? Post hoc, ergo propter hoc?
 Lighthizer never really addresses the question of why he thinks tariffs are a uniquely effective remedy for the nation's more vulnerable spots. He also fails to demonstrate the benefits of Trump's first batch of tariffs or to spell out the extra costs they entailed for consumers and for the manufacturers who used the steel and the rare earths and all the other items that had suddenly shot up in price. The 2018 Trump tariffs failed to increase the number of domestic steelmaking jobs, and according to the non-partisan Tax Foundation, the knock-on effects reduced long-term US GDP, wages and employment by the equivalent of 166,000 full-time jobs. The steel tariffs imposed by Carter, Reagan and George W. Bush had been equally ineffective - and costly. Trump's yo-yoing between threats and hints at deals in the past few months are no more likely to do anybody much good, except of course the US Treasury, which according to Chu's report for BBC Verify in July is now hauling in $28 billion per month in import duties, triple the rate last year. It is slowly dawning on the American public that, at the end of these tedious tussles, they are likely to be paying around 15 per cent more for their imports (18.2 per cent is Chu's latest average figure, up from a mere 2.4 per cent under Biden, and the highest level since 1934). Trump is already trying to soften the blow by hinting at some kind of cashback from the Treasury to US taxpayers - which would only make the whole exasperating carousel seem more pointless still.
 Lighthizer's engaging polemic (on the flyleaf, Donald Trump hails it as 'a masterpiece', but then he would, wouldn't he?) suffers from a crippling absence of economic argument, as has been the case in so much tariffist propaganda down the years. Indeed, one or two zealots, such as Richard W. Thompson of Indiana, secretary to the US navy in the 1870s, went so far as to argue that the economics of David Hume and Adam Smith was a bogus science, a put-up job: 'This new science ... would not, in all probability, have acquired the designation of a science at all, if it had not been found that its free-trade principles were necessary to the commercial interests of England.'
 Where American companies such as Microsoft and Apple achieve global supremacy, we are told, it is because of American knowhow and get-up-and-go. When American industries sink, it is because of unfair competition, predatory pricing, forced transfer or intellectual theft. China's ambition to lead the world is sinister; America's determination to retain the No. 1 spot is nothing of the kind. Now and again, Lighthizer does admit that the US may have missed a trick. For example, he moans about the VAT systems of other countries, which reward exports and penalise imports, but expresses a stifled regret that Congress failed to ratify a similar system for the US, the so-called 'House Blueprint'. The idea has surfaced again in the Republican zealots' pet project of the 'FairTax Act'. This would abolish the federal income tax in favour of a national sales tax, exempting exports, and thus returning to the American System of the early 19th century.
 A more pressing difficulty for the tariff-fanciers is that the US, like the rest of the world, enjoyed a great leap in prosperity during the years of unprecedentedly free trade between 1945 and 1993, as Lighthizer freely acknowledges. Successive rounds of GATT (General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade) negotiations resolved most of the thorniest difficulties, and millions around the world were lifted out of poverty.
 The rot set in, as Lighthizer sees it, in the 1990s, when the World Trade Organisation acquired legal power to resolve trade disputes and usually ruled against the US, which prompted the Trump administration to scupper the WTO court by refusing to appoint fresh justices to its bench. 'A crucial mistake,' according to Lighthizer, had been to let China into the WTO and treat it as just another country like America's free-market allies. The result was that millions of well-paid jobs in US manufacturing disappeared, as more and more work was outsourced and offshored. China flooded every market with cheap goods and the wages of American workers stagnated or sank. This supposed chain of cause and effect seems a little shaky. The US steel industry had been in the doldrums for years, and the rise of Far East manufacturers a long time coming over the horizon. Losing a few cases in the WTO could scarcely effect such a cataclysmic shift. More likely culprits are automation, an overvalued dollar and the reluctance of the federal government to bestir itself to look after the casualties. As Chu puts it, 'the overall economic gains have been more than sufficient for the governments of those countries - whether America, France, Britain or Germany - to compensate those workers and communities' who had lost out. There are a few encouraging exceptions: for example, the rebirth of Pittsburgh after the loss of its huge steel mills. But the trouble is that, by and large, there has been no New New Deal. In the UK, governments of both parties have been shamefully feeble in their efforts to revive derelict coal-mining areas or the mill towns of Lancashire or down-at-heel seaside resorts.
 'Trade wars are easy to win,' Trump claims. Only if you don't bother to count how much they've cost you. These mano a mano jousts in front of the cameras take little account of consequences in the real world. Trump's tariffs on Chinese imports, for example, have lifted the import taxes hitting one educational toy manufacturer in Illinois from $2.3 million a year to more than $100 million, causing him to move production, not to the US but to Vietnam and India (Lighthizer is almost as fiercely down on Modi as he is on the Chinese, describing India as 'the most protectionist country on earth'). Canadian manufacturers, who often trade both in Canada and in the US, face a double hit on their supply chains, from Trump's duties on Canadian imports and Canada's retaliatory duties on American goods. And so on and on.
 What Ben Chu sets out so effectively in Exile Economics is the way complex global supply chains and swirling patterns of supply and demand make the biff-bang of tariff wars so damaging; bulls in China shops tread lightly by comparison. Take soy, the 'magic bean', which is now the principal component of everything from animal feed to biodiesel and is the most widely sown crop in the US. The result is that American soy fattens Chinese pigs, which fatten Chinese citizens, who make the world's computers, clothes and TV sets. It's crazy to start tariffing soy, as several major producers now do; the world can't get enough of the stuff. Again, China may still be the world's largest fossil-fuel polluter, but it also produces 85 per cent of the world's solar panels and 66 per cent of the world's wind turbines, thereby reducing their costs to levels where they are cheaper to run than fossil-fuel power plants.
 Or by contrast, take steel, since the days of Hamilton the prime target for tariffs. There is now a huge world oversupply of steel - which is indeed largely China's fault and now China's problem - but it is also the case that Western countries with an ailing steel industry, such as the UK, have, over the years, accumulated enough scrap for recycling to be able to meet most of their future demand for steel. They have only to offer a little judicious support to the necessary electric arc furnaces. The problem is eminently soluble without resort to tariffs, like so many other problems, such as the fact that the majority of the world's advanced chips are manufactured, not in China, but in Taiwan by the Taiwan Semiconductor Manufacturing Corporation.
 China in fact spends more on importing chips than on its next biggest import, crude oil. These dear little things, Chu tells us, are the most globally traded products in human history, often crossing borders more than seventy times before completion, with parts drawn from Dutch, German, American and Japanese firms, and the profits derived from the final product going largely to American megafirms. Which has not stopped the Americans from panicking and under the Biden administration passing the CHIPS Act, to begin the hoped-for 'reshoring' of the manufacturing process. The first great effort in this direction is the building of a $65 billion chip factory in Phoenix. To make a go of it, the factory is importing a complete workforce of nimble-fingered Taiwanese. Morris Chang, father of the Taiwanese chip industry, has predicted nevertheless that such efforts by the US and others will 'prove a wasteful and expensive exercise in futility'.
 Of course, it would be equally bigoted to claim that tariffs never work. Little protected corners of the industrial scene may tick over nicely for years. Lighthizer has a particular soft spot for the American small-trucks tariff of 25 per cent, which manages to keep out all imports. It's the small-trucks sector that supplies the bulk of the profits of US automobile companies. Many would not survive otherwise. And even free-trade enthusiasts may develop a sudden infatuation for tariffs. In 1933, during the Great Depression, John Maynard Keynes changed his mind (as he famously claimed he had every right to do) and conceded, as it turned out wrongly, that 'a greater measure of national self-sufficiency and economic isolation between countries, than existed in 1914, may tend to serve the cause of peace rather than otherwise.' Even Adam Smith was ready to concede that
 humanity may in this case require ... that the freedom of trade should be restored only by slow gradations, and with a good deal of reserve and circumspection. Were those high duties and prohibitions taken away all at once, cheaper foreign goods of the same kind might be poured so fast into the home market as to deprive all at once many thousands of our people of their ordinary employment and means of subsistence. 

 Smith was also ready to see some merit in the 'infant-industries' argument for protecting new experimental businesses: 'A temporary monopoly of this kind may be vindicated upon the same principles upon which a like monopoly of a new machine is granted to an inventor, and that of a new book to its author.'
 But the thesis that an economy can prosper only if it shelters behind an impassable tariff wall, and that these ingenious defences have no downside, is hard to maintain, especially if you look back at the dire history of the 1930s and then contrast it with the golden years after the war. It seems unlikely that tariffs will turn out to be the deciding factor of the late 2020s and early 2030s. It is the least convincing cliche of the age that 'globalisation has passed its sell-by date.' On the contrary, tariff mania seems like a frantic attempt to resurrect the past, not unlike those nostalgic monarchs who tried to keep the medieval tournament alive in the age of muskets and gunpowder.
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Thirteen Thousand Rats
  Jon Day's account of the tribulations of the rodents conscripted into Dr Calhoun's behavioural experiments recalls the novelist and zoologist Maarten 't Hart's memoir, published in translation in  Granta in 2004, which relates his atrocious experiences as rat wrangler on the set of Werner Herzog's film Nosferatu the Vampyre (LRB, 24  July). Initially engaged to supply ten brown rats from his own laboratory for some brief shipboard scenes, 't Hart soon found himself manoeuvred by the persuasive Herzog into a central role in  the management of thirteen thousand white rats imported from Hungary to the set in Delft. After a three-day truck journey in overcrowded cages without food or water and a further day under the same  conditions in a rented barn, only about eight thousand animals had survived, mainly by eating their companions. 't Hart enlisted the help of two of his more resilient students to get the remainder  suitably caged and fed, but further brutality awaited them as a result of the obvious unsuitability of their white coats for the representation of black plague rats. A trial hundred were immersed  in boiling dye and perished immediately, before experiments at less lethal temperatures achieved a greyish colour. The disgruntled survivors immediately set about grooming themselves free of the  dye, resulting in the pale beige rats of the finished film.
  The Delft Municipality, understandably sceptical of Herzog's assurances that no rats would be permitted to escape from the street locations, eventually called a halt. The shoot transferred to  nearby Schiedam until it too had had enough, leaving a few remaining rat scenes to be completed in Hamburg, after which the rats, instinctively timid in open spaces and having only experienced  captivity, were abandoned to the streets.
  't Hart's account contains some inaccuracies about Nosferatu, which he misdescribes as set in the Middle Ages. Curiously, he writes that he witnessed the shooting of a scene in which Bruno  Ganz, as the unfortunate estate agent Jonathan Harker, jumps in terror into the sea from the deck of Nosferatu's commandeered plague ship. Herzog's film, following F.W. Murnau's original of 1922,  doesn't place Harker on the ship at all, but has him making a desperate overland journey on horseback in a fevered attempt to reach his fiancee in Wismar before Nosferatu can arrive by sea and  plunge his rat-like fangs into her.
  In Paul Cronin's Herzog on Herzog (2002), Herzog contradicts 't Hart's apocalyptic account of the rats' suffering (though he doesn't mention him by name), and insists that the majority of  the original animals did not end up dead or lost; instead, the production ended up with five hundred more rats than it started with and he sold them all at the end of the shoot. To whom, and for  what purpose, he omits to mention.


Paul Colbeck

				London E8
			


Renters v. Rentiers
  Mark Wonnacott writes that the introduction of 'fair rents' led to what a Tory Party pamphlet called the 'Eclipse of the Private Landlord' in the 1970s (Letters, 10  July). The story is longer and more complicated than that. Stringent rent controls and security of tenure in the private rental sector were first introduced in 1915 - when the sector accounted  for about 90 per cent of all housing - because of the effects of the First World War. There was some lifting of rent controls in the interwar period, but they were fully reinstated at the start of  the Second World War. The 'fair rents' introduced under the 1965 Rent Act were intended to be 'fair' to both landlords and tenants.
  The introduction of rent controls, coupled with security of tenure, could have a very positive effect on the affordability of housing, while having little impact on the total supply. Most private  landlords enter the market by buying existing property (much of it former council housing), not by investing in new houses. Rent controls will themselves improve affordability for tenants. If rent  controls induce landlords to sell this will not alter the overall supply: it will provide stock for owner occupation (and purchase by local councils to house homeless families). This will tend to  depress prices and make owner occupation more affordable.


Martin Cox

				London SE12
			


Who's there?
  Barbara Everett's essay on Hamlet, which begins by considering the play's first line, 'Who's there?', brings to mind another scholar's work on this topic (LRB, 24 July). I refer to Stephen Potter, author of One-Upmanship and founder of the Lifemanship Correspondence College. Potter enumerates for his  students no fewer than nine possible strategies ('ploys') to analyse the line 'Who keeps the gate here, ho!' (Henry IV, Part Two). The first of these he calls the 'Character Ploy':
    One of Shakespeare's subtle touches. Note how even the request for a gate to be opened can reveal the impetuousness of the bluff speaker, the lordly peremptoriness of one accustomed to be obeyed    ... This play, full of warriors and their retainers, kings and lords, might be termed a study in the terminology of feudal modes of address. (Students are recommended to learn the above phrase by    heart.)  

  LCC students were expected not to read the text in question. In this respect, Potter's legacy stands firmly opposed to that modern scourge, the Large Language Model, which reads everything.


George Kopp

				Santa Fe, New Mexico
			


Conscience
  Huw Lemmey mounts a necessary defence of conscience at a time when dissent is increasingly conflated with criminality (LRB, 24 July). As the director of  Action on Armed Violence, an organisation that documents the impact of explosive weapons on civilians, I welcome Lemmey's reminder that non-violent resistance to militarism is not terrorism, but  often a moral imperative. To challenge the manufacture of weapons used in alleged war crimes is not extremism. It is, in the tradition of Edward Burrough and the Peace Testimony, a refusal to let  legality override justice. The state may proscribe movements, but it cannot outlaw conscience.


Iain Overton

				London E3
			


Emigres
  When I read Jonathan Meades's description of the miseries of wartime internees, I think of my grandfather (LRB, 26 June). A Pole from Krakow, of Jewish  heritage, he was on holiday in the UK when he was interned as an enemy alien in 1914. I have a photo of him leaning against a tree at a jaunty angle, smartly dressed, cigarette in hand. He made  friends with musicians, joined a choir. There's a manuscript book of folk tunes someone wrote out for him in a neat, professional hand. He married my grandmother, a London Jew, soon after the war,  was a bon viveur, and did mysterious work for the Allies in the Second World War using the languages he had learned - English included - in a polyglot Europe.


Joanna Collins

				Edale, Derbyshire
			


Prions
Stephen Buranyi accepts the optimistic idea promulgated by Michel Brahic that prions can cause Alzheimer's, Parkinson's and other diseases (LRB, 24 July). I say optimistic because when it was discovered that the cause of BSE was a prion it was possible to introduce measures that led to the extinction of the disease it caused in humans, variant Creutzfeldt-Jakob disease. This is because the prion is infectious and spreads from individual to individual by transmission routes which can be blocked by public health measures. But the evidence that Alzheimer's and Parkinson's can spread in this way is not there. So pessimism is in order, especially in light of the fact that scientific progress on these common diseases has been glacial in the quarter-century since my piece on BSE was published in the LRB of 14 December 2000.


Hugh Pennington

				Aberdeen
			


Blame 'Scarface'
  Bee Wilson describes Al Pacino in Scarface as having an 'overdone Cuban accent' (LRB, 26 June). In fact his portrayal of Tony Montana was a  racist caricature, and its consequences linger to this day. The film's propaganda about Mariel Cuban refugees begins as early as the film's pseudo-factual opening titles, which refer to Castro  sending 'the dregs of his jails' to the United States.
  In the late 1990s and early 2000s, when I was researching US immigration prisons, Cuban prisoners told me in interviews that the movie's influence became part of the circular logic which allowed US  immigration officials to keep them locked up for years as 'administrative detainees'. They weren't imagining this. In 1986, three years after the movie's release, a former adviser to the New York  senator Alfonse D'Amato wrote that the behaviour of Mariel Cubans was 'so violent and unusual that Hollywood was inspired to produce a movie entitled Scarface, which portrayed the  tremendously violent behaviour exhibited by these Cubans'.
  Today the Trump administration relies on rhetoric about immigrant crime, uses tattoos as justification for incarceration, and repeats baseless claims that countries such as Venezuela are 'emptying  their prisons' and 'sending their worst' to the US. All are intentional adaptations by Trump, Stephen Miller and the rest of the propaganda about Mariel Cubans exemplified by Scarface.  Pacino, as he proudly says of the film in his memoir, 'could live on the residuals ... for life'.


Mark Dow

				Brooklyn, New York
			


Fifteen Seconds of Fame
  Nigel Farage's presence on TikTok is surprising and concerning for all the reasons William Davies describes (LRB, 26 June). Some of his success on the  platform stems from a less well-known side hustle. Fans can pay for a personalised video message via the site Cameo, which has resulted in the circulation on TikTok of notorious clips of Farage  reciting scripts containing references to online memes. No doubt this has increased his reach with a younger audience: populists succeed in the attention economy whether they're the butt of the  joke or not.


David Swarbrick

				London E5
			


On Christopher Hill
  It's hard to write the life of an academic, Stefan Collini thinks, especially one who never wrote an autobiography, like Christopher Hill (LRB, 22 May).  Collini doesn't mention God's Englishman: Oliver Cromwell and the English Revolution, Hill's still thrilling historical biography of Cromwell, published in 1970, which seems to me threaded  with insights into Hill's personal reckoning with revolutionary Marxism. Cromwell, who began with radical hopes and ended as a 'constable' of order, becomes a mirror for Hill's own disillusionment.  He talks of Cromwell 'combining the roles of Robespierre and Napoleon, of Lenin and Stalin'. The counter-revolution is baked into the revolution, you can hear him sigh. The book was attacked, like  so many of his works, in this case for its partial justification or whitewashing of Cromwell's campaigns in Ireland - though he would get a fairer reading today, now that a new generation of Irish  historians has revisited events such as the Siege of Drogheda.


John Mullen

				London N4
			


Dancing the Mazurka
  Those who fed the 'flurry of British alarm', as Jonathan Parry puts it, provoked by the Russian capture of Merv in 1884 - Merv was figured as a stepping stone leading to Herat - were dismissed by  the former India secretary George Campbell as 'Mervous', and the jitters of the day's leader-writers as 'Mervousness' (LRB, 17 April).


Peter Geier

				Baltimore, Maryland
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Poem
Under the Iron Bridge
David Harsent

188 wordsA man is fishing under the iron bridge.
If I watch him watching the water, I see he is lost
in thought. His morning dream came with him.
His children are soft-voiced with pain; the dream
is a wheel where they turn to tell him sorrow is gain.
The way he sets his spine to the ironwork
is a drag-line of grief: loss or abandonment. The lure
snags, bright metal, triple-hooked, a fish broken-backed;
he trawls it through the wash and lets it lie: he isn't here
for that. There's a flask in his tackle-box. He'll drink it dry.
People on the bridge go hand over hand,
keeping time; they come to the edge; their heels
drum the boardwalk. The music is shared but unheard,
steps perfectly matched, but unknown. Look now:
he's asleep and falls in with the dance but dances alone.
Later, he gathers fragments from the dream
where it blurred and broke open: masks that once
were faces, hands turning cards, long shadows
he can neither outpace nor disown. The wheel is locked off.
The children tell him there's nothing to be done.
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Born on the Beach
Josephine Quinn

3228 wordsThe seaside  was invented in the 18th century, along with freedom, fraternity and the rights of man. The beach was Britain's contribution to modernity, a product of the Industrial Revolution and the rise of cities. A new interest in fresh air and exercise took hold, especially among the upper classes: labour took care of the bodies of their workers. Before that the coast was a source of danger or at best mystery, but now the sea became restorative, especially when taken cold. Decades before Brighton, the first real resort was Scarborough. Men swam naked but women were if anything more than fully clothed, and were pulled to the water by horse-drawn hut. Over the years Romantic artists added emotional respectability to a day at the beach and trains brought the tourists in ever greater numbers. The fashion spread with the British to the Continent and even to the Mediterranean: the Promenade des Anglais at Nice was originally funded by the local Anglican church.
 Now the sea is back in vogue. Blue Humanities has taken over large parts of the academy in the last decade, bringing the human relationship with oceans, rivers, lakes and seas to the top of the scholarly agenda just as those waters gather to end humanity for good. Mediterranean, Atlantic and Pacific Studies give way to Oceanic Thinking, alongside sophisticated analyses of the sea shanty. Life within the sea is of as much interest now as the ships that cross its surface, as maritime archaeologists uncover lost worlds and learn to call the octopus a co-worker not a complication. And plenty of books have been published on the ancient sea, most of them considering the ways of water in Greek and Latin literary texts. The problem for historians trying to muscle in is that you can't historicise water on anything other than a very longue duree. Seas are repetitive creatures, working in cycles of tides, migration and climate change, which is normally to say the waxing and waning of the Ice Age. It is the coast that creates the past.
 The ancients knew this. As Paul Kosmin points out, 'history begins on the shore, and there it finds its limit.' Herodotus, the first to record the results of historical 'inquiries' in the late fifth century bce, begins by surveying a series of legends of Phoenician, Trojan and Greek sailors kidnapping each other's women from the shoreline: these he says helped his predecessors explain the long history of resentments and misunderstandings leading up to the wars of his own era between Greeks and 'Barbarians' (mostly Persian).
 Kosmin's case is that the coast was 'central to the economic, political and social dynamics of the ancient Mediterranean and west Asia and to the inner life of their inhabitants'. This isn't a retrojection of the British day out at the seaside: notorious Roman coastal resorts like Baiae were more like modern spa towns. Instead, for Kosmin the shore is 'the single most significant setting in antiquity for cultural contact, interregional mobility, trade and predation', and his relentless curiosity in pursuit of these themes makes The Ancient Shore an exemplary instance of an underserved genre: the beach book for academics.
 Kosmin ranges widely around ancient coastlines, but the chronological focus is on the Hellenistic period from the mid-fourth to the late first century bce, or from Alexander of Macedon's conquest of much of the known world to the Roman conquest of Cleopatra, the Mediterranean's last Macedonian queen. This works because it is, as Kosmin says, a period of 'thickening': the coast exerts an increasing pull on the collective cultural imagination as Greco-Macedonian ships enter new waters under Alexander and his successors. It is also a logical step on from Kosmin's earlier books, which concentrated on the Seleucid dynasty, the Macedonian generals who inherited Alexander's empire in Asia as far east as India. Land of the Elephant Kings (2014) described the Seleucid creation of imperial space by establishing clear-cut borders to a territory made up of vastly different lands and peoples. Time and Its Adversaries in the Seleucid Empire (2018) explored the 'Seleucid Era' introduced by the new kings, breaking with older methods of dating by annual office-holders or the years of individual reigns to create the first calendar of continuous time from Seleucus I's reconquest of Babylon in 311 bce, the model for counting anno domini. Now Kosmin, a professor at Harvard and as close to a superstar scholar as you get these days in ancient history (it's been a long time since Theodor Mommsen won the Nobel Prize in Literature in 1902 for his History of Rome), moves well beyond studies of the state. He also bypasses the current fad for global antiquity, with its focus on human history, to engage directly with the 'planetary': 'vast, untameable and heedless geological, climatic and astronomical processes'. Like earthquakes and eclipses, 'the shore draws us into conference with forces that precede and surpass all human measure.'
 His study falls into three sections. The first examines connectivity around and across the Indian Ocean, which was to the Greeks 'Erythraean', or Red - not to be confused with our own 'Red Sea', a minor inlet of that ocean. Unlike the cosy world of the Mediterranean coast, united by overlapping culture, taste and stories spread by intensive shipping from the start of the first millennium, Kosmin's 'Southern Sea' was a vast 'sovereignty void'. Its tides and difficult coastline kept polities sparse and oriented mostly inland. Along with the ocean's immense size, that coastline tended to prevent the emergence of state domination, dense interaction or widespread cultural cohesion. Instead, interlocking maritime regions or cells were known well only to their own sailors, vaguely to their neighbours, and in the Mediterranean before Alexander hardly at all.
 Greek intellectuals soon moved to fill this void with a 'progressive encompassment' of the new sea. This culminated in the second century ce with Ptolemy of Alexandria in his Geography enclosing the Indian Ocean entirely with a fictional southern coast. It began, however, with Agatharchides of Cnidus who worked at Alexandria in the mid-second century bce. His On the Erythraean Sea is the earliest known encyclopedic discussion of that ocean, collecting together traders' reports as well as the royal journals and legal codes of the Ptolemies, the Macedonian dynasty that had inherited Alexander's Egypt. The text survives only in fragments, but Kosmin traces its construction of 'an unbroken beach horizon' brought together by the 'Fisheaters', a single community found along much of the ocean shore, living in the intertidal zone and living off the sea. This imaginary 'people' has no hinterland and no property, territory or culture; they are 'born on the beach' and they return each other's bodies to the sea. Kosmin labels this 'an autarchic utopia of the foreshore', though it was not all that utopian, at least once Greek-speakers turned up: Agatharchides cites the report of a Ptolemaic envoy to the southern Red Sea on the extraordinary emotional passivity of the Fisheaters, to the extent that 'even when their children or women are slaughtered before their eyes, they remain unmoved.'
 Opportunities for such experimentation blossomed in the period Agatharchides was writing, with the Ptolemies' 'discovery' of the monsoon winds. Long known to Indian and Arabian sailors, these air currents sweep past the bottom of the Red Sea at the edge of the ancient Egyptian watery world, bearing ships north-east towards India in the summer and south-west towards Arabia and East Africa in the winter. Only from there did goods from India and beyond finally reach the Red Sea and Mediterranean, until Greco-Macedonian ships too learned to ride the trade winds.
 Various tales appeared to explain the arrival of this new knowledge. The best is that of an Indian sailor discovered shipwrecked and half-dead by the Ptolemaic coastguard on the Red Sea shore. Unable to get any sense out of him, the authorities at Alexandria send him for Greek lessons. He then tells them that he set out from India, his ship lost its course and the rest of his crew died of starvation. He agrees to lead an expedition directly back to India, no doubt the price of his own ticket home, and the Ptolemies send with him the scholar-adventurer Eudoxus of Cyzicus. Eudoxus makes a successful return and then leads a second trading voyage of his own to the Indian coast. This time, however, he runs into difficulties on the way back and is himself shipwrecked on the African coast. As he waits for repairs he busies himself learning the local language and investigating the remains of a ship with a prow in the shape of a horse's head. Learning that it must have belonged to Phoenician sailors who had set out from Gades (modern Cadiz) down the Atlantic coast of Africa, he makes his way west through the Mediterranean to attempt the same circumnavigation, only to be lost at last at sea.
 It's a great story, and Kosmin gives it a new reading, pointing out its interest in sailors learning new languages in the new ocean and its focus on predecessors there to the Greeks. He also argues for its 'underlying historicity'; this feels decadent - could the little evidence we have from the ancient world really tell us something about it? - but the circumstantial details check out, and the setting in the reign of Ptolemy VIII (146-116 bce) certainly coincides with an intensification of Ptolemaic activity in the Southern Sea.
 However it happened, the Greco-Macedonian apprehension of the trade winds was transformative. The monsoon was a 'time-space compression ... like the wormholes imagined by science fiction ... it blasted ships directly across the Southern Sea ... annihilating ocean space.' The journey from Egyptian Red Sea ports to India and back could now be completed in under a year, bypassing the ports of Arabia, and Greek-speakers were fully integrated into the wider northern Indian Ocean network. This marked the beginning of a new expansion of knowledge by trade rather than, as in the old Mediterranean, via conquest.
 For Kosmin it also brought about an increasing sense of commonality among Indian Ocean traders, emerging perhaps from a sense of common risk. A second-century bce papyrus mentions those 'who sail the outer sea', an 'oceanic' identity not found in relation to other bodies of water. This would have been encouraged by their working environments. The port towns of the Indian Ocean were 'extensions of the social world of ships', more similar to one another than to their own hinterlands, with defensive walls separating them from the mainland and much evidence of resident alien communities, from the remains of foreign foods such as rice and coconuts to inscriptions in different languages: twelve different languages at the Red Sea port of Berenike, for instance, including Tamil. Sailors gathered too on mid-sea islands like Socotra, three hundred kilometres south of the Arabian coast, where graffiti dating from the second century bce to the second century ce cover the deep Cave of Hoq with a blizzard of names, cities of origin and maritime professions: helmsmen, captains, merchants. These sailors from India, Syria, Egypt, East Africa and Arabia speak many languages: Abgar of Palmyra writes in Greek and Aramaic in different parts of the cave. They respect each other's cultures too, never invoking the gods by specific names, not even the god of the cave itself.
 The Mediterranean presents a different picture, a world of states, politics and battles for control of coastal territory and resources. The middle part of Kosmin's book describes the symbolic conquest of these shores, from Mesopotamian kings washing their weapons in the sea to the construction of altars and lighthouses that proclaim their political nature: the lighthouse at Alexandria was decorated with statues of the Ptolemaic family. There is also the strange storytelling genre of gifts of fish to kings - always from the sea, already dead and good only for immediate consumption. These tales bring the king into direct contact with shore-dwellers, but they also mark 'the absorption of the giver's home landscape' not only into the ruler's territory, but into the monarch himself. This is the context, Kosmin argues, in which we should understand the adventures of Caligula at the English Channel. For two millennia historians have laughed at the boy-king doing battle with the sea instead of launching an invasion of Britain, a venture he left to his successor, Claudius. Kosmin takes Caligula more seriously, arguing that the episode should be understood not as a cowardly parody of conquest, but within a 'tradition of symbolic occupation of the strand', noting that it aligned with local Celtic practice, and that Caligula also constructed a lighthouse on the beach, 'as proof and confirmation of his victory over the shoreline'.
 Elsewhere states competed with one another. Kosmin describes a 'specifically coastal kind of diplomacy', pioneered at Phoenician-speaking Carthage, which was the largest port in the Western Mediterranean for much of its existence. A series of treaties struck with Rome (and no doubt others too) from the sixth century bce designate an increasing proportion of the Mediterranean shoreline as closed to other shipping. Wrecks were permitted, as long as they cleaned up and cleared out quickly, but other ships found in Carthaginian coastal waters would be sunk.
 The extension of Roman imperial power across the Mediterranean finally rendered such measures obsolete, but the shore could still produce only 'semi-sovereignty', not lending itself easily to ownership or exploitation. As a result, much state energy went into the suppression of 'assertive coastal groups', and above all pirates, a word that first appears in Greek inscriptions of the third century bce. Pirates were a product of state formation in the Mediterranean, which encouraged a distinction between 'authorised forms of aggression ... and similar activities that fell outside the state's embrace'. However much it suited coastal polities to criminalise them, they were 'fully integrated into ancient economies', from serving Mediterranean states as mercenaries to stocking the slave markets that kept them going.
 Kosmin describes a new era of pirate archaeology in the 21st century, revealing an ephemeral landscape of temporary and recycled settlement: a connected series of small fortified sites hidden from the sea along the Cilician coast of Turkey, for instance, and highly defended clifftop settlements on the islands of Antikythera and Crete, facing each other across the western entrance to the Aegean, hard to access and without farmland. This was coastline used not for spectacle but camouflage. Resistance to the Roman state is also clear: we hear about self-identified Romans dressed by pirates in full official regalia before being invited to climb a ladder down into the sea. In return, pirates were subject to especially gruesome state punishments, chained up alive or displayed as corpses on the coast in 'a symbolic undoing of piratic dominance over shoreline space'.
In his  final section, Kosmin proposes that we are all undone in coastal space, a 'simultaneous ... setting for and an object of contemplation' of the cosmos. The search for rational explanations of coastal phenomena in the Hellenistic period prompts the theorisation of time on a deeper scale, in the face of evidence of inland beaches and catastrophic floods: when Plato makes up his lost island continent of Atlantis, he locates it nine thousand years before his own time. And encounters with tides inspire bigger notions of space, raising the question of 'the totality, unity and coherence of the world we inhabit'. Before the first Greco-Macedonian encounter with the Indian Ocean, occasional tidal effects in the micromareal Mediterranean - in the northern Adriatic, for example, or in the curious currents of the strait of Euripus between Attica and the island of Euboea, which reverse direction several times a day - were seen as localised phenomena, not part of a system. Tides outside the Mediterranean were barely noticed. It was therefore a dreadful shock to Alexander's fleet in the fourth century bce when they were unexpectedly grounded on their way down the Indus into the delta - and then refloated with such force that they crashed against each other. Around the same time, but at the other end of the known world, Pytheas of Massalia voyaged from Gades into the western ocean as far as Britain and perhaps even Iceland, exploring Atlantic tides and theorising their relation to the phases of the moon. Gades itself became 'a destination of coastal-cosmic pilgrimage' where 'the Mediterranean was both parochialised by integration into a planetwide marine system and differentiated by comparison as a (mostly) tideless, (mostly) monster-free, inward-facing haven'. By the first century ce, the Iberian travel writer Pomponius Mela could describe the tides as the breathing of a single animal world.
 Kosmin ends with death, another shoreline business. Entrances to the underworld were usually located on the coast (the passage to Hades at Taenarum on the Mani peninsula, Lake Avernus in the Bay of Naples), while the highest and lowest of men were buried there, from local heroes to dead fisherfolk. The Hellenistic period also saw the invention of nauagika, a new genre of epigrams for the shipwrecked dead in which the shoreline was both a place of 'catastrophic desocialisation' - these poems are full of horribly broken bodies - and a place to imagine a new world 'founded on ideas of mutuality, substitution and a common littoral identity', as people buried their unknown comrades in coastal society to establish a 'translocal community of grief'.
 In all these ways, Kosmin argues, the Hellenistic coastline became a 'hyperobject', like evolution or global warming today: 'massively distributed entities relative to humans in ways that make interacting with them wondrous, daunting and uncanny', prompting 'the discovery that we are on the inside of huge forces and slow processes'. States and empires were rendered insignificant in the face of 'profound, sustained cogitation on the cosmos, and our modest and inconsiderable position in it'.
 Of course the story of the ancient shore goes deeper than a single book can dive. Even if the coastline we know is young - its features only relatively stable for the last five or six thousand years - mental traces of earlier configurations survive. In The Edge of Memory: Ancient Stories, Oral Tradition and the Post-Glacial World (2018), the geographer Patrick Nunn collected consistent, detailed, verifiable tales of flooded landscapes, disappearing coastlines and newly born islands preserved in oral traditions from Australia to the Scottish highlands. They only make sense as transmitted memories of the great expansion of the seas at the end of the last Ice Age, about ten thousand years ago.
 The story must go wider too. 'Ancient' in Kosmin's world means for the most part ancient Greek, or at least Greco-Macedonian. There's good reason for that, as he says: 'the Greek world was a coast-oriented civilisation par excellence,' with the coast of the Aegean Sea 'more complexly indented than any other part of the Mediterranean'. All the same, there were active trade routes between India and Qin China in the fourth and third centuries bce, and while the rise of the Han Empire in the Hellenistic period could complicate the notion that 'the history of antiquity ... is a coastal story,' its attention to shipbuilding and sailing technologies might also call into question the notion of a sovereignty void throughout the Southern Sea. This is only to say that I'd love to read a second volume.
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'We were tricked'
Loubna Mrie on the Syrian Alawites

5376 wordsOn  6 March, a unit of the Syrian state police conducted a 'combing operation' in a village near the coastal city of Jableh. They were searching for local commanders loyal to the former regime of Bashar al-Assad, who they suspected were hiding out in the hills. When they got back to Jableh, the police were ambushed and at least sixteen killed. In response, Hay'at Tahrir al-Sham - the Islamist movement that ousted Assad last December - brought in armoured vehicles and helicopters, and conducted missile strikes in the villages around Jableh. Hundreds of Alawite men poured into the streets carrying whatever weapons they could find: hunting rifles, metal pipes, sticks, rusted pistols. They attacked troops and patrol cars, and seized strategic locations along the coast. It was the first time since Assad's overthrow that the new regime had lost control of part of the country.
Ali, who lived with his father in a small apartment in Jableh, got hold of a gun in case the fighting came close. As an only son, he had been spared military service. 'I had never held a rifle before,' he told me. 'But we were going to die anyway.' Foreign observers and political analysts argued that the attacks on the police and security forces were part of a co-ordinated campaign by 'remnants of the regime', with a 'high level of planning and organisation', perhaps supported by Iran. But Ali, who now lives in hiding in Lebanon, thinks this is a misrepresentation of what happened. 'Those who say we were all Assad loyalists and former soldiers forget that Alawites dropped their weapons and didn't fight for Assad in his final hours. Jumping to their ready-made story about us - to assume that we rebelled against the new government out of nostalgia or loyalty for Assad - is easier than admitting that what came after Assad's overthrow was what made us choose to fight.'
For many Alawites, Hafez al-Assad, Bashar's father, had been a symbol of their survival. He was one of them, born in 1930 in Qardaha, a poor Alawite village in the hills, ten miles from the coast. Although the Ottoman Empire had fallen a decade before his birth, Hafez came of age at a time when the mistreatment and scars of centuries of humiliation under the empire were still fresh. When Syria was under French colonial rule between 1920 and 1946, Alawites - along with other minorities - were recruited into the military as part of a strategy to undermine the Sunni majority. Four years after Syria gained independence, Hafez joined the air force and rose quickly up the ranks. After the Ba'athist military coup of 1963 he became increasingly powerful, as head of the air force and then minister of defence. In 1970, he staged a bloodless coup from within the ruling military committee, which he called the Corrective Movement. After consolidating power, he exiled or imprisoned many of those who had helped him get to the top.
For Alawites, the way Hafez seized power wasn't important. What mattered was that one of them was president. In the early years of his rule, Alawite villages were transformed: oil lamps gave way to electric light; dirt tracks became paved roads. Buses began to reach isolated mountain villages - buses that soon carried sons into the military, intelligence services and state bureaucracy. The geography of Syria shifted, as coastal towns like Jableh - once dominated by Sunni merchants with a small Christian enclave - became magnets for Alawite families from the surrounding hills. Ali's family was among them. His father opened a smoke shop in a working-class neighbourhood, and Ali attended one of the newly built schools. These were like shrines to Hafez: there were posters of the president on the walls and the pupils memorised his speeches. 'Our leader for ever: Hafez al-Assad,' Ali and his classmates recited every morning. Pupils were told stories about Hafez's tough childhood to emphasise how lucky their generation was.
When Hafez died in 2000, the grief in Alawite neighbourhoods rapidly turned to panic. Families fled back to the mountains: now that the man who had secured their place in the city was gone they no longer felt safe. But in an attempt to maintain the existing power structure the Syrian parliament had amended the constitution, lowering the minimum age the president could be from 40 to 34 so that Hafez's son, Bashar, could succeed him. Bashar was different: soft-spoken, London-educated, married to a Sunni - being an Alawite wasn't central to his image. Yet joining the army or getting a government job was still what most Alawite men aspired to.
As a teenager, Ali would spend evenings with his friends on the promenade in Jableh, a short walk from his house. The air smelled of roasted nuts. Families strolled along the seafront. People lingered in cafes. Women dressed up, their hair stiff with hairspray to combat the heavy humidity. Cars with no numberplates and tinted windows cruised slowly through the streets: officers home from Damascus for the summer. Girls were encouraged to aim to marry men like them. These cars meant access, wealth, protection.
Boys like Ali and his friends knew they didn't stand a chance with these girls - not yet - but seeing the cars, knowing that many of their sect held high-level positions, reminded them that such power was within reach, but only because one of their own had risen to the top. As a result, when opposition to Assad spread with the Arab Spring early in 2011, many Alawites - rich and poor - saw it solely as a threat to their hard-won access to the halls of power.
In March that year, after protests took place in the Sunni areas of Jableh, calls to boycott Sunni-owned shops began to circulate. Checkpoints sprang up overnight. Shopkeepers shuttered their stores at sunset instead of midnight. On state TV, analysts insisted that the unrest was a foreign plot. Out of love for their country, people were urged to boycott all channels except the state broadcaster. In Jableh, Al-Jazeera's yellow logo appeared on bins. Rumours spread that pills sent by Qatar and Israel were being slipped into sandwiches, causing hallucinations and hatred of the president.
As protesters across Syria were shot, detained and tortured - many bodies were later dumped in mass graves - the Alawites of Jableh remained unaffected. For the first few months, 'love rallies' took place every day. On the corniche, circles of dancers celebrated what they thought was victory. There seems to have been a genuine belief that the unrest was a foreign conspiracy they had heroically resisted by not believing 'enemy channels'. But soon Assad's opponents took up weapons. Many of the soldiers killed in the subsequent fighting came from Jableh and the surrounding villages. Funeral processions passed through the city - sirens wailing, women throwing rice from balconies, muezzins calling out from the minarets. State TV captured it all: mothers crying, fathers collapsing over flag-draped coffins. The footage played on a loop.
The funerals were reminders that when the country was under attack it was usually Alawite soldiers who died defending it. They were, as people often said, 'giving back' to the regime that had lifted them out of poverty and isolation. To serve was an honour. 'Whenever an ambulance passed through Jableh,' Ali said, 'trailed by gunfire - either in mourning or to clear the road - my mother would lift her hands to the sky and whisper: "Thank God I have only one son. I won't have to grieve him."'
Military service was mandatory for most Syrian men. Deferral could be granted only to those going to university or who paid a fee of $3000 - the average monthly salary was $60. Most of the boys who had hung out by the corniche were conscripted. Suliman, who grew up in the same neighbourhood as Ali, was one of them. He was the middle child in a large family, with eight sisters and one brother, and had dropped out of school at thirteen to help support his parents, getting a job at a local restaurant. In 2013, when he turned eighteen, Suliman was drafted into the army and assigned to a unit in Damascus. There, he was tasked with guarding a leafy square where senior officials lived behind rose-coloured walls. It was considered a good posting - far from the fighting.
As the conflict continued, many of Suliman and Ali's childhood friends were killed. The faces of the dead were plastered on walls, lampposts and school gates; Jableh came to be called the Capital of the Martyrs. Those who survived often returned maimed, abandoned by the state. Occasionally, Assad and his wife would make a brief, staged appearance with the wounded. They would smile for the cameras and leave. Many soldiers, disenchanted, decided to take what they could. At checkpoints, corruption flourished: cars were stopped and money demanded. Homes were looted. 'I begged him to do what the others were doing,' Suliman's brother, who completed his military service before the war, told me. 'Some of his friends were making $100 a day from bribes. But Suliman wouldn't.'
He stayed at his post. His salary often only lasted for the first week of the month. When his family in Jableh couldn't send him money, he borrowed - eventually falling hundreds of dollars into debt. He dreamed of being discharged so he could get a job, repay his loans and support his parents. But even when the fighting died down and Assad's forces regained lost ground, Suliman was not allowed to leave the army. When he visited Jableh, he saw the long queues for bread. Mothers were denied even their $40 monthly martyrs' stipend. There was electricity for two hours a day, if at all. The government insisted that all of this was caused by Western sanctions. But Suliman had seen the neighbourhoods in Damascus where elite members of society lived in luxury. 'We were tricked,' he told his siblings.
As the economy worsened, those who hadn't been conscripted looked for a way out. Many went to the UAE or Erbil in Iraqi Kurdistan - places where a Syrian passport was still an asset. Ali decided to go to Turkey. Someone recommended the route through Afrin, a rebel-controlled city near the northern border, and put him in touch with a people smuggler. It was supposed to be a quick journey: one night in Afrin, then Turkey, then - he hoped - into Europe. But one night turned into four months. Ali was arrested by anti-Assad forces and held in a windowless room where the only light came from the torch on his captor's phone, which was used to film ransom videos that were sent to his father in Jableh. In one video, Ali is on his knees, his back to the camera, with red welts across his back. His hands are cuffed behind him. A sudden gunshot is heard. In the next clip he faces the lens, blindfolded, blood running down his right arm. 'My family,' he says, 'this bullet was in my arm. The next will be in my head.'
The captors demanded $300,000 - an outrageous amount. But it revealed the assumption that anyone from Jableh who was an Alawite must have access to money, or know someone who did. His father sold the smoke shop and the family house, and they moved to a cheap place on the outskirts, one of the many built by corrupt contractors who bypassed safety inspections. Ali's father could only raise $30,000. The captors eventually agreed to this price, but when Ali returned home he became the object of suspicion. The security forces in Jableh didn't care that he'd been held captive for four months. What mattered to them was that he had tried to leave Syria through rebel-held Afrin. That, to them, was treason. He was interrogated again and again: who did he meet? What was he planning? People kept their distance, afraid that being seen with him would make them seem guilty too. Then came the final warning: the next round of questioning would take place in Damascus. His mother begged him to leave the country. Ali chose Erbil. He had friends there and could find work, but Jableh - and his mother - were hard to stay away from. In December 2022, he returned home.
Just over a month later, on 6 February 2023, a 7.8-magnitude earthquake with its epicentre in southern Turkey struck just before dawn. In Jableh, Ali and his parents scrambled down the stairs of their cheaply constructed building. Halfway down, the floor shifted violently and the building folded in on itself. No rescue teams arrived, so people dug with their bare hands and kitchen pans. Ali and his mother were trapped under the rubble for nearly an hour. By the time neighbours reached them, it was too late for his mother. She was one of the three hundred confirmed deaths that day. His father survived, but with a brain injury.
The aftermath of the earthquake stripped away what little loyalty to Assad remained in the city. Aid trickled in, sporadic and insufficient. People fought over food and basic supplies. For years, the people of Jableh had told themselves that the bribes they had to pay at checkpoints were a necessary evil: the police were their protectors, and they needed the money. People looked away because they believed that the system, though corrupt, was still essentially in their favour. But when the police started looting earthquake aid, it was clear that they had been deluding themselves. Volunteers delivering aid were forced to surrender the few supplies they had: baby formula, antibiotics, fuel. Nothing reached the victims until the police had taken their share. The anger that had simmered for years - after Assad sent their sons to the front and then abandoned their families - boiled over. People vented about corruption on social media and many were detained.
Suliman no longer wanted to serve in Damascus. Through a network of relatives and neighbours he secured a post in Jableh, serving a local commander. His duties were domestic: chauffeuring the commander's wife on shopping trips, delivering groceries to his mother, driving the children to and from school. The post came with flexible hours, which allowed Suliman to work in the evenings. He went back to the restaurant where he had worked before he was drafted. 'I was heartbroken when he came back and asked for his old job,' the restaurant owner told me. 'By then, we all knew who had looted in the army, who had taken bribes and clawed their way out of poverty. Part of me admired him for being so honourable - but I couldn't help feeling sorry for how naive he was. This man had spent eleven years in military service, and he came back not just in debt, but right back to where he'd been in seventh grade.'
Ali and his father had moved to a rented flat even further away from the city centre. Ali had started dealing motorbikes - anything to stay afloat. Sometimes, he would see Suliman at the old spot on the corniche. In the summer months there was still a procession of cars with tinted windows: perhaps even more of them than before. The war had created a whole new elite. Millions were flowing into Syria through the trade in the stimulant Captagon, turning the country into the world's biggest narco-state. The profits were funnelled to the tight circle around the president. Their children posted videos from beach resorts and foreign cities; there were Instagram posts about luxury weddings. The cars, once symbols of aspiration, were now reminders of the unattainable. Young men like Suliman had spent more than a decade protecting the lifestyles of the elite. It was now clear that they had always been expendable.
In late November  2024, after Hay'at Tahrir al-Sham launched its surprise offensive on Assad's bases and checkpoints, entire army units vanished when the group offered an amnesty to conscripts. In a last-ditch attempt to slow the exodus, Assad reached for the only thing he had left: money. He announced a 50 per cent salary increase for those who stayed in the army. But few ordinary Alawites still had any belief in the cause. Commanders began targeting university students who had deferred military service. According to a student at Latakia University, the usual destination for school-leavers in Jableh, buses were stopped every day and university IDs checked. One day, an officer got on the bus and shouted: 'Come on, boys, we need your strength. If you stay cowards, there won't be a university left for you.'
By now, government troops were in full retreat. On 8 December, Assad boarded a plane from Hmeimim Air Base, three miles from Jableh, after securing asylum in Russia for himself and his family. He left behind his inner circle. Many of them later expressed outrage that he hadn't taken them with him. When rebel forces entered Assad's residence, they found it untouched by urgency or fear. Family photos were still on show. Bashar's notebooks lay open on the desk. The Assads had been convinced, until the very end, that the tide would yet again turn in their favour. Although Assad was brought down by the rebel forces that had once held him prisoner, Ali felt something unexpected: hope. 'There was genuine excitement,' he told me. 'It felt like things were finally going to change.'
The new government extended its amnesty: soldiers and officials were invited to turn in their weapons and identity cards in order to receive temporary protection from arrest while a background check was carried out and then a new civilian ID. Queues formed before dawn and stretched for blocks: it took Suliman three days to reach the front. Some people didn't wait: in cities all along the coast, rifles appeared in bins and alleyways.
Outside Alawite-majority areas like Jableh, the excitement surrounding the new regime wasn't just about economic survival. More than half a million lives had been lost during the war; more than six million people had been forced to leave Syria and more than seven million had been internally displaced. For a long time, it had seemed that Assad might outlast everything. Then, almost overnight, it was over. And with his fall came the possibility, however fragile, of accountability. In the weeks after the regime collapsed, the families of the disappeared poured into former intelligence compounds. Files were lying there for all to see: stacks of death certificates, blurry morgue photos, lists of judges who had decided on executions. People thought the new government might bring them justice.
But its priorities lay elsewhere. It focused on rebranding Syria's new leader, Ahmad al-Sharaa - who until recently had been subject to a $10 million bounty from the US. As al-Sharaa lobbied for sanctions to be lifted and for international legitimacy, foreign journalists and European envoys were welcomed to the country. Debra Tice, the mother of the American journalist Austin Tice, who disappeared into Assad's prisons in 2012, was granted a meeting with the authorities before the requests of any Syrian families were even acknowledged. High-ranking officials from the Assad regime - men who were responsible for innumerable detentions and deaths - remained untouched.
One of them was Muhammad Hamsho, known across Syria as the 'rubble king'. He had built his fortune by stripping bombed-out neighbourhoods for scrap. In Qaboun, once an opposition stronghold, his crews collected steel rods from ruined houses. The steel fed his factories. Hamsho also financed some of the regime's most brutal militias. Yet he remained protected, apparently as a result of ties with Qatar through his sister's marriage. There were many others like him. Fadi Saqr, the militia commander accused of overseeing the 2013 Tadamon massacre, in which 41 people were executed in a pit in eastern Damascus, was seen attending meetings with the new government. With the architects of violence shielded, rage was directed at those who were accessible: neighbours who were suspected of having been informants for the Assad regime, for example. In one video, a supposed informant is tied to a car bonnet. A hammer is slammed into his skull.
Two buildings away from where Suliman lived, five cars arrived in a show of force. HTS had come for a man who ran a gym where local people sent their children to martial arts classes. He was accused of having stockpiled weapons. According to eyewitnesses, he didn't resist: he simply asked to be taken quietly, not in front of the children or his neighbours. He was promised amnesty, but was held in detention for 24 days before being released when no evidence was found. Two weeks later, another HTS car pulled up. He was in the middle of a class. They asked him to step outside - just for a few questions. According to his students, he wasn't even given time to put on his shoes. He hasn't been seen since.
Not long after, the government announced a crackdown on what it called 'ghost jobs' - where salaries were paid to people who didn't actually show up for work. But in places like Jableh, where public-sector jobs had long been the only lifeline for many Alawite families, the term was an affront. The people I spoke to were clerks, janitors, school staff, earning less than $35 a month. Suddenly, they were all laid off.
Videos circulating online showed soldiers who had surrendered and officially been amnestied being forced to crawl on all fours. 'Bark,' one masked man shouted. 'Alawite pigs,' another said, striking the men with the butt of his rifle. Some of these incidents were acknowledged as unacceptable by the interim government, but only after they went viral. Investigations were promised. Journalists aligned with the new regime either downplayed the sectarian nature of the violence or reframed it: we went through this, now it's your turn.
In the absence of meaningful justice, shadowy groups started spreading reports of violence against Alawites. Social media accounts later traced to Iran and Iraq claimed to be bravely exposing government-tolerated abuses. To make themselves seem credible, they began with real incidents, verifiable footage, but followed this with AI-generated images, recycled clips of IS soldiers abusing prisoners and fake news designed to incite panic. They told Alawites not to surrender their weapons and accused those who had of cowardice, while spreading wild promises: that Russia was coming to their support (a video that appeared online on 6 March seemed to show a Russian jet trailing an HTS helicopter near the site of the ambush and forcing it to retreat), and France, and, incredibly, Israel.
That last rumour, bizarre as it seemed, had some basis in reality. Since 8 December, the Israeli air force had been bombarding military bases across southern Syria to prevent extremist groups, especially Hizbullah, from taking advantage of what was happening. Benjamin Netanyahu declared the 1974 Israel-Syria disengagement agreement null and void, announcing that Israeli forces would enforce the demilitarisation of the south. Though Syria's new leadership promised that attacks on Israel would not be permitted from Syrian territory, Israeli ground forces crossed into the UN-monitored buffer zone, seizing key locations including the Syrian side of Mount Hermon and establishing forward military posts.
Counterintuitively, for many Alawites this sparked false hope. Feeling they had no one else to turn to, they pleaded for Israeli intervention. In Haaretz, Zvi Bar'el quoted a message he had received from a correspondent in Syria: 'I am contacting you on behalf of millions of members of the Alawite minority. We need your help and know that you are our hope. Come to us; there will be millions waiting and standing by your side. We need your protection because terrorists control Damascus, and they will attack Israel one day.' Some Alawites even proposed the creation of an autonomous coastal canton under Israeli protection. 'If you leave us alone, Iran will be the one to extend a hand to us. But we all hate Iran. Don't let it spread its influence here.' Across social media, there were posts asking how to claim asylum in Tel Aviv.
The  young Alawite men who took to the streets in and around Jableh on 6 March killed around 140 HTS personnel. They seem to have believed the misinformation they'd read online, that other countries were about to intervene. The next day, government reinforcements arrived in large numbers. Ali disappeared into a quieter part of the city. Suliman had no urge to pick up a weapon again, not even in defence, and stayed indoors with his siblings, doors locked, curtains drawn. 'No one knew what was really happening,' his sister told me. 'Just that it was near. All we could hear were gunshots, shouting - and that we had to disappear.'
The brigades began going building by building. From that point, survival became a matter of luck. Some soldiers searched rooms carefully, returning items to their places. Others barged in, demanding cash, gold, anything they could carry. It was the logic Ali had encountered years earlier when he was held by anti-Assad forces: the assumption that anyone from Jableh, any Alawite, must have money hidden somewhere. Then there were those who asked only one question: 'Alawi?' An ID card listing a birthplace away from the coast meant you were probably safe.
The brigade that entered Al-Farwi Street were there not to search but to punish. Ali and others had mounted fierce resistance the day before - gunfire had echoed into the night, and a number of police had been killed. Suliman hid under a bed. When the soldiers kicked down the door, one of them seized his 16-year-old sister. 'Where are the men?'
'There are no men here,' she said.
He hit her with the butt of his rifle.
Suliman emerged. He couldn't stay hidden while his sister was humiliated. The soldiers marched him outside and shot him.
For the next two hours, witnesses said, the brigade moved down the street, from building to building, killing 34 people. These weren't the men who had taken up arms, but the ones who had stayed behind.
Soldiers imposed a curfew for the next two days. Suliman's body lay in the street. The bullet had entered one side of his head and exited on the other, bending the metal pole beside the entrance to the building. His siblings hadn't dared to drag his body inside. He stayed there until the Red Crescent arrived and took the bodies to a nearby hospital.
When Suliman's family went to retrieve his body, it had vanished. Later, they learned it had been buried by mistake - handed to the wrong family. 'To honour the dead,' his sister told me, 'is to bury them.' But now Suliman was buried in a village that wasn't theirs and they were too afraid to visit: there were checkpoints on the road, and being stopped could mean interrogation, or worse. Funerals in Alawite communities had always been grand occasions, shows of loyalty and pride. But now there were no processions. 'We accept condolences over the phone and on social media,' families posted - to gather in public would have been an invitation for new violence.
As news of the killings spread, there were people who doubted that the massacre had happened at all. Some of the phrases seemed to have been lifted straight from the old regime's playbook. The lines used to deny Assad's sarin gas attacks in Ghouta in 2013 were now being used by ordinary people, echoing the propaganda that had once been employed against them. 'They were armed.' 'They were agents of foreign powers who wanted chaos.' Many argued that the dead had deserved it. Some opponents of Assad chose to ignore these latest killings. They were turning away from atrocities not because they had stopped seeing them, but because they had learned their lesson: don't speak out.
Ali fled to Lebanon with some of the other men who had joined the fighting - and many who hadn't. Shortly after his arrival, his father died. Ali couldn't go back to bury him. In the days that followed, major media outlets and human rights organisations published extensive reports about the killings. The UN Security Council issued a formal condemnation. Rumours about federalisation and international protection began to circulate again.
Ali followed the news closely. He told me he was sure his exile would be brief. He talked as if protection, federalisation and an autonomous Alawite region were inevitable. He genuinely believed that if those in power were massacring a group of people - and if it was publicly documented - then someone, somewhere, would intervene. His certainty revealed something more than a misunderstanding of geopolitics. It showed how effectively the regime's propaganda machine had worked on him and other Alawites. This was their first real encounter with mass violence. They believed that Assad had never carried out any massacres, that such things had never happened in Syria. They had spent the past decade completely shielded from the international media, UN Security Council meetings and human rights reports. They didn't know that what happened on the coast was only the latest chapter in a much longer story. And once again, the world would move on.
Between March and July, sanctions on Syria were lifted by the US, the UK and the European Union. President al-Sharaa met with Donald Trump in Riyadh, where Trump described him to reporters as a 'young, attractive guy'. Delegations from the Gulf arrived with reconstruction pledges. Investment deals were signed. Diplomatic photo ops and statements about 'stability' and 'moving forward' filled the news cycle. When asked about the massacres, officials mentioned a planned government investigation as proof that they were taking the matter seriously.
In mid-July, the results of the four-month investigation were published. At least 1426 people had been killed, most of them civilians; 31 arrests had been made and hundreds of suspects referred to the judiciary. The commission emphasised that field commanders had issued orders to halt the violence, not to incite it. Although the report confirmed the scale of the killings, it framed the story as beginning on 6 March, when Assad loyalists launched an attack, killing security personnel. But to start the story then is to ignore the reasons those who had surrendered and welcomed a new government had taken up arms again.
The report made no mention of the abductions of women that have been taking place. Since February, at least 36 Alawite women and girls - aged between three and forty - have been kidnapped in Latakia, Tartus, Homs and Hama. In nearly every case, the police and security officials failed to investigate. On 22 July, the commission that examined the massacre claimed it had received no reports of female abductions. Amnesty International contradicted this with verified documentation and eyewitness testimony. No arrests have been made.
Just as the report was published, violence erupted in Suwayda, a majority-Druze city in the south. A roadside robbery spiralled into full-scale clashes between Druze militias and armed Bedouin groups. Government forces deployed military units to restore order and impose a ceasefire, but, as in Jableh, these units carried out widespread abuses, including looting and other acts of collective retaliation against the Druze. Soon after, Israeli airstrikes targeted Damascus and nearby military sites, citing a mission to protect Druze civilians. These strikes gave the new administration a pretext to brand Druze fighters as Israeli agents, fuelling further escalation. The Syrian Ministry of Foreign Affairs didn't at first allow international humanitarian organisations into Suwayda and restricted access for international journalists. Videos taken in the city showed armed men, some in uniform, carrying out execution-style killings and mocking the dead. In one video, a soldier forces three unarmed young Druze men to jump from a balcony, shooting at them as they fall - an almost identical scene to one in the Tadamon massacre. When the UN was finally granted access, it said the situation was 'critical', with more than 175,000 people displaced across the province. Governments that had embraced the new Syrian leadership issued statements acknowledging the atrocities before swiftly reiterating their support for the new regime. In the new Syria, as in the old, it seems that those who commit violence can count on rehabilitation, so long as they frame the alternative as chaos.
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Where the Power Is
James Vincent

2565 wordsJust six elements  are always necessary for the formation of life as we know it: carbon, hydrogen, nitrogen, oxygen, phosphorus and sulphur. Collectively, they are known by the clumsy, vaguely pharaonic acronym CHNOPS (though I prefer the more memorable SPONCH) and together they comprise 99 per cent of human body mass. Of these six ingredients, phosphorus is the least abundant and the most inaccessible. Phosphates are locked inside rocks, folded into continental strata or scattered as sediment on the ocean floor. It is only when they are eroded into soil and water that they can be absorbed by plants and animals. The rarity of phosphorus makes it the single most limiting factor for the growth of biomass on Earth. It is, as Isaac Asimov puts it, 'life's bottleneck' - the toll which must be paid by all matter that aspires to be something more.
 While carbon, hydrogen and oxygen make up more than 90 per cent of human body mass, on average phosphorus accounts for less than 1 per cent. More than four-fifths of this is found in our bones and teeth, where phosphorus combines with calcium, hydrogen and oxygen to form hydroxyapatite: a hexagonal crystal of great strength and architectural utility. The element provides similar structural integrity for our genetic material, forming the helical backbones of RNA and DNA. It also has just as vital a role as the currency of energy for all living organisms. The molecule adenosine triphosphate (ATP) contains three phosphate groups bonded together in a chain. Breaking this chain releases a crackle of stored energy, like the snapping of a glowstick. Each time your body flexes a muscle, duplicates a cell or thinks a thought, it is phosphorus that provides the necessary power. The human body contains just 250 grams of ATP, but it cycles through fifty kilograms of the stuff per day, using each molecule more than a thousand times, breaking the phosphate chains to release energy and then reforming the bonds using the fuel provided by food.
 There is a limited supply of phosphorus on the planet: around 300 billion tonnes. It can't be manufactured, and there are no synthetic substitutes, so it must be constantly trafficked and circulated on both individual and planetary scales. It is these phosphorus cycles that are the focus of Jack Lohmann's White Light, a history of the element's role in the intertwined systems of biology, geology and agriculture. In these networks, living matter is merely an intermediary, transporting phosphorus from one location to another. Biological organisms, including humans, function as phosphorus sinks: we gather it into our bodies, transform it into something more useful - phosphates, in which phosphorus is bonded to oxygen atoms and thereby made stable and soluble - and move it across the landscape, releasing it back into the broader ecosystem through excretion and death. 'This is, in essence, the phosphorus cycle,' Lohmann writes. 'It is the movement of atoms between biology and geology, between water, land and life. It is an interaction of continual loops, a complicated interchange in which every living being plays a part.' And it is a cycle which, Lohmann warns, is now potentially broken.
 We think of rock and organic matter as separate domains but in reality they are not so distinct. Limestone is formed from the compacted remains of coral, molluscs and other marine life; marble is limestone compressed and heated over millions of years; chalk is the remains of planktonic algae. What was once living is now a cliff-face or a statue or the facade of a museum. Drifts of phosphate in the land beneath our feet were once living creatures. The oldest phosphates date back to the Paleoproterozoic era, some 2.5 billion years ago, when the Great Oxygenation Event kickstarted the evolution of complex, multicellular life on Earth. The widespread release of oxygen into the atmosphere by photosynthesising cyanobacteria enabled new forms of efficient energy release through oxygen-based respiration. Life thrived and died, gathering then spreading phosphates in the process. Subsequent flourishings and extinctions during the Cambrian, Ordovician and Permian periods left their own strata, laying down vital stores for future lifeforms. Usually these phosphates are released into the water system through the slow process of erosion, but occasionally geological oddities release large amounts all at once. The formation of the Himalayas fifty million years ago, when the Indian subcontinent collided with Asia, was one such event, 'leading to a surge in life that continues today: although that range represents only 4 per cent of the world's drainage area, it accounts for one quarter of the nutrients that flow from rivers into seas.'
 There are more accessible sources of phosphate, though, dung in particular. Phosphorus is one of three key elements in fertilisers (alongside nitrogen and potassium, both comparatively abundant), and humans have been manuring their fields for at least ten thousand years. In ancient Mesopotamia, the Hanging Gardens of Babylon were said to have been nurtured by hydroponic systems that dissolved fertilisers into water; five thousand years ago, the Minoans built sewage systems that recycled wastewater for irrigation. The Bible contains numerous divine instructions that bodies be left to decompose on fields 'like dung', and the ancient Greek philosopher Theophrastus ranked the fertile qualities of various types of manure. In De agri cultura, the oldest surviving work of Latin prose, Cato the Elder advises readers on proper technique: 'See that you have a large dunghill; save the manure carefully, and when you carry it out, clean it of foreign matter and break it up.' Societies that properly attended to these matters flourished. Tenochtitlan, the largest city in the pre-Columbian Americas and the heart of the Aztec Empire, developed a technique of agriculture known as chinampa: floating gardens fertilised with human excreta. In Edo (now Tokyo), in the 17th and 18th centuries perhaps the world's most populous city, landlords sold night soil collected from tenants' shared toilets. In Osaka, around the same time, this resource was so valuable that it was denominated; landlords collected faeces while tenants kept the urine, giving rise to the saying 'the landlord's child is brought up on dung.'
 Not all excrement is equal, though. Lohmann notes that per pound, there can be twenty times as much phosphate in bird droppings as in cattle manure, and the demand for such fertile guano has built nations. The Inca Empire, at its height in the 15th century the largest in the world, established itself along the western coast of South America, matching 'precisely the extents of the habitats of nesting seabirds', whose colonies were managed for their production of 'white gold'. Guano was so important that anyone found killing or disturbing nesting seabirds would be put to death, according to the chronicler Inca Garcilaso de la Vega, while Inca guano collectors made offerings to the god of birdshit, Huamancantac (He Who Causes the Cormorants to Gather), before collecting his bounty. In the 19th century, growing populations required ever greater agricultural yields and the demand for guano - desired both as a fertiliser and as a source of saltpetre for gunpowder - catalysed conflict and colonial competition. Spain, Peru, Bolivia and Chile battled over resource-rich land in the 'Guano Wars' of the 1860s and 1870s, while the Guano Islands Act of 1856 is seen as a milestone in America's growing imperial ambitions. The Act states that any citizen who 'discovers a deposit of guano on any island, rock, or key, not within the lawful jurisdiction of any other government' can claim the land as US territory. More than a hundred islands were seized under the legislation, ten of which remain in US possession, including vital military outposts such as the Midway Atoll, halfway across the Pacific between the US and Japan. The guano islands illustrate the way that a rare resource can become dangerously valuable when it is concentrated in a particular spot. Not just a bottleneck, but a chokepoint.
 As the Guano Wars show, the planetary extinctions of the past had not laid down enough corpses to feed the growing demands of the industrialising world. So nations began to raid more recent tombs. The catacombs of European cities were relieved of their phosphate-rich bones, and when Britain conquered Egypt, it shipped 180,000 mummified cats back to Liverpool to be processed into fertiliser. Soon the dead were being reclaimed before they could even be put to rest. 'Early representatives of the fertiliser industry scoured the killing fields of Leipzig, the Crimea, and of Waterloo too, to send back the bones of grenadiers and dragoons, hussars and cuirasseurs, to be ground into powder and used to feed the new generation,' the geologist Jan Zalasiewicz wrote in 2011. 'In the military language of today, it's what one might call a collateral benefit of war.'
 These expediencies were accompanied by growing scientific understanding of the role phosphorus plays in biological systems. In the 19th century the German scientist Carl Sprengel was the first to recognise that all living beings required the same basic ingredients for growth, and that growth would therefore be limited by the scarcest of these. This insight was popularised as the 'law of the minimum' by the chemist Justus von Liebig, who identified phosphate and nitrate as the primary limiters. Von Liebig had been interested in agriculture since childhood. During the 'year without a summer', 1816, the fallout from the eruption of Mount Tambora in Indonesia the year before destroyed crops across Europe and resulted in widespread famine. His experiments in agricultural chemistry included new methods for preserving beef extract and brewer's yeast (eventually leading to the creation of Oxo cubes and Marmite), but his attempts to commercialise phosphate production failed. Instead, his insights were seized on by a number of British entrepreneurs who patented new ways to process mined phosphate using acids and created the 'artificial manure' known as superphosphate. As these processes became more efficient, they overtook more unusual methods of phosphate procurement, though they still required huge industrial inputs from mining. Stores were discovered then exhausted in England, then across Europe, with mining operations following colonial expansion into Africa, the Americas and the Pacific. As a result, phosphates were transformed from a local resource into a global commodity.
 The industrial production of phosphate, and its harmful side effects, occupy much of White Light. Mining produces dust, air pollution and increased levels of gamma radiation. Living near mining operations increases your chances of contracting a range of ailments from asthma to leukaemia. Most of the harm is caused by phosphogypsum, a by-product of fertiliser production which traps heavy metals and radioactive elements within gypsum. It is produced in great quantities, only a small proportion of which can be used (in building materials), and takes thousands of years to degrade. It is heaped into giant mounds known as gypstacks, some hundreds of feet high. In Florida, the heart of the US phosphate industry, a billion tonnes of phosphogypsum have been created to date, with thirty million more added each year. Gypstacks can cover thousands of acres, and the tops of them are often hollowed into basins and used to store acidic wastewater, another harmful industrial by-product. In 1997, a gypstack released 56 million gallons of wastewater into Florida's Alafia River, 'effectively destroying a 42-mile stretch of water' and killing more than a million fish. In 2004, a gypstack spilled 65 million gallons into Hillsborough Bay, and in 2021 the Piney Point gypstack near Tampa Bay suffered a partial breach, prompting evacuations and the declaration of a state of emergency. In order to prevent major flooding, 215 million gallons of contaminated water were pumped into the bay. Lohmann notes that situations like these are exacerbated by financial engineering: fertiliser companies often mine the phosphate, pile up the phosphogypsum, then declare bankruptcy and leave the taxpayer to pay for the clean-up.
 The saddest story of such industrial scarring concerns Nauru, an island nation in the South Pacific. At just 8.1 square miles, it is the third-smallest country in the world. The island was settled by Micronesians around three thousand years ago, but over the past 150 years has been annexed, occupied and administered successively by the German Empire, the League of Nations, Axis-aligned Japan and the United Nations. Nauru was the source of the world's purest phosphate, its deposits formed from decaying marine organisms fused with guano and fossilised over thousands of years. When it gained independence in 1968 it embraced the mining industry as a source of revenue. In the decades that followed, 80 per cent of the island's surface was strip-mined, leaving behind swathes of uninhabitable land. The island's population, roughly five thousand at the time, briefly became the richest in the world by GDP per capita. The government provided free schooling, public transport and medical care, but squandered money on overseas investments including the funding of a disastrous West End musical about a love affair between Leonardo da Vinci and Mona Lisa (titled Leonardo the Musical: A Portrait of Love).
 By the 1990s, Nauru's phosphate deposits were depleted and the island struggled to replace the income. With no resources to fall back on, it capitalised on its sovereignty and became a tax haven, selling passports and laundering money for criminals and terrorists. Since 2001, it has been a home for Australia's offshore immigration detention facilities, part of the so-called Pacific Solution. In 2016, the Guardian published a cache of documents leaked by a worker on the island. They contained 2116 reports of harassment, sexual abuse, assault, self-harm and suicide attempts, with more than half of the incidents involving children. A worker for Human Rights Watch who interviewed detainees reported: 'A woman who misses her husband in Australia carves his name into her chest with a knife. A girl writes in her school notebook, "I want death, I need death."'
 The phosphorus cycle, in Lohmann's treatment, emerges as a hyperobject: an entity that sprawls across space and time, operating on every scale from the microscopic to the planetary, and whose potency brings life but also destruction. White phosphorus is a waxy substance that ignites in the open air and sticks to the skin, burning deep into flesh and burrowing all the way to bone. It has often been used on the battlefield, by Israel, the United States and Russia among others, ostensibly to provide cover or illumination, but in actuality against humans in violation of international law. In another form, as phosphate, the element has been essential to feeding the planet's growing population, helping boost crop yields in the 1960s as part of the Green Revolution. Lohmann is interested not only in such contrasting applications but in how they converge. The use of phosphate as a fertiliser, for example, has delivered short-term improvements but also escalating ecological damage. Lohmann quotes one researcher who notes that industrial farming practices have 'saturated our environment' with phosphate. This overuse has caused algal blooms which consume oxygen in lakes, rivers and seas, suffocating other forms of marine life. The resulting 'dead zones' have already consumed the Baltic Sea, Arabian Sea, Chesapeake Bay and wide areas of the Gulf of Mexico and the South China Sea, and threaten to spread further. The mass-death events caused by the overabundance of phosphorus will likely result in the laying down of stores of phosphate to be discovered by future archaeologists. Perhaps they too will direct their diggers to liberate this life-giving element from the ground, feed it back into the soil, and continue the cycle once more.
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Lunch with Mussolini
Thomas Jones

5855 words[image: Enzo Ferrari in his first race, the 1919 Parma to Poggio di Berceto hill climb.] Enzo Ferrari in his first race, the 1919 Parma to Poggio di Berceto hill climb.




It  was hot on the tarmac at Vallelunga, in the low thirties centigrade, though not as hot as it had been 24 hours earlier - when the mercury had been pushing forty - and the high humidity of the previous few days had dissipated too. A nice day for a drive, even if sweat was pooling in my disposable latex gloves as I waited in the pits for my turn in the Ferrari F430. We weren't there for our comfort, we'd been told during the welcome briefing in one of the pit garages earlier. I'd come for a two-lap 'driving experience' at the Autodromo di Vallelunga, just east of Lake Bracciano, for many years the site of the Formula Two Rome Grand Prix. Football players didn't get to complain about sweating in the heat, and neither did Ferrari race mechanics, and so neither did we.
There were nine Ferraris on the track, along with two Lamborghinis, a Porsche, an Aston Martin, a Maserati, a McLaren, an Alfa Romeo, a pair of Audis and a Nissan (if you think that sounds like the odd one out, think again: the Nissan GT-R has a top speed of nearly 200 mph and can go from 0 to 60 in 2.7 seconds). The F430 (top speed 197 mph, and 0 to 60 in a sluggish 3.9 seconds) was the cheapest Ferrari available: half the price of the SF90 Spider, which can go over 220 mph and does 0 to 60 in 2.3 seconds. Those differences make a difference if you know what you're doing but, as I'd been told in no uncertain terms at the 'technical briefing', even if you think you're a good driver, even if you passed your test thirty years ago and have more than a million kilometres of road under your tyres, that doesn't mean you'll be good at driving a supercar. You could almost hear a hundred middle-aged men (and two women) thinking: 'I bet I will be, though.'
Racing drivers make the worst road drivers, we were told. Charles Leclerc doesn't know how to park. (There are entire social media threads devoted to pictures of the Formula One driver parking badly: just search Reddit for 'Charles Leclerc v. parking his car'.) Someone asked about Ayrton Senna. The man addressing us paused, shook his head: 'When I remember the first of May 1994 ...' Senna was a special case but the point remained that driving on the public road doesn't prepare you for trying to handle one of these machines. I'm fairly certain I didn't miss out on much by picking the F430 instead of a more expensive model. There's an old Top Gear episode from 2010 in which Jeremy Clarkson claims that the F458 makes the F430 obsolete, but there's an even older episode (from 2005) in which he says the F430 is pretty much perfect. In any case, he's driven a lot more Ferraris than I have.
Before getting in our cars we had a ride round the circuit in a minibus to familiarise us with the track. The driver flatteringly talked us through how to take each of the corners to optimise the racing line: move to the right here; to the left there; those cones on either side of the track show you when to hit the brakes as you come into each bend. There were a lot of skid marks going off into the gravel. The minibus driver was no slouch and, sitting in the front, I had to hang onto the door handle on the right-hand bends to avoid getting too intimate with the man sitting between me and the driver. He was from Greece. It was his second time driving a supercar: he'd already done it in Belgium, in a Porsche 991 GT3 RS. He'd chosen the Porsche again today. He liked the Porsche.
Equipped with my latex gloves, disposable balaclava, white helmet and sunglasses, I followed my roadside assistant to the F430. He leaned in and shunted the driver's seat all the way back. ('Aren't you a bit tall for a sports car?' someone had said to me before I went, but I thought I'd be all right: Clarkson fits comfortably in a Ferrari, and he's an inch taller than me. Enzo Ferrari himself was well over six foot.) I ducked down and settled in. The instructor in the passenger seat, also wearing a helmet, shook my hand and introduced himself as Paolo.
He talked me through the controls: keep your left foot well away from the pedals, as there's no clutch. Good. Hands on the wheel not at ten and two, as I'd been taught by my driving instructor, Jackie, in Basingstoke thirty years ago, but at nine and three. Could I turn it 180deg in both directions, crossing my arms (as Jackie had taught me never to do)? Good. OK: foot on the brake, squeeze the right-hand gear paddle to put it in gear. Right to change up, left to change down? I asked. It's in automatic, Paolo said: I'd have more fun that way, able to concentrate on the pedals and the steering. How many laps was I doing? Two? Maybe I could try it in manual for the second lap (a suggestion almost immediately forgotten, as he no doubt knew, from long experience, it would be). Touch the accelerator and ease out. Paolo reached over to place a reassuring hand on the steering wheel. As we arrived at the end of the pit lane, ready to join the main track, like a plane taking off from a runway, I looked in the mirror. Paolo told me to keep my eyes on the road. He'd check the mirrors. And we were off.
At first I tried to drive smoothly, which was clearly a mistake. Most of Paolo's instructions were brake harder, accelerate more, don't grip the wheel so tight. Brake. Brake again. Over to the right. Turn. Accelerate. More. More. I gradually - or quickly; my sense of time had completely gone - came to trust him. Full throttle till you reach the cones before each corner; then stamp hard on the brakes. I was better at it on the second lap.
Get closer to him but don't overtake, Paolo said of the orange and black McLaren 720S Coupe up ahead. I put my foot down. The McLaren signalled that it was pulling in, and I whizzed past, feeling quite pleased with myself, even though we'd been told during the technical briefing, with much emphasis, that this wasn't a race. We'd also been told that no one would be judging us, though when I floored the accelerator to cross the starting grid at the end of my first lap, roaring past the pits and the straggle of spectators, I wasn't doing it solely for my own benefit, or at least was conscious of being watched. But that awareness slipped away as I reached whatever top speed it was that I reached: eyes fixed on the road ahead for the duration of my double circuit, I barely glanced at the speedometer, though the one time I remember doing so, coming out of the sixth corner, the needle was climbing rapidly past 160 kph (100 mph), and it didn't feel all that fast. When I was going really fast, I couldn't tear my eyes from the road to check my speed. I didn't even think about it. Though I'm not sure I ever quite reached 'the point, at 7000 rpm', which according to Carroll Shelby, or Matt Damon playing Shelby in the movie Ford v. Ferrari, is 'where everything fades'.
It didn't feel much like driving - the technical briefing had been right about that - and not only because I mostly drive a one-litre Skoda Octavia Estate. Sitting in the Ferrari with my hands gripping the wheel ('not so tight'), foot hovering near the accelerator, waiting to pull away, felt more like holding a chainsaw: the sense of wielding immense mechanical power that I wasn't trained or qualified to wield; the alarming capacity to inflict damage, to cause harm through incompetence. But once I was out of the pit lane, a safe distance from the pedestrians, accelerating along the straights, braking hard before the corners, careening round them, accelerating hard out of them, the g-forces conjured a long distant memory of bungee-jumping. Bungee-jumping with a chainsaw, then? But that would be a grotesque spectacle. And a Ferrari is not only fast and deadly but beautiful, too, like a hand-forged katana, though it cuts through the air not with a swish and a whisper but with a resounding, thunderous purr.
Enzo Ferrari  was a driver before he was a car maker, and a racing fan before he was a driver. Born in Modena in 1898, he was ten years old when he saw Felice Nazzaro win the Florio Cup, completing ten laps of the 52.8 km dirt-road circuit around Bologna in under four and a half hours. Ferrari was far from the only Italian to be bewitched by the promise of speed in the autumn of 1908. Around the time that Enzo was watching Nazzaro and Vincenzo Lancia roar past in their Promethean machines, Marinetti wrote the Manifesto of Futurism: 'We declare that the splendour of the world has been enriched with a new form of beauty, the beauty of speed ... A race-automobile which seems to rush over exploding powder is more beautiful than the Victory of Samothrace.' One of Giacomo Balla's Futurist paintings of 1913 now hangs in Tate Modern: Velocita astratta - l'auto e passata ('Abstract speed - the car has passed') shows a spray of pink-tinged dust on an empty white road, green hills, blue skies, gestures of atmospheric disturbances.
In his biography of Ferrari, published in Italy in 2022 and which he has now translated into English, Luca Dal Monte writes that 'from his father young Enzo learned the importance ... of "diligently keeping a record of everything that went on",' and Dal Monte too has taken the lesson to heart, sparing no details. Enzo's father, Alfredo Ferrari, ran a metalworking business. He died of pneumonia in January 1916. Later that year, Enzo's older brother also died of pneumonia, while serving as an ambulance driver on the Alpine front. Enzo meanwhile had a job in Modena, training metalworkers for an ammunition factory, but was drafted into the army as part of the mass mobilisation after Italy's calamitous defeat at Caporetto in November 1917. Before long he too fell ill with pneumonia. Transferred to a hospital in Bologna, he was kept awake at night by the hammering of the coffin makers next door.
He recovered, and after the war went to Turin to try to get a job at Fiat, but they turned him down. In the spring of 1919 he moved to Milan to work for Costruzioni Meccaniche Nazionali and in October took part in Italy's first postwar motor race, the Parma to Poggio di Berceto hill climb. The following month he competed in the Targa Florio in Sicily. A spectator was killed when he 'inadvertently crossed the finish line', as Dal Monte puts it, 'just as [the winning car] was speeding by'. Ferrari later wrote in his autobiography that this was the first time he became aware of the presence of death on the racetrack. It wouldn't be the last.
In 1920 he was hired as a driver by Alfa Romeo, joining Antonio Ascari and Giuseppe Campari there. When he came second in the Targa Florio, frustrated not to have won, he wept 'like a child' and vowed never to race again. It was an empty promise, or threat, that he would make and break repeatedly over the course of his long life. He left his job at CMN and opened his own coachbuilding business in Modena. To finance the enterprise he sold much of what remained of the family property - against the better judgment of his mother, Adalgisa. She wasn't too pleased the following year, either, when Enzo's Torinese girlfriend, Laura Garello, moved into his apartment in Modena. He went bust in 1922 and Adalgisa sold off her furniture to help pay her son's debts. When Enzo and Laura married in Turin in April 1923, Adalgisa refused to go to the wedding. She was proved right about that, too: the marriage, emotionally and physically distant, was not a happy one.
Driving wasn't Ferrari's only job for Alfa Romeo, and it wasn't what he was best at: soon after he married, he was sent on clandestine missions to Turin to poach Fiat's top engineers. His skills as a recruiter - knowing whom to ask, and how - would serve him well throughout his career. He also ran an Alfa Romeo dealership in Modena. Racing drivers de facto made great salesmen, and that was very much the way the company saw things: the purpose of racing, for Alfa Romeo's executives, was to help them sell cars. Ferrari, on the contrary, would always insist that selling cars was ancillary to motor racing. ('I sell sports cars as a way to allow my workers to support themselves, and to find the means necessary to construct race cars,' he told the Gazzetta dello Sport in 1951.) But he recognised early that there were other ways to indulge his passion besides driving race cars himself.
In October 1925, within weeks of winning the Italian Grand Prix at Monza and with it the 1925 World Championship, Alfa Romeo decided that running their own racing team wasn't worth the candle. Two of the drivers who started their own teams in the following years were Tazio Nuvolari and Emilio Materassi. Ascari wasn't among them, because he'd died from his injuries following a crash in the French Grand Prix in July 1925, a month after winning in Belgium. Materassi died at the Italian Grand Prix in 1928, in the second most deadly accident in the history of motor racing. As he was trying to overtake Giulio Foresti's Bugatti at over 200 kph, he swerved, lost control of his Talbot 700, flew over a safety ditch and ploughed into a grandstand, killing 23 people and injuring dozens more. The rest of the Scuderia Materassi withdrew from the race but the other teams' drivers carried on. The Italian Grand Prix was cancelled for the next two years.
Nuvolari's scuderia (it means 'stable'; the analogy with horse-racing also persists in English motor racing terms such as 'paddock', which Italian has adopted as a loanword), did well early in the 1928 season, winning three races in March and April, but struggled as the year wore on, given the difficulties of managing a racing team without the support of a manufacturer, and with only Nuvolari's own winnings to finance the operation. Ferrari was careful not to make the same mistakes when he established his own scuderia in November 1929. He secured the backing of a few investors, Campari's services as a driver, and a million lire bank loan from the Banca di San Geminiano (their trust in him paid off: he banked with them for the rest of his life). He bought five Alfa Romeos and before 1930 was over had hired Nuvolari as a driver too.
The prancing horse logo first appeared on Scuderia Ferrari's cars (manufactured by Alfa Romeo) in 1932. During the First World War, Italy's leading fighter pilot, Francesco Baracca, had painted the cavallino rampante on his biplane. He was shot down and killed in June 1918. Baracca's parents met Ferrari after he won a race in 1923 and told him he should use their son's symbol on his cars to bring him luck. Nine years later he took them up on the offer. It was also in 1932 that Ferrari stopped driving race cars himself, for good: in part because running his businesses was already a full-time job; in part because he knew he would never be one of the greats; and in part because Laura had had a baby, and he didn't want to run the considerable risk of leaving Alfredo (Dino) fatherless by dying in a crash.
All of this  was taking place under Fascism. Mussolini was appointed prime minister by the king of Italy on 30 October 1922. Ferrari, busy at the Alfa Romeo headquarters in Milan, wasn't paying attention. Italy's last multi-party elections before 1946 (though they were hardly free or fair) were held on 6 April 1924. A week later Nuvolari won the opening race of the Grand Prix season at Tigullio. The socialist leader Giacomo Matteotti was kidnapped and murdered by a Fascist death squad on 10 June 1924, nine days after Ferrari won the Circuito del Polesine in an Alfa Romeo RL SS. Antonio Gramsci was arrested on 9 November 1926. 'Enzo Ferrari spent 1926 in Modena,' Dal Monte writes. 'He was seen at football matches, cycling events and, in the winter months, even at ski events on the slopes of the Apennines.' What else was he supposed to do?
By his own account Ferrari met Mussolini once, on 9 April 1924. He was asked to lead the motorcade escorting the prime minister from Modena to Sassuolo for lunch. Ferrari drove so fast that Mussolini couldn't keep up and nearly skidded off the road. They didn't eat at the same table. On the way back Ferrari drove more carefully, as requested. Here, as elsewhere, Dal Monte's only source is Ferrari's autobiography, and he repeats the story uncritically. Whether or not it's true in every respect, it seems to convey an honest reckoning of Ferrari's accommodations with the regime: he was far from a full-throated supporter, and colluded only as far as was necessary to pursue his interests. He joined the party in 1934, but only because it was impossible otherwise to get a passport to go to the Monaco Grand Prix.
Still, some of the compromises are harder to stomach than others, especially the ones that don't seem to have felt like compromises at the time. In Libya in the early 1930s, Italian forces displaced, imprisoned and killed tens of thousands of people in a brutal campaign of repression. They used mustard gas and starvation as well as more conventional weapons to quell the local population. The Tripoli Grand Prix was paused for 1931 and 1932, at the height of the violence, but was then won twice in succession by Achille Varzi, driving a Bugatti in 1933 and in 1934 an Alfa Romeo for Scuderia Ferrari. (The 1935 race was won by Rudolf Caracciola, driving a Nazi-boosted Mercedes-Benz, and Varzi won again in 1936, having left Ferrari for another German team, Auto Union.) It is - or should be - hard to see these triumphs as anything but victory laps around a hecatomb by a Fascist occupying power. But not if you keep your eyes trained on the racetrack. 'The nightmare was materialising,' Dal Monte writes of early 1936. But he isn't thinking of the conquest of Ethiopia, the Spanish Civil War or the remilitarisation of the Rhineland. The 'nightmare' was that diplomatic relations between France and Italy had reached such a low that Ferrari's team couldn't compete in the Pau Grand Prix.
In 1937 the scuderia was dissolved and absorbed into Alfa Romeo, which had been entirely controlled by the corporatist state since 1933, and Ferrari was appointed head of the new Alfa Corse racing team on a three-year contract. It was terminated early, however, on 6 September 1939. 'The current international situation,' Alfa Romeo's managing director wrote to Ferrari with studied understatement, five days after Germany invaded Poland, 'has determined the cessation of the racing activity that you headed as our consultant.' Ferrari went home to Modena and set up a new company, Auto Avio Costruzioni, to manufacture cars and aeroplane parts. He bought two chassis from Fiat, designed and built the 1.5-litre, eight-cylinder engines at his workshop in Modena and commissioned the coachwork - about which 'he had well-defined ideas' - from Carrozzeria Touring in Milan. His deal with Alfa Romeo meant he couldn't use his name for the car (strictly, he shouldn't have built it at all), so he called it simply the 815, after the size of the engine.
The 'international situation' meant a much reduced racing season in 1940 - no Grands Prix on mainland Europe - though as Italy hadn't yet entered the war the Targa Florio took place in Palermo on 23 May (while Allied troops in Belgium were being pushed back towards Dunkirk). Ferrari's 815s didn't compete. A month earlier, though, on 28 April, they'd taken part in the Mille Miglia. The 'thousand mile' endurance race usually ran from Brescia to Rome and back again, though in 1940 it didn't leave Lombardy, going nine times round a Brescia-Cremona-Mantua triangle. Scuderia Ferrari had dominated the race for most of the 1930s, but in 1940 BMW took four of the top six places.
After Italy joined the war in June 1940, Ferrari turned to manufacturing aircraft engines and machine tools - which were tagged with the prancing horse and the words 'Scuderia Ferrari' (during another crisis eighty years later, Ferrari temporarily shifted to producing ventilators for Covid patients). In September 1943 he moved his factory out of Modena - and, he hoped, away from Allied bombers - to Maranello, twenty kilometres to the south. Within days, the government in Rome - Mussolini had been ousted in July - signed an armistice with the Allies, and the Nazis invaded northern Italy. Ferrari's factory was occupied and his grinding machines shipped off to Germany, though the trains were intercepted and unloaded by partisans on their journey north. Ferrari, ever the pragmatist, turned a blind eye when the partisans among his workforce used his warehouses at night to repair their weapons and craft sabotage devices. He also gave sanctuary to an injured partisan fighter and (separately) a Jewish family. During the reprisals after Liberation he may have come close to being killed for collaborating with the Nazis, but he seems to have done enough to avoid both sides' blacklists.
Ferrari's second son, Piero, was born in May 1945. The mother wasn't Laura but Lina Lardi degli Adelardi, who worked as his secretary and with whom he had been in a semi-clandestine relationship since 1929. With the war over, Ferrari wasted no time getting his car business up and running again. In August 1945 he hired the engine designer Gioacchino Colombo, who had built the engine of the Alfa Romeo 158 before the war, and less than eighteen months later, in March 1947, he drove the first car that carried his name, the Ferrari 125 (each of its twelve cylinders had a displacement of 125cc), out of the gates of the Maranello factory, three kilometres along the road and back again. Its first race was at Piacenza on 11 May, with Franco Cortese at the wheel. He had to withdraw because of a technical failure but two weeks later in Rome he won, beating Guido Barbieri's Maserati by more than twenty seconds.
Yet as the races and the victories piled up, so did the bodies. At the Circuito di Modena on 28 September, Cortese pulled out of the pits into the path of Giovanni Bracco's Delage. Bracco swerved to avoid him, lost control and ploughed into the crowd, killing five spectators, including a nine-year-old boy, and injuring seventeen. The race was stopped. The police interviewed both drivers but decided no one was to blame. Forty thousand people went to the joint funeral at Modena cathedral. Two weeks later, Raymond Sommer won the Turin Grand Prix in a Ferrari 159. He was killed when his car (a Cooper, not a Ferrari) overturned during the Haute-Garonne Grand Prix in September 1950. Antonio Ascari's son, Alberto, was killed test-driving a Ferrari at Monza in May 1955, four days after he'd survived skidding into the harbour during the Monaco Grand Prix.
The worst motorsport disaster ever occurred at Le Mans on 11 June 1955, three hours into the 24-hour endurance race, when Pierre Levegh's Mercedes rear-ended Lance Macklin's Austin-Healey - which had veered into Levegh's path to avoid Mike Hawthorn's Jaguar, braking for a pit stop - and flew off into the crowd. At least eighty people were killed. The race was not stopped. An official inquiry found no one responsible but criticised the track design.
No Ferraris were involved in the catastrophe at Le Mans. Two years later, however, during the 1957 Mille Miglia, on 12 May, at Guidizzolo, only fifty kilometres from the finish in Brescia, Alfonso de Portago's Ferrari 335 S had a blow-out in a front tyre. He lost control and ploughed into the crowd, killing nine spectators, including five children, and injuring seventeen. De Portago and his navigator, Edmund Nelson, were both killed. Ferrari was investigated for murder, and not cleared until 1961, when it was determined that the puncture was an accident caused by a cat's eye. (The disaster is at the centre of Michael Mann's 2023 movie, Ferrari, starring Adam Driver and Penelope Cruz.) The Mille Miglia was cancelled indefinitely.
After the death of Luigi Musso in the French Grand Prix in July 1958, the Catholic Church intervened to point the finger at Enzo Ferrari. An article in the Vatican newspaper, the Osservatore Romano, described him as an 'industrial Saturn ... devouring his sons'. The following month, Peter Collins died in a crash at the German Grand Prix. A race steward heard him say 'like Musso' before he lost consciousness. In October, Father Leonardo Azzollini wrote an article in the Jesuit journal Civilta Cattolica calling for motor racing to be banned. In December, Ferrari held a press conference at which he blamed race organisers for the safety failures that led to the deaths of his (and other) drivers and spectators. A few days later he met Azzollini at the archbishop's palace in Modena. They talked for five hours, at the end of which the priest was persuaded of the car maker's opinion, and in March 1959 he wrote another piece for Civilta Cattolica serenely arguing the opposite of the case he'd made five months earlier.
The force of character, strength of conviction and rhetorical dexterity that enabled Ferrari to outmanoeuvre a Jesuit priest were key to his success. The skills that made him a household name ('the most famous Italian in the world', Dal Monte says) lay in man management and public relations as much as - if not more than - engineering or driving, though his monomania, ambition and aesthetic judgment certainly helped too. He had a gift for hiring the right people and inspiring (or coercing) them to do their best work, whether as engineers, coachbuilders or drivers, though he had a gift for falling out with them, too: Colombo was back at Alfa Romeo by 1950.
Ferrari had realised he needed to exert more direct control over the bodywork of his vehicles after he saw what Giannino Marzotto, one of the heirs to the Marzotto textile empire who'd won the 1950 Mille Miglia, did with the two Ferrari 212 chassis he bought in 1951. Instead of going to one of Ferrari's recommended coachbuilders, as other, more biddable private clients did, Marzotto commissioned bodywork of his own design, nicknaming the cars the 'Egg' and the 'Little Spider'. When Ferrari saw them, he erupted with rage: 'It's as if you'd raped my daughter in front of my eyes!' (he had no daughter). Soon after, he came to an arrangement with the Turin coachbuilder Battista 'Pinin' Farina, though they had to meet on neutral turf, at a restaurant halfway between Turin and Modena, because neither would stoop to visiting the other's headquarters. Farina's firm designed the bodywork of almost every roadgoing Ferrari until 2012 (including the F430 I drove at Vallelunga).
Farina was already at the top of his field when he started working with Ferrari. Other collaborators were appointed with little or no experience. In 1960 Bologna University gave Ferrari an honorary degree in mechanical engineering. He had to read an essay at the ceremony, and to help him write it he asked his barber's daughter's boyfriend, Franco Gozzi, a law graduate kicking his heels while he waited for a job at the Banca di San Geminiano. Gozzi never went to work for the bank, but spent most of the next thirty years as Ferrari's press officer and one of his closest confidants. The first edition of Ferrari's wonderfully readable autobiography, Le mie gioie terribili ('My Terrible Joys'), was written in 1962 with Gian Paolo Ormezzano, a young journalist who'd interviewed him for Tuttosport two years earlier, though Gozzi read the manuscript over carefully. Luca di Montezemolo was 26 when Ferrari made him manager of the Scuderia in 1974: they won the Constructors' World Championship the next three years in a row, Ferrari's most successful run until the Michael Schumacher era 25 years later.
When  it came to drivers, the arc of Ferrari's relationship with Niki Lauda, who won the Drivers' World Championship in 1975 and 1977, is not untypical. In 1973, his second full Formula One season, the 24-year-old Austrian, racing for BRM, had come seventeenth in the Drivers' Championship with only two points, having retired from nine races, failed to start one and never finished higher than fifth place. But his teammate, Clay Regazzoni, who had driven for Ferrari from 1970 to 1972 and was coming back for the 1974 season, suggested Lauda join him. With Montezemolo also on board with the idea, Ferrari agreed. Their faith quickly paid off. But after winning in 1975, and an incredibly strong start to the 1976 season, in August that year Lauda was in a horrific crash at the German Grand Prix. Four other drivers stopped to pull him out of his burning car. In a coma, with severe lung damage as well as two broken legs, his chances of survival seemed slim. But within six weeks, astonishingly, having missed only two races, he was back behind the wheel and came fourth at Monza. James Hunt, driving for McLaren, beat him to the championship by a single point. In the last race of the season, in Tokyo in October - the first ever Japanese Grand Prix - Lauda had retired after the first lap. He didn't want to race on an unfamiliar track in torrential rain. Hard to blame him, mere weeks after he'd narrowly escaped death (hard to blame him anyway), but Ferrari never really forgave him. And even though Lauda won the 1977 Championship for Ferrari, they parted company at the end of the year on bad terms.
Lauda's replacement was Gilles Villeneuve. Ferrari saw the same promise in him that he'd seen in Lauda a few years earlier. He also said the young Canadian reminded him of Nuvolari. Between 1978 and 1982 Villeneuve won six Grands Prix and had seven other podium finishes, and in 1979 came second in the Drivers' Championship, beaten by his teammate Jody Sheckter, who led Ferrari to their sixth Constructors' Championship win since 1960. Villeneuve was killed in May 1982, during a qualifying session for the Belgian Grand Prix. Fifteen years later, his son, Jacques, won the Drivers' Championship with Williams.
Through the 1980s, Ferrari became more reclusive than ever. He hadn't attended a race in person in decades, preferring to watch from home on TV. Since Laura's death in 1978, he had acknowledged Piero Lardi as his son, allowed him to take his surname and given him an increasingly important role at the company. (Now eighty years old himself, Piero is still vice chair of Ferrari and owns the 10 per cent share in it that he inherited from his father. Enzo had sold most of the company to Fiat in the 1960s on the condition - not always strictly honoured - that he be allowed to retain sole control of the racing division without any meddling from Turin.)
In May 1983 Ferrari received a visit from the Italian president, Sandro Pertini, who arrived in a Maserati limousine. According to protocol, Ferrari was supposed to greet Pertini at the car. But he wouldn't - 'Enzo Ferrari cannot walk towards a Maserati' - so the president got out of his car and walked over to greet Ferrari. (This is about as much postwar politics as you get in Dal Monte's book, besides the occasional reference to inconvenient strikes or 'the general crisis in the automotive sector' in the mid-1970s. He keeps his eyes on the road.) One of the few visitors who managed to get the better of Ferrari was Paul Newman, a Ferrari owner, who came to see him in 1976 to take delivery of a 308 GTB and ask for advice on setting up a racing team. Ferrari wanted to talk about Hollywood actresses but Newman refused to be sidetracked and eventually Ferrari gave in and stuck to talking about cars. (In 1979 Newman was part of the team that came second at Le Mans, driving a Porsche.)
For his ninetieth birthday, Ferrari hosted a lunch for all his employees. A few months later, Pope John Paul II came to visit him. The papal helicopter landed at the Circuito di Fiorano, Ferrari's private test track near Maranello, on the morning of 4 June 1988. Twenty thousand Modenese workers were there, from Ferrari and other local firms, even including Maserati. Piero drove the pope and the bishop of Modena around the track in a red Mondial convertible. John Paul performed Mass before going into the house in the middle of the track, where he met Piero's wife, Floriana, and three-month-old baby, Enzo. But the baby's grandfather wasn't there: Ferrari was at home in bed with a fever. Unable to meet in person, the pope and the engineer spoke over the phone instead. Ferrari died two months later, on 14 August. He was buried in the family vault, in a small private ceremony, before the news of his death was made public.
Accepting an honorary degree from Modena University shortly before he turned ninety, Ferrari had quoted Woodrow Wilson's prediction that 'the 20th century would be the century of the automobile.' Ferrari's life was more or less coterminous with the glory days of the internal combustion engine. He was born just as Karl Benz was ramping up production at his car factory in Mannheim, and died the year the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change was established. The Mille Miglia was restarted as a heritage parade in 1977, open only to cars built before 1957: you may, as I have, spend a pleasant morning at a pavement cafe in the centro storico of one of the towns along the route admiring the museum pieces as they rumble majestically over the cobbles, though it's also a relief when they've gone and pedestrians can return to the streets. A machine, and an industry, that used to look like a herald of the future is now an emblem of what we must leave behind if humanity is to have any future at all, however hard it may be to let go. A few weeks after my adventure at Vallelunga, a letter arrived from the comune of Magliano Sabina informing me that I'd been caught by a speed camera on the drive home, doing 77 kph in a 70 area. I should have taken the bus. L'auto e passata.
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In Evin Prison
Amir Ahmadi Arian

1810 wordsIn  the early morning of 23 June, the day before Iran and Israel agreed a ceasefire, Israel bombed Evin Prison in Tehran, killing at least 79 people. It was the deadliest attack on a single target during the twelve-day war. Evin seemed a strange place to choose. Many of its inmates are political dissidents, or foreign or dual-national prisoners accused of espionage; Nazanin Zaghari-Ratcliffe spent five years there. The reasons for the strike remain murky. Israel said the prison was a 'symbol' of the state and claimed that intelligence operations were run from there. Some people speculated that Israel wanted to encourage an uprising. Whatever the reason, the attack came as a surprise to Iranians. Ali Asadollahi, a poet and former political prisoner in Evin, had reassured relatives worried about his sister, who was being held there, that it was the last place Israel would strike.
Anisha Asadollahi is a workers' rights advocate who was first arrested in 2019. She was arrested again in May 2022 with her husband and accused of conspiring with two French tourists whom the Iranian government had detained as spies. Her family heard nothing for forty days. Later, she told them that she had been held in solitary confinement and harshly interrogated. A year after that, she was arrested once more at a workers' syndicate meeting, accused of 'propaganda against the regime' and 'collusion against national security', and sentenced to five years in Evin. She was two years into her sentence when Israel launched its attack.
The explosion was so powerful that debris landed on the Yadegar-e-Emam Expressway, a few hundred feet from where the main gate had previously stood. The security forces were already on the scene when Ali arrived. Heavily armed men on motorbikes were cordoning off the area and pushing back the crowd. Ali headed for the northern gate near the Kachouyi building, where prisoners' families came for visits. The damage there was worse. Cars had been mangled; buildings inside and outside the prison compound had been destroyed; windows along the block were blown out. The ground was littered with bodies. Evin Hills is a busy neighbourhood, with lots of restaurants and residential buildings, and many civilians were in the area at the time of the attack.
Anisha's husband, Kayvan Mohtadi, who had been released from Evin a year earlier, was in their apartment in Velenjak, not far from the prison, when he heard the blast. From the window, he could see three massive columns of smoke and, suspecting that Evin had been hit, drove straight towards them. He had spent more than two years there, almost three months of it in solitary confinement, enduring midnight interrogations and psychological torture. The first people he saw when he arrived were plain-clothes security officers, some of whom he recognised. Kayvan had often thought about what he would do if he saw his tormentors out in the world, on an equal footing. But now he couldn't summon any anger. The head guard in Section 4, where he had served most of his sentence, appeared, brushing dust from his uniform. He spotted Kayvan, embraced him and began to sob. Behind him, a few prisoners were trying to leave the compound. One of the guards raised his rifle. A senior officer stopped him. 'I know them,' he said. 'They're from the financial crimes ward. Shoot only if you see political prisoners.'
Hours after the explosion, there were still no bulldozers at the southern gate. The guards and security forces cleared the rubble by hand. Once the path was wide enough for a car, police vehicles drove in, followed by ambulances. The security forces began demanding that the waiting relatives identify themselves, explain why they were there and who they knew inside. When Kayvan told an officer that his wife was a prisoner, the man snapped at him. 'I lost friends and colleagues protecting outlaws like your wife,' he said. 'You should be grateful to the prison staff.'
Kayvan kept calling the communal phone used by the prisoners in Section 4. Finally, in the afternoon, it was answered by Farhad, one of his former cellmates. 'Absolute chaos,' Farhad said. The front wall and door of Section 4 had been destroyed. Across the yard, the prison hospital had been razed to the ground. Crushed cars were scattered about and small fires burned everywhere. 'It looks like Gaza,' he said. He reassured Kayvan that the women's ward hadn't suffered major damage. The windows had shattered, which wasn't surprising, since they were unusually large, more like those of a warehouse than a prison block. Relieved, Kayvan and Ali went home. But Kayvan, unable to sleep, returned a few hours later. There was a long line of buses in front of the main entrance. The prisoners were being moved - an unnerving sight in Iran, where political prisoners have a way of disappearing in such situations.
Anisha  had been lying on her bunk when she heard a plane overhead. A few days earlier, two prisoners with experience in war zones had held a workshop on what to do during an air raid. If you heard a plane but no explosion, the danger had probably passed. But if you heard a second plane, you should take shelter immediately. Anisha waited. Then the second plane came. Blinding flashes filled the sky, followed by a series of explosions. Glass rained down on the prisoners, along with chunks of plaster from the ceiling. Balls of fire shot into the sky. The woman on the bunk above Anisha scrambled down, and they both curled into the foetal position. They counted four explosions. The blasts were so powerful that several prisoners suffered tinnitus for days.
They didn't move for a few minutes. Some prisoners who had been in the exercise yard returned, wide-eyed. They had seen the planes overhead and had brought inside jagged pieces of shrapnel the size of their palms. Most of the sixty or so inmates of the women's ward composed themselves and went to inspect the four rooms on the first floor where they spent most of their time. Their living quarters were largely intact, but the hallway and stairwell were full of concrete slabs and piles of broken bricks. At the far end of the corridor, behind several locked doors, were the guards' offices. There was no sign of them.
The prisoners picked their way down the stairs to the area they called the Club. This had once been used for workshops and vocational training, but the women now did yoga and aerobics there. Only a small carpentry corner remained from the old set-up. Anticipating the smoke that soon filled the building, they had torn sheets into strips, which they soaked and kept ready to press over their faces. From the carpentry area, they took heavy wooden planks and used them to build makeshift shelters to crawl under if another round of missiles came.
More than an hour after the bombing, the guards finally came out of their offices. From behind a locked door they began shouting at the prisoners. 'See?' they yelled. 'Israel's after you too. We've been telling you, they want to kill all of us, but you won't listen.' An argument broke out. Then the air defence guns roared and the guards disappeared. The prisoners crammed themselves under the wooden shelters.
No one came to the women's ward for the rest of the afternoon. The phones weren't working. The prisoners later learned that the guards had cut the line. Water, electricity and gas had all been cut off too. There was no air-conditioning. The guards had locked all the doors, including the one to the exercise yard, so the women spent the sweltering afternoon in the smoke-filled ward. To pass the time, they picked up shards of glass and fallen plaster, dusted the furniture and swept the floors.
The guards returned late in the afternoon. The prisoners asked for water and were told that a tanker was on its way. Then came the real news: they were going to be moved. Another argument broke out. The women refused to go without being told where they were being taken, under what conditions and with what guarantees. They demanded that their families and the media be informed. The memory of 1988 was heavy in the air: under similarly chaotic conditions, more than five thousand political prisoners in Evin had been executed on government orders in less than a week.
A more senior officer arrived, one of the few who had a reputation for listening to the prisoners. He escorted the women out to the small exercise yard and pointed at the towers along the prison wall and the hills beyond. 'There are snipers in all of them,' he said. 'They've been ordered to shoot at anything that moves.' The prison, he added, was no longer functioning. There was no water, no power and hardly any guards. But stepping outside the ward would mean risking their lives.
Darkness fell. The promised water tanker never arrived. The prisoners gathered to discuss their situation. They were worried about leaving. Two of the women in the ward had been sentenced to death, and many feared that in the confusion of the transfer, the authorities might execute them, hoping no one would notice. But they felt they had no choice but to consent.
That night, they later discovered, the male prisoners had been transferred to Fashafuyeh, a prison south of Tehran notorious for its brutal conditions. At dawn, the women began to pack. Many of them had been in the prison for years, accumulating belongings: books, clothes, letters, small gifts, mementos from cellmates long gone. Now, they could take only what would fit in a single bag. They were handcuffed in pairs and led out over the debris, their steps muffled. They left the compound through a hole in the wall carved out by bulldozers and boarded the buses in silence. They were taken across Tehran to Qarchak Prison in Varamin, which houses women convicted of violent crimes. The prison is over-capacity, so the women from Evin remain, more than a month later, in the quarantine ward, where inmates usually wait to be processed. Filthy and overcrowded, it has no kitchen, no clean bathrooms and almost no space to sleep.
The fate of Evin remains uncertain. Built in 1972 on the northern edge of Tehran, at the foot of the Alborz mountains, the prison is now surrounded by the city, and developers are desperate to acquire the land. Long before Israel's strikes, rumours had circulated that Evin was going to be shut down, but the city authorities couldn't get the agreement of the security forces. The Israeli strike seemed to offer an opportunity, but it appears that closure has again been vetoed. The reconstruction of the damaged buildings has already begun.
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The Price of Safety
Clair Wills on the trials of Constance Marten and Mark Gordon

20,268 wordsFor  several years, I have been following the case of Constance Marten and Mark Gordon, the couple who went on the run from social services and the police in January 2023, in order to prevent their baby girl being taken into care. Marten was raised in wealth and privilege: a large landed estate, acquaintance with royalty, private schools, trust funds. She had fallen out with her family, mainly because of her relationship with Gordon, a convicted sex offender who had spent much of his life in prison for assault and rape. In the years after they met, they had four children, all of whom were taken into care after a protracted battle in the family courts. They decided to try to keep the birth of their fifth baby, Victoria, secret. But after the police learned of her existence and issued a national missing persons alert, Marten and Gordon went on the run. Victoria died while they were attempting to hide off-grid in a tent on the South Downs. They were arrested seven weeks later and have been held on remand ever since. On 14 July, the second jury to consider the charges against them convicted Marten and Gordon of gross negligence manslaughter. They will be sentenced in September.
During the two trials for gross negligence manslaughter at the Old Bailey, the central criminal court in London, the prosecution argued that the couple had 'wilfully' and 'recklessly' endangered their daughter. But Marten and Gordon repeatedly asserted that the police were primarily responsible for the death of their baby, who would still be alive if there hadn't been a nationwide manhunt. It is certainly true that the missing family provided sensational copy, both before and after they were found, with multiple police forces issuing calls for information and details of their vastly different backgrounds splashed over the papers and discussed on TV, alongside emotional pleas from Marten's parents. Press releases, news bulletins, a whole country put on alert to find the couple and their newborn baby. During the trials, both Marten and Gordon said that they had panicked, for fear Victoria would be taken from them, and had taken a series of increasingly desperate decisions that led in the end to catastrophe.
Were the frantic measures taken by the couple to keep their child acts of selfishness, as the prosecution argued, or, as Marten insisted, acts of love? The accusation of selfishness turns on the fact that Marten had options: she had money, education, family connections. She was in control of her own destiny, and that of her child. The prosecuting barristers insisted that she could have asked for help from her family and from healthcare professionals, social services and the police. The risks she took were not reasonable in the circumstances but self-interested. If she had really cared about her baby, they argued, she would have handed her in.
But Marten felt she had no choice. She wanted to have a family with Gordon: meeting him was 'fate', she said. She knew that any child she had with him would be removed by the state, so for her the risks she took were not merely reasonable but necessary - it was her duty to save her daughter from being put into the care system.
Marten has spoken of her feelings of guilt over the death of her daughter. She has admitted that Victoria was in her care when she died, even that she was holding her, and that by falling asleep over her she was the immediate cause of her death. But she has refused to accept that she was to blame for the situation in which the couple found themselves. She wants the state to be held accountable for what happened, and throughout both trials she tried to shift attention onto broader issues such as the right to family privacy and the rights of mothers and children.
But the trials were held to determine the couple's criminal responsibility for Victoria's death, not larger moral questions. And since the precise cause of death was impossible to determine, the focus inside the courtroom turned to their fitness as parents, and even as human beings. They were in the dock for gross negligence, and their characters were dissected for any evidence of neglectful behaviour and disregard for convention. They were judged for being entitled, or reckless, or slovenly, for being posh, for having a history of violence, for being posh and choosing to stay with a man with a history of violence, for eating fast food, for handling their baby clumsily, for co-sleeping, for shopping in Primark. As we watched CCTV footage of Marten and Gordon shopping in East London, it appeared they were on trial for the way they walked down the street. In the end, the two trials unfolded over ten months of court sessions, exposing to view not only the behaviour of the couple who had become outlaws to society, but the attitudes towards them of the state, the law, the media and the public.
When the first trial opened at the Old Bailey in January 2024, the court provided an overflow room for the press, and the usher fitted extra seats into the well of the court. We packed ourselves in and fought over printed copies of court papers. Several newspapers ran live blogs of the trial; there were protests outside the court organised by groups supporting women whose children had been taken into care; and the Daily Mail produced a dramatised podcast, with actors playing the parts of lawyers and defendants. Much of the popular interest was driven by morbid curiosity: who was in charge, the entitled aristocrat or her rough-edged lover? What did they see in each other? Was this a case of coercive control? Were the couple simply selfish and reckless as the prosecution alleged? Who caused Victoria's death? But many people, including, apparently, some of the jurors in the first trial, who were unable to agree on the charge of gross negligence manslaughter, felt these parents also deserved sympathy and understanding. Marten may have loved the wrong man, and expressed maternal devotion in socially unacceptable ways; the couple may have failed their children at times and tried to escape a system they saw as pernicious and cruel. But did they deserve to be on trial for manslaughter?
Ayear earlier 
, in January 2023, the public had been gripped by a story that began when a car caught fire on the M61 motorway near Bolton. The occupants of the car disappeared from the scene before the emergency services arrived; inside the vehicle the police found a placenta wrapped in a towel as well as a woman's passport. Greater Manchester Police put out a nationwide alert for a couple on the run with their baby: Constance Marten, a white woman aged 35, and her partner, Mark Gordon, a 48-year-old black man. The story became headline news. Photographs of the couple and appeals for information were broadcast on the BBC, Sky and ITV, and published in all the national papers. As Gordon's defence barrister later put it, the story 'captivated the public': 'the whole nation was put on notice' for more than seven weeks, as citizens were encouraged to look out for the family and report any possible sightings. Social media was awash with speculation and the couple were apparently seen at hundreds of locations. In daily media bulletins, the police explained that they had traced them from Bolton to Liverpool, and from there (travelling long distances by taxi) to Harwich, Colchester and East London, where CCTV footage showed them walking down a street in Whitechapel pushing a buggy, their faces obscured by hoods and scarves.
Then for several weeks the trail went cold until, at the end of February, a tip-off from a man who had spotted the couple at a cashpoint in Brighton led to their arrest. But Victoria wasn't with them, and both Marten and Gordon refused to answer questions. Two days later, following an anxious search, her body was found in a supermarket bag, hidden in a shed on an allotment. Marten and Gordon were remanded in custody and charged on five counts: concealing the birth of a child, child cruelty, gross negligence manslaughter, causing or allowing the death of a child, and perverting the course of justice.
Like everyone else, I followed the manhunt, the capture of the two fugitives, the gruesome discovery of the baby's decomposed body and the periodic announcements regarding the upcoming trial. I was puzzled by what could have given rise to such a tragedy. Something was missing from the accounts in the newspapers. Why were they on the run? What had led them to take such risks? During the trial it emerged that the police had issued a high-risk missing persons alert because the family courts had previously determined that the couple's children should be removed from them. But this wasn't widely known at the time and journalists were legally prevented from writing about it. In the absence of reliable information, social media conspiracists pumped out theories, and the newspapers printed anything they could find: interviews with Marten's former friends, pictures of the stately home where she grew up, details about her ancestry, her schooling, her rift with her family. Marten's paternal grandmother, Mary Anna Sturt Marten, was a goddaughter of the Queen Mother; George VI attended her wedding. Marten's father had been a page to Queen Elizabeth II. The papers ran stories about the once carefree aristocrat who had grown up on the PS34 million Crichel Estate in Dorset but had suddenly cut off all contact with her family and friends, and dropped out of her course at East 15 Acting School, completely disappearing from her former social world, when she got together with Mark Gordon in 2016.
Gordon's background was also newsworthy. He was born in Birmingham in 1974, but moved to New York with his mother and half-sister when he was twelve. Two years later, they relocated to Miami. Just a few months after the move, in spring 1989, while his mother was working in New York, Gordon confessed to the rape of his neighbour and to a second violent attack on another neighbour. He was sentenced to life in prison. After serving more than twenty years, he was released and deported to the UK, where he was put on the Sex Offender Register. Some British newspapers got access to the Florida court documents and printed details of the four and a half hour attack by Gordon, who wore a stocking mask and was armed with a knife and garden shears. An article in the Sun quoted the victim under the headline: 'Ordeal from Hell: I was raped by sick Mark Gordon who told me, "Don't scream or I'll kill your kids." We MUST find Constance Marten now.'
And although no one said so explicitly, it was implied that the six months Marten had spent, aged nineteen, at the Synagogue Church of All Nations, Lagos, under the sway of the cult leader T.B. Joshua, had left her susceptible to abuse, by black men in particular. The trip seems to have been part of a gap year experience, between finishing school and going to Leeds University for a degree in Middle Eastern Studies. Marten's mother, Virginie de Selliers, an evangelical Christian, had arranged the visit, taking her daughter to Lagos and returning without her. The papers quoted disturbing tales of sexual violence and coercion, 'grooming' and 'brainwashing', relayed by former members of the church, some of whom Marten had spoken to while researching a planned documentary on the group's 'illegal activities'. She pitched the idea to Al-Jazeera after winning its photography competition with images of Tahrir Square during the Arab Spring, taken while she was living in Cairo in 2011.
Marten had left the church in Lagos after six months, and had researched a critical account of the group, so the argument could have gone the other way: that far from being vulnerable to coercion, she knew it when she saw it. But that was not the way the media reported it. Several journalists repeated a quote from a former member of the church, who said that Marten had told him Joshua singled out white people for ritual humiliation. In mid-February 2023, Marten's estranged father, who had long since separated from her mother and seemed to have got most of his information from an article in the Independent, made a public statement calling for police to investigate 'links' between the couple's disappearance and what happened in Nigeria: 'These experiences appear to have been a trigger in so much of what has happened to harm Constance in recent years, setting up a pattern of behaviour exposing her to easy manipulation.'
The idea that Marten had been 'brainwashed' in Nigeria, and that she and her baby were in danger from Gordon, was given credence by de Selliers's open letter to her daughter, which extended an offer of help to mother and child, but pointedly not to the child's father:
I want to help you and my grandchild. You deserve the opportunity to build a new life, establish a stable family and enjoy the same freedoms that most of us have. Constance, I will do what I can to stand alongside you and my grandchild. You are not alone in this situation. We will support you in whatever way we can.

The police knew that Gordon was a convicted sex offender, and had they been concerned for Marten's safety this might have explained the national alert and pleas for information. But their statements suggested it was the couple's baby who was in danger. 'There is nothing to suggest that any of them have come to any sort of intentional harm,' said Detective Superintendent Lewis Basford, who was leading the search. 'We just need to ensure they are okay, especially the baby.'
Here I should declare an interest. Since the death of my own baby many years ago, in hospital, shortly after birth, I often follow neonatal deaths that make the headlines. I'm interested in the way these difficult stories get reported, whether it's the discovery of the remains of nearly eight hundred babies in a septic tank in a former mother and baby home in County Galway, or the Lucy Letby trials, or debates about late-term abortion. I went to the Old Bailey in January last year because I wanted to find out what had happened to cause the death of this baby and what was being said about it.*
In the end, I followed the trial from January to June 2024, when the jury was discharged because they couldn't agree on the major charges, and returned for the retrial, which began in March 2025 and lasted more than four months. I spent nearly a year in the company of the judge, the barristers for the prosecution and for the defence, the police assigned to the case, two juries, newspaper and TV journalists, podcasters, producers and protesters, as well as Constance Marten and Mark Gordon themselves. I began by feeling perplexed that the case had been brought to trial at all. I couldn't see the point of punishing parents who had already lost everything, and I didn't change my mind about that. But I did learn a great deal about blame - blame directed at the police, at social workers, at the family courts, at selfish people, at people who don't respect authority, at parents and above all at mothers. Behind the accusations and counteraccusations over who was responsible for Victoria's death lay moral arguments about the dangers of risk-taking, though these were rarely spelled out: when can we reasonably impose risks on others? Should we put limits on the regulation of safety? When does risky action, or inaction, become culpable? There is a price to safety: what happens when people are unwilling to pay it?
The courtroom often descended into chaos, with yelling from the dock, sackings, interruptions and irruptions of temper - and not only from the defendants. I was repeatedly told, by both barristers and journalists, that they had never seen anything like it. During the first trial the court clerk kept a tally of the number of questions asked by the jury - at more than two hundred he thought it might be a record. Although no crime is 'straightforward', this case was particularly messy. I had a nagging sense through both trials that what the jury was really being asked to judge was Constance Marten's choice to be with Mark Gordon. What was on trial was their decision to stay together, and in effect to become outlaws rather than submit to the state's intervention in their family.
The first task  for the prosecution was to establish that Victoria's death merited the charge of gross negligence manslaughter. She had died, the prosecutors told the jury, as a consequence of the couple's 'reckless, utterly selfish, callous, cruel, arrogant and ultimately grossly negligent conduct'. Their 'deliberate and dangerous obstinacy' had led them to dismiss their daughter's health and wellbeing, resulting in her death from hypothermia in February 2023. But the prosecution added a rider: if it wasn't hypothermia that had killed her, then it was co-sleeping, against which Marten had been warned some years before. Either way, the couple were guilty of gross negligence. The rider was necessary because the postmortem on Victoria's body was inconclusive: too much time had passed between her death and the discovery of her body. One of the doctors involved in the post-mortem, called as an expert witness by the prosecution, treated the jury to a series of colourful food metaphors (the baby's skin was like a pizza on which the tomato sauce had got mixed with the pepperoni). Certain hypotheses could be ruled out. There were no signs of injury to her body, and no evidence of deliberate harm. Beyond that we were in the realm of conjecture. There was no scientific means of establishing a cause of death. The prosecution had to construct their case from CCTV and eyewitness evidence of the couple's long journeys across the country and their eventual arrival in Newhaven on the South Coast (where all sightings ceased), and from Marten's account of events after they had pitched their tent on the South Downs.
Two days after Victoria's body was found, Marten told a sympathetic police officer what had happened. In her recorded interviews, and later in the evidence she gave in court, she went into detail about what she and Gordon had done, why they had done it and what had gone wrong. She didn't change her story over two years of being questioned. In his opening statement to the jury, the lead counsel for the prosecution, Tom Little KC, quoted extensively from Marten's interviews as he laid out the case against the couple.
Both sides agreed that the sequence of events before the couple arrived on the South Coast was not really in dispute. Marten had discovered she was pregnant in the spring of 2022, and the couple had made plans to keep both the pregnancy and the birth of their daughter secret, in order, as Marten put it, to 'save her from the services'. Tom Little explained to the jury that the couple had by this point had four previous children taken into care. Following an incident in November 2019 when Marten was pregnant with her third child (an accident according to Marten, domestic violence according to social services), she had attempted to hide from the authorities and from her own family. We later found out she had gone to Ireland with her two older children. And we would learn that over the course of her relationship with Gordon, Marten's family had employed two sets of private detectives, on three separate occasions, to track her down. Absconding did her no good but rather increased the determination of social services to intervene. As Little told the jury, 'on 28 January 2022 care and placement orders were made in respect of all four children. The prosecution suggest that it would have been apparent to both defendants that any further children would be taken into care.' Marten herself made no secret of the fact that she was determined to outwit the authorities. She was going to find a way to have the family she wanted with Gordon.
Marten told the police officer that they had rented a cottage in Northumberland where their fifth child was born - in secret - on Christmas Eve 2022. Gordon delivered the baby. They planned to stay hidden with Victoria for long enough that Marten 'could give her a mother's love'. Giving evidence in court, she spoke of the importance of the maternal bond: 'I don't think it's fair on a young baby not to experience that ... she needed to be with her family as long as possible.' She explained that they were convinced they needed to keep moving in order to avoid local authority jurisdiction over their daughter. This was the reason they were on a motorway near Bolton when their car 'exploded' on 5 January 2023 (this was the second car malfunction in a few days, which did nothing to dampen the couple's paranoia). As Little summarised it for the jury, 'she assumed that police would attend the scene and take her daughter away so they ran away. She said that the other children had been taken away and she did not want the police to find her and take her baby away.' They left behind them not only the placenta, which they intended to bury, but also 34 'burner' phones they were using to avoid being traced, PS2000 in cash and most of their belongings.
Their options were narrowing, and they knew it. Believing they were being tracked by private investigators, as well as the police, they took a series of increasingly desperate decisions. They asked a passing motorist to take them to a service station, from where they got a taxi to Liverpool and then to Harwich in Essex. The choice of destination was apparently driven by the notion that they might be able to find a way out of the country from a port town. Marten had a scheme, it later transpired, foolhardy at best and at worst unhinged, to find people smugglers who would take them across the Channel in the opposite direction from the usual migrant journey. She hoped to make it to North Cyprus, which has no extradition treaty with the UK, and to continue her legal battle for the return of her other children from there.
In Harwich they stayed for two nights in different hotels, paying in cash and giving false names. But on the morning of 7 January, a man out walking his dog approached them and asked if they were the people on the news. This was the first they knew of the national alert. 'Things kind of went downhill from there,' Marten said. This is her account of what happened, told to the investigating police officers shortly after her arrest:
Obviously when the gentleman said we were on national television, we then got a taxi to Colchester and then from there we planned on finding a flat in East Ham ... You know it's quite easy to find flats so, er, then when we got there everyone seemed to recognise us, jeering and pointing and taking pictures of us, so that's when we decided we were not going to find a flat, because anyone could hand us in to the police, um, so Mark went to the Argos in East Ham and bought a pram ... But it was difficult because obviously everyone was recognising us in London so we decided, okay, we were not going to be able to get a flat, we were going to have to, that's when we decided to get a tent at that point. So that was like two, three days after the car. Um, yeah, I think we were quite shocked we were on television and to realise that we might not get anywhere with the baby cos everyone was recognising us so, in order to save her from the services, then we would have to probably remove ourselves from society till we could find a house ... So she was always cared for but we remained in hotels until that point. We didn't plan on sleeping outside at all.

In East Ham, the couple bought a buggy, which they quickly discarded, and in Whitechapel a tent, duvet and pillows. On the night of 7 January they took a taxi to Newhaven in Sussex, arriving early in the morning of 8 January. They walked to the South Downs National Park, where they pitched the tent. According to Marten's account, their daughter died the following day:
We were staying outside in the countryside. She was in my jacket and I was keeping her warm. I was holding her and hugging her and I was extremely tired. I hadn't slept in probably two days. We'd just arrived there. I fell asleep with her in my jacket. When I woke up I was like crouched over her, like that, holding her and she wasn't moving when I woke up. I don't know how long I'd been asleep. I saw she wasn't moving and her lips had gone blue. And, yeah, I don't know how long we slept. I don't know why she didn't make any noise, and I was just so tired, I don't know. That's all I can say. Erm, I tried to resuscitate her, er, for like, well I tried to breathe in her mouth and pump her chest, erm, and there was no response. So I wrapped her in a scarf and cradled her for a few minutes. I didn't know what to do.

She described going to buy petrol at the local Texaco garage three days later, on 12 January (CCTV of Marten filling a glass bottle at the petrol pump was shown to the jury). She explained that her plan was to cremate her daughter's body, but that she changed her mind since she knew she would eventually have to give an account of what had happened, and so should preserve the body for an autopsy. She considered burial: 'I did get a spade at one point from the allotment. I was going to bury her there but then I didn't have the strength to bury that far deep because I hadn't eaten for so long ... I was worried that if I was to bury her in the woods, potentially an animal could, you know, find her and potentially do something to her limbs so I didn't want that to happen.' She described how they covered Victoria's body with earth inside the bag, and she spoke in halting detail of the burden she had been carrying:
I wanted to give her a proper burial so we carried her with us, not knowing what to do. I mean she's got soil on top of her, like in the bag, and obviously the bag got extremely heavy. I don't know why her body did that because I think she's quite light but it's been quite difficult to carry around. It's extremely heavy to carry ... It got to the point where she became really heavy, the bag became too heavy to carry. I don't know why. I haven't looked at the body or neither has Mark, but it just became excessively heavy. Um, and also Mark and I hadn't eaten in a long time. It just became impossible to carry it, so sometimes we actually had to leave it in the tent or, erm, in the allotment. We left it in there because it was just too, too heavy.

We heard the same account from Marten over the course of her trials (when giving evidence to the jury she said the bag got so heavy they sometimes had to drag it). A couple of months into the first trial we spent a day and a half watching the videos of the three interviews she gave to the police shortly after Victoria's body had been found. Marten answered the questions posed by the investigating officer hesitantly, and sometimes her voice became very quiet, but her responses were mostly straightforward. She got muddled between Harwich and Newhaven, and she wasn't sure about dates, but she seemed to be doing her best. At points she was in tears, but she had no option but to keep going. In response to the officer's questions, she tried to remember the items they had lost in the car fire, the journeys to Liverpool and to Harwich, the names of the hotels they had stayed in, and the moment she realised her baby had died. Some details were hazy. She couldn't remember whether Victoria was lying to the right or to the left when she woke up (whether she had been feeding from her right or left breast before she fell asleep). Some things she wasn't asked about and didn't describe. She wasn't asked about the way her body responded to the loss of her baby, so we didn't hear about her breasts becoming hardened with unused milk. There were several moments during the screening of the videos in court when Marten, head down, wept in the dock. Jurors, journalists, me - we all craned our necks to watch.
Listening to  her interviews was painful. Marten was describing an almost phantasmagorical experience. Not only was she acknowledging the gravity of her daughter's death and what she and Gordon had lived through in the aftermath, but it was still happening for her ('she's quite light', 'it's extremely heavy'). Yet when Marten's account was read aloud to the jury by Tom Little, at the start of the first trial, the tone he adopted was one of disdain. Little is a large man, tall and broad, with a fondness for eating sweets between court sittings that sits oddly with his overbearing presence. He has probably heard the joke about him - 'Tom Little, never knowingly under-prosecutes' - and he's probably proud of it. His voice in court was always a little bit raised. In his opening, he delivered Marten's sentences in an ironic, disbelieving tone. The contradiction between the unbearable experience Marten was describing and the sardonic manner in which Little relayed it was utterly disorientating. I've attended other trials. I know the adversarial system encourages attack, but I was taken aback by this display of contempt and I wasn't alone. During the second trial, Little skipped over these passages quickly and refused to play the full set of Marten's interviews to the jury. The prosecution must have been worried that the interviews were too dangerous - they encouraged sympathy. Little stated that he had been 'too generous' the first time round.
As far as the prosecution were concerned, Marten's account was a lie. She and Gordon had had time to cook it up between them. Nothing they said could be believed. Marten was, Little explained to the jury, 'telling a lie to her own benefit. Telling a lie in an attempt to minimise the amount of time which she and the first defendant were caring for a newborn baby in a tent, in midwinter.' He made a point of distinguishing between different kinds of lie. There was, for example, 'a demonstrable lie' and 'a contrived lie', which each appeared to operate differently from 'a pack of lies'. During his closing statement he described 'lies falling from [Marten's] mouth like confetti', a 'tissue' of lies, and again he differentiated between 'little lies' and 'big fat lies'. As Marten's defence barrister, Francis FitzGibbon KC, pointed out to the jury, Little was speaking to them in 'nursery language'.
It became clear during the first trial that the prosecution needed to claim the defendants were lying because if they were telling the truth it would be harder to secure a conviction of gross negligence manslaughter. Victoria had not died after Marten fell asleep through exhaustion on the first night in the tent, Little argued, but some weeks later, following prolonged exposure to freezing temperatures. The couple had subjected their baby to conditions of extreme cold for several weeks, failing to provide appropriate clothing and warm coverings. In cross-examination much was made of the fact that most of their provisions had been lost when they fled their car on 5 January, and that although Gordon bought a tent and bedding while in East London, they had bought no nappies, warm clothes or other items for their daughter. The prosecution maintained that the couple had chosen to live in the tent (they 'went into the cold and camped for weeks') and did so regardless of the danger to their daughter.
But the most shocking charge levelled at the couple was that they had kept their baby in a shopping bag while she was alive. Marten said they took turns to carry Victoria under their coats, usually in a scarf fashioned into a sling, sometimes held in their arms. But Little claimed that on 7 January, after they had first bought and then quickly disposed of a buggy, they placed her in the bag where she was found after her death:
It would appear that, at this time, the child was transferred to a red reinforced Lidl 'bag for life' where it would appear it spent much of its life before it died. It would have been plain to the defendants, you must have thought, that this was an utterly inappropriate way to care for any child, let alone their child and remember at all times in this case the time of year and the weather conditions.

Despite the extreme weather, and being carried in a shopping bag, Little argued, 'the child was alive ... over a month after the couple decided to live off-grid, without regular access to food and fresh water, or any access to heating.' But eventually her parents' negligent care caused her death from hypothermia.
The prosecution were taking a risk with the baby-living-in-a-bag thesis. None of the journalists I spoke to over many months believed it, and it seems at least some of the jurors in the first trial weren't having it. Yet when the retrial started in March, the prosecution repeated the accusation, even though it made little sense. As the professor of infant health called as an expert witness by Marten's defence team pointed out, in freezing conditions a newborn would not survive for any length of time in a shopping bag, and certainly not for several weeks. It was hard to resist the suspicion that the prosecution were reluctant to abandon the idea because it made Gordon and Marten look wicked rather than desperate. Only monsters would treat a child like that.
To be fair to the prosecution, they were trying to square a circle. They had access to the family court papers, which apparently contained evidence that the couple had acted negligently towards their previous children. Journalists couldn't access the papers at this point, but it was clear that both Marten and Gordon had lied to the authorities on numerous occasions. One of these occasions formed part of the case against them, and it concerned the birth of their first child in 2017. At that time, they were living in a tent in Wales, hiding from Marten's family and the private detectives they believed were searching for them. Marten went to the local hospital to give birth as an unregistered case, telling the midwives that she came from an Irish Traveller background (she gave her name as Isabella O'Brien), that she had never been to school, had never registered with a GP and did not have an NHS number. She said that Gordon was a friend rather than the father of her baby. She spoke in an Irish accent throughout labour, a feat that amazed the mothers on the press bench in particular. How on earth did she keep it up?
For Little, the episode was proof that Marten had 'perfected lying to an art form'. It was clear from the story that Marten was determined, that she harboured an intense grievance against her family and that she was a good actor, but also that she was hopelessly naive. She seems to have believed that if she presented as homeless and without support she would be provided with housing. Instead, social services were alerted to the conditions in which the couple were living. An interim care order, which assigns responsibility for a child to the local authority, was issued, compelling Marten to live with her baby in a series of temporary mother and baby homes. After six months, the order was rescinded. Marten and her child were free to rejoin Gordon, which they did.
In order to make the case that Victoria was alive in the weeks when her parents were living in a tent, the prosecution submitted the evidence of a number of eye-witnesses who claimed to have seen the couple after 9 January, the date on which Marten said her baby died. One woman had seen a couple walking on a coastal path near Seaford in the South Downs in mid-January, and two or three nights earlier had heard a baby crying at night through her open window during a thunderstorm. A man had seen a interracial couple pushing a buggy in mid-February (although as FitzGibbon pointed out, the buggy had been abandoned in London). A woman claimed to have seen the couple in Stanmer Park near Brighton on 19 February, a sunny Sunday afternoon when there were lots of people out and about. In her statement to the police she said she had noticed a woman carrying a baby with a wobbly head, and behind her a man whose ethnicity she could not determine because he was wearing a mask or hood. But in the witness box she changed her evidence and insisted that the baby she saw was dead. FitzGibbon invited the jury to consider how likely it was that a couple in hiding would choose to stroll in the park with their dead baby for all to see. He called it a classic example of confirmation bias - the tendency to interpret or remember information in a way that confirms existing belief.
Confirmation bias was affecting the prosecution, too, as they looked for evidence that supported their case and overlooked evidence that didn't. The defence accused them of 'fitting the evidence to the theory'. One afternoon during Marten's cross-examination, the court spent what felt like hours looking at CCTV of the couple walking out of a bus station. 'Where is the baby?' the junior counsel for the prosecution, Joel Smith KC, repeatedly asked. He claimed that because Victoria wasn't visible in the footage, it proved the couple were carrying her in the shopping bag. Eventually a visibly frustrated Marten said: 'Can we zoom in?' When the footage was enlarged, it became obvious that Victoria was zipped up inside Marten's jacket. The most telling thing about this exchange was that the prosecution hadn't thought to check properly before.
Despite the CCTV evidence of Marten buying petrol, and the fact that the explanations both defendants gave in their police interviews added up, the prosecution chose to disbelieve them. My question was, why? Why were they trying to make the case that the baby was still alive after Marten said she had died? Why were they sticking to the theory that Victoria had been carried in a shopping bag while alive? Since they claimed that Marten's account of falling asleep over her baby anyhow proved the couple were guilty of gross negligence manslaughter, why the elaborate attempt to pin the exposure charge on them, on such flimsy evidence?
There was no doubt that Marten and Gordon had made a series of catastrophic errors and misjudgments that had cost them and their children very dear. They were certainly guilty of paranoia, of believing in conspiracy theories about all forms of authority, of suspicious and bungled dealings with social services. Gordon may also have been guilty of coercive and violent control over Marten, although it was difficult to square this with the couple's evident care for each other in the courtroom. They were, as they acknowledged themselves, responsible for the death of their daughter ('I do feel responsible for falling asleep on her,' Marten told her barrister from the witness box), but as the defence teams at both trials argued, that didn't make them guilty of manslaughter. FitzGibbon was unequivocal: 'What happened was no crime.' Victoria's death was a tragic accident. Rather than 'monstrous murderers', this was a couple 'semi-deranged with grief' over the loss of their four children and the death of their baby daughter. But if that was right - and at least some jurors in the first trial seemed to think so - there were serious questions to be asked. Why had the case been brought? What example was being made? Who, or what, was really on trial?
If Victoria's  death was a tragic accident, then arguably Marten and Gordon were on trial for being unlucky. Their plan to outwit social services was fatally compromised when their car caught fire on the motorway. It was important for the prosecution to disallow bad luck. During both trials, they repeatedly insisted that the couple were to blame because of the unreasonable risks they had taken, basing their case on the negligent character of the parents, whose behaviour was (these words were often repeated) 'selfish', 'reckless', 'callous', 'cruel' and 'arrogant'. This vocabulary was, frankly, odd given the circumstances (a weeping mother in the witness box, reliving the terrible moment she realised her baby had died) and one sign of the difficulty the prosecution were having proving the couple were straightforwardly to blame.
Listening to the prosecution's language, freighted with accusations of moral failure and generalised wickedness, I was reminded of an essay about risk by the anthropologist Mary Douglas. Douglas argued that in traditional ('primitive') societies misfortune was explained as an effect of sorcery and witchcraft; under Christianity it was understood as sin, though sin functioned in much the same way as witchcraft, as a means of allocating blame and protecting society from pollution. Now, according to Douglas, writing in the 1990s, risk-taking was replacing sin as the primary means by which modern societies apportioned blame. She was pointing out that despite the secular, rational and scientific aura that surrounds the concept of risk (think of all the effort put into measurement and management), it's still a way of reckoning individual culpability. The idea of risk does moral work in regulating the relationships between people and holding them accountable. This was one explanation of the language of iniquity the prosecution employed in the courtroom. FitzGibbon pointed out that the prosecutors weren't simply making an argument about what Marten and Gordon had done, they were trying to get the jury to 'hate' them and to regard them as 'monstrous'. They were guilty because they were monstrous. Behind all Little's talk of arrogant risk-taking lay the ghost of sin.
There were certainly moments when a fear of pollution seemed to seize the courtroom. This was the gamble Marten took by giving evidence (and that Gordon avoided during the first trial by choosing not to): would she be able to persuade the jury that she was not, as the prosecution implied, an unnatural mother, who had prioritised herself and her relationship with Gordon over her child? She didn't do badly: it was clear that she had wanted to care for her daughter, and she seemed successfully to ridicule the accusation that she had carried her around in a shopping bag while still alive. There were several people in the press pack, and I assume also in the jury, who baulked at the fact that Marten had not changed her daughter's nappy and cleaned her after she died. The bag where they kept Victoria's body held not only earth but sandwich wrappers. Could she not have given her dignity in death, we wondered?
But we felt differently when it came to judging the care of living babies. In the breaks from proceedings, we shared stories of losing our children in supermarkets, dropping our babies, shutting their fingers in car doors. As for co-sleeping, we'd all done it, men as well as women. We had all fallen asleep on armchairs and sofas and beds with a baby lying on top of us, or beside us, waiting to be rolled on, and we all knew it was risky but we had done it anyway. One mother recalled waking to find her week-old baby at the foot of the bed completely smothered by the duvet. None of us had slept in a tent with a newborn, but if co-sleeping was tantamount to gross negligence manslaughter then we were all technically guilty. We were lucky though: our children had survived.
The prosecution needed to show that Marten was determinedly, consistently negligent - a negligent character rather than someone who had fallen into negligent action 'by mistake'. They showed footage of her walking down the street with her baby awkwardly bundled under her coat, to prove how little care she was taking. During the retrial, I heard one of the prosecuting barristers sharing a joke with a group of police officers. They were rewatching the footage of Marten inside a kebab shop in East London, placing Victoria in the buggy that Gordon had just bought in Argos. 'Look at her,' he said. 'She's got absolutely no idea!' The officers giggled and sighed with a thrill of satisfaction.
It wasn't just the feckless parents on the press bench who felt that manslaughter by co-sleeping was a charge too far. In his directions to the jury, Judge Lucraft advised that mistakes, 'even very serious mistakes and errors of judgment', are 'nowhere near enough to amount to the commission of as serious a criminal offence as manslaughter'. In order for behaviour to pass the 'very high bar' set by the crime of gross negligence manslaughter it has to be 'so exceptionally bad' (the word was underlined by the judge) that it amounts to criminal behaviour, meriting punishment. This was the explanation for the hypothermia thesis advanced by the prosecution - they feared that the jury would conclude that making a mistake by co-sleeping was not so exceptionally bad that it deserved punishment by years in prison. But carrying a live baby around in a bag for weeks really was, on anyone's judgment, exceptionally bad. Or to put it another way, as Little did, repeatedly, 'the risks were obvious.'
One of the tricky aspects of using risk as a way of apportioning blame is that taking a risk depends on not knowing the future. If you know how your actions are going to turn out, then you aren't taking a chance. Risk depends on uncertainty. For risk-taking behaviour to be criminally wrong (culpable rather than simply precarious or uncertain), it requires that a reasonably prudent person would understand the harm that might result. It was for this reason that the prosecution kept emphasising the fact that the couple should have foreseen what would happen:
The defendants were repeatedly warned about their approach to parenting and baby care ... the parents had been warned that it was inappropriate to live in a tent, without access to proper warmth, accommodation and medical facilities. The risk to the child of serious physical harm was obvious, especially in the light of the vulnerability of the baby and previous warnings. The risk plainly existed, and the defendants must have been aware of it.

Perhaps concerned that the jury would reject the death-by-hypothermia thesis, the prosecution argued that, if Victoria did die of suffocation, the couple were still guilty because Marten had been told about the risks of co-sleeping. 'Anybody who has had a baby knows of the risk of smothering. It is why you do not sleep with a baby and these defendants had been warned about that.' The charge of gross negligence manslaughter needs this element of wilful risk-taking in order to prove a form of agency. In effect the temporality of risk-taking (which depends on an unforeseen future) is foreclosed by arguments that understand risk as morally culpable (because foreseeable) harm.
Throughout the long months of both trials, I found it hard to credit that this was really the basis of the prosecution's case. It all seemed so crude, and so arbitrary! All the effort spent on proving not only that the couple had been told a tent was a bad idea, but that the tent itself was substandard, like the sleeping bags and their clothes. In advance of the retrial, the prosecution commissioned a professor of environmental physiology to conduct a series of experiments into tent conditions, first placing two PhD students inside a tent in a climate-controlled laboratory, and then subjecting a heated mannequin holding a dummy baby to a series of environmental stresses. The professor produced graphs and graphs of data, and multiple figures and tables, at what must have been enormous cost to the public. The court glazed over during his evidence, barring one moment when FitzGibbon pointed out that although he was tasked with discovering the temperature next to the skin inside the coat of a breast-feeding woman, he had used a male mannequin, with no simulated breast tissue. Heated female mannequins are hard to come by, the professor said, and heated dummy babies impossible.
The tent warnings and tent temperatures seemed to me to be beside the point, and not only because the prosecution couldn't prove death by hypothermia. Marten and Gordon didn't pitch their tent on the South Downs in January because they failed to conduct a proper risk assessment of what might happen in the future, but because they knew what had happened in the past. Of course they were taking a risk. Everything they had done since deciding to have a baby in secret was predicated on what they might gain from keeping going. One takes a risk because one seeks something more important than certainty - in this case the freedom to be a family. Marten weighed the certainty that her baby would be taken into care against her hope that they might somehow find a way to stay together. Once that decision had been made, rationality, the capacity to compare one set of possible outcomes to another, disappeared. They behaved like people in the grip of a desperate compulsion. This must have made it extremely hard to admit, after their car caught fire, that they were not going to succeed.
Risk was also central to the accounts given by both Marten and Gordon, though they conceived of it differently. Gordon's explanation of what had happened - given in interviews after his arrest, before he knew the shape of the case against him - met the prosecution case head on. They couldn't have foreseen what would happen, he said. 'In retrospect,' he acknowledged, they should have given themselves up when the car caught fire. But, he added, 'nobody could have ever anticipated or looked into the glass and seen [Victoria's death] happening.' In Gordon's account, one disastrous occurrence led to another. He appeared to date the sequence back to the removal of the children in 2020-21, and the effect it had on Marten: 'She has actually experienced post-traumatic distress and she was in a situation where she was quite vulnerable and that led to, that led to things that were never predictable on either of our parts. And it's an unfortunate, sad, very sad thing.'
Under cross-examination, Marten said something similar: their plans had been scuppered by 'a series of unfortunate incidences'. But she did not see the car fire, or any of their subsequent difficulties, as the moment at which they should have stopped trying to outrun events. The prosecution's repeated displays of incredulity were wearying but on this occasion Joel Smith's performative astonishment seemed justified. 'You didn't think, maybe we need to look at the way we're behaving?' he asked. 'Can you see now that the decision to take your newborn child [into a tent in winter] was a very bad decision?' He wanted a yes or no answer, which Marten wasn't prepared to give, so he asked again and again: 'Can you see it was a very bad decision?'
Referring to the days after their car had caught fire, and the couple had lost their possessions, he asked: 'Do you accept that at that point you are not in a proper state to care for your child? ... Did none of this change your mind?' 'We weren't intending to live in a tent,' Marten said, which wasn't really a reply to the question. Her responses suggested that she didn't understand what was being put to her, or didn't want to understand. It was obvious she felt they'd had no option but to try to keep going, to keep figuring out what to do next - taxis, buggies, tents and the rest. The tent didn't feel like a choice, but their only chance.
Smith pressed on. 'Do you regret taking her into the tent?' he asked, but Marten responded only that she regretted falling asleep. By this point, Smith had become red in the face and was clearly angry. 'Do you regret it?' he asked again. He was determined to make her comply. Gordon's police interviews made clear that although he wanted to support his partner, he dearly wished they had accepted defeat long before they pitched their tent near Newhaven. But Marten was unwilling to go that far. 'I wish that she could have her life,' she said. But that was not the same as regretting what they did. For someone repeatedly accused of lying, she seemed unable to fabricate on this point - she refused to pretend to a regret she couldn't feel, even though it might have made her appear more sympathetic.
Gordon and Marten were on trial because they perceived different risks from those outlined by the prosecution, not because they perceived none. It was reasonable to inquire at what point their insistence on sticking to their plan became culpable. They could not have anticipated two transport breakdowns and the loss of their belongings. This put them at risk of arrest and of losing their child to social services, but arguably they had no reason at this stage to consider a risk to their baby's life. Was the conversation in the kebab shop, when they decided to buy a tent and travel to Newhaven, the turning point? Witnesses who saw them in the days following the car fire (taxi drivers, hotel managers) described a man keeping a low profile and a stressed, tired-looking woman. She had just given birth; she hadn't bargained for any of this. But it appears she never seriously contemplated giving up, and my guess is that she couldn't. So long as the two of them kept going, despite the risks, the future was not foreclosed. It was because there were still risks to take that there was a future at all. It was in the risk-taking that they were free.
Marten functioned  best, and perhaps only, in combat mode. This was obvious from her behaviour in the courtroom. She didn't let up. She complained about the conditions in the prison transport van, the unreasonable morning alarm (5.30 a.m. on court days, apparently), the length of time it took to be processed each morning and evening, the behaviour of the Serco guards, the alleged dishonesty of the deputy governor of Bronzefield prison (at one point she asked for an independent review into the prison), the behaviour of people in the adjoining cells, the tone the prosecutor took with her, the judge's decisions and, perhaps most of all, the conduct of her own defence team. She wrote furiously on a pad of lined paper, tearing off pages to send flurries of notes to her barrister; she raged, and occasionally shouted, when he didn't do what she wanted. The gossip in the first trial was that she had already dismissed eleven defence counsels and was now on her twelfth. That number crept up in the retrial when she dramatically sacked FitzGibbon while the court was in session. She trusted no one. She was paranoid, and she must have been terribly lonely. People scoffed at her sense of entitlement and she certainly didn't help herself by upbraiding absolutely everyone, but I think it is also true that she genuinely felt the system was weighted against her. She was convinced of the injustice done to her family, but she knew that other people, even if they were sometimes sympathetic, weren't convinced. How could she trust them to represent her faithfully?
She called out objections to proceedings from the dock, and when she was told off she made exasperated noises ('Huffing and puffing from the back of the court is not the way these proceedings are done,' the judge said, when the jury had left for the day). She was at her best in the witness box, where she was determined to reveal the truth as she saw it: that she and Gordon were victims of her family's refusal to accept their relationship and the injustices of the family courts. As she talked it became apparent that the harebrained schemes were all hers: it was Marten who came up with the idea of pretending to be 'Isabella O'Brien', who took the lead in the fight with social services, who made contact with support groups for people battling in the family courts, who planned to have the baby in secret, who dreamed up the escape to North Cyprus. She was powered by rage, and when it failed her, she was lost.
After Victoria's death, Marten's deliberating and planning abruptly stopped. She became, on her own account, incapable of making decisions, swamped by uncertainty: 'I wrapped her in a scarf and cradled her ... I didn't know what to do'; 'I've been carrying her around not knowing what to do really'; 'I decided to keep her because I knew at some point in the future I was going to be asked about it, but I just didn't know what to do.' Gordon suggested that they could use the petrol to build a pyre for themselves too. There was nothing left to live for.
The sense of freedom that had come with planning for a possible, better, future was extinguished long before they lost their physical freedom. By the time the first trial began, the couple had been in separate prisons for ten months (when the retrial started it was two years). Some days one or both of them would fail to turn up in court, having refused to leave their cells. I assumed that this nothing-left feeling must have overcome them in those moments. They had lost their five children: Marten's plan to bring up Victoria abroad while fighting for the return of her other children had backfired so disastrously that there was surely no hope of getting them back now. Why not just give up? Individually, the people I talked to in court spoke of the sadness of the story. It was a year since the final series of events that led to Victoria's death had unfolded, and surely Marten was reliving the horror and grief of those weeks. Was it any wonder she was reluctant to relive them in court? But it seemed the idea of her sorrow was too hard for some people to bear. It was easier for them to distance themselves from it by implying that Marten's problem was too much indulgence rather than too much misery.
Her combative behaviour in the courtroom probably did her no favours with the jury, who might have preferred a tearful defendant expressing regret and repentance. And it certainly annoyed the prosecuting barristers, who increasingly spoke of her with derision when the jury (and the judge) were out of the room. She was too posh for her own good, too used to having her own way. I often thought it could have gone differently. The higher courts in England are constructed around privilege, and Marten came from the right background. She knew these public-school types from childhood and should have been able to fit in, to make her privilege work for her. But she seemed determined to sabotage her social advantage. She treated the barristers with disdain (including her own barristers). She refused to acknowledge that anyone had the right to judge her, which is a tricky position to take in a courtroom. The court fought back.
One morning she refused to get in the prison van because it was 'too cold' - the heating system was broken - and scornful jokes about silver spoons came thick and fast, until we heard that she wasn't the only prisoner to have refused. Either Bronzefield prison was home to several aristocrats, or the van really was too cold. And it was hard to see how this portrait of Marten as a pampered aristo, manipulating the system, could be reconciled with the image of her as a victim of coercive control, under the sway of a dangerous partner. It seemed to me that the only way she could get in the prison van at all was by persuading herself there was still something to fight for, some sliver of a future. She had substituted hope for rage, and only rage was keeping her alive.
Marten carried her rage around with her in a blue ring-binder, bulging with papers. Whenever she was brought up into the dock or went down to the cell for a ten-minute break the file went with her, clutched to her stomach for all the world, as the mothers on the press bench said, as though it were a baby. On first entering the witness box she crossed the courtroom holding the file and began nervously to shuffle the papers. When the judge told her she could lay it aside, she wouldn't be needing it, a look of panic crossed her face. These papers proved the monstrous behaviour of the state towards her and her partner, proved that their only option had been to hold out on their own.
There was no question in Marten's mind that the 'services' were to blame for the death of her daughter: the social workers and lawyers at the family court who had removed her children from her and who had in effect forced her and Gordon to take such desperate measures. But it wasn't only that she wanted people to know about it, she wanted something to be done about it. She described the removal of children from their parents as a money-making racket on a par with the Post Office scandal. She looked across from the witness box at the journalists on the press benches and asked whether there were any 'worth their salt' prepared to investigate the private companies profiting from children in care. She was still fighting the family court battle, and the dreadful suspicion in the courtroom was that she had not yet realised it was too late.
Only  certain facts from the family court judgment that led to the permanent removal of the couple's first four children could be discussed before the jury. In laying out the case, Tom Little argued that Marten and Gordon's behaviour had precedent. As the family court judgment would show, 'they acted in exactly the same dangerous and selfish way [when Victoria was born] as they had done before - except this time with fatal consequences.' The children had been removed, according to the judgment quoted by Little, not because they had suffered harm, but because of the 'risk of harm'. Judge Reardon's ruling followed a series of investigations and hearings that took place between November 2019 and January 2022. She found that the children were at risk on five points: their parents refused to access antenatal and perinatal healthcare; there had been an incident of domestic violence in November 2019, during which Marten had suffered serious injuries; the couple had evaded local authority investigations (and Marten had absconded to Ireland with the children in late 2019); Gordon's 'propensity to violence continued to pose an ongoing risk of harm to the children'; and they had put their own relationship above the interests of their children.
Judge Lucraft insisted that the Old Bailey was not a forum for relitigating the decision of the family court, and this was clearly a relief to both defence teams, who were worried about the way the couple would appear if more details of their previous behaviour were revealed to the jury. But this put Marten in a difficult position in the witness box. The jury had been told about an incident of domestic violence, which she denied, and the prosecution were taking every opportunity to suggest that the decision to remove the couple's other children was proof they couldn't be trusted. But for Marten the family court judgment was mitigation - it explained everything. All the actions she had taken since deciding to have a baby in secret in the spring of 2022 were driven by her conviction that the family court was corrupt and that her other children had been sacrificed to a punitive and deeply unfair system.
The incident mentioned in the family court judgment, which had involved social services in the family's life for the second time, was this: in November 2019, when Marten was three months pregnant with her third child, she fell from a first-floor window in the early hours of the morning, suffering a ruptured spleen and injured kidney. Marten claimed she had been trying to fix the TV aerial (there was a loose aerial at the window), but the neighbour who called the ambulance said he had been woken by screaming and on going to his window had seen Marten fall. When paramedics arrived, Gordon at first refused to allow them to attend her and then made the situation worse by barring the door to police or social workers in the days following the incident, rather than allowing them to see that the children were being looked after properly. This was particularly odd because if they had been allowed in then some of their fears might have been allayed. The same month, Gordon's 'offender manager' (his contact for the Sex Offender Register) paid a call and reported that 'he had seen the children in the home environment, and had no concerns. The home was warm and tidy.'
Over the course of the two-year investigation that followed, both Marten and Gordon declined to engage with assessments and refused the appointment of experts, on the grounds that the 'threshold criteria' required by the 1989 Children Act had not been met. The court had no right to intervene in the family, they said. Social workers characterised some of their decisions as harmful (such as their refusal to immunise their children or to take them for regular NHS health checks) while Marten insisted these were their decisions to make. The family court judgment records Marten and Gordon's repeated requests for adjournments and their failure to turn up to meetings. They sacked their lawyers, gave false information, came up with a variety of excuses (from toothache to car accidents to Covid) to explain their absences; they declined to give evidence and accused social workers of keeping inaccurate records. This was the same behaviour they exhibited in their manslaughter trials, and one has to wonder: hadn't they learned where this would lead? They lost every time, yet they kept on resisting and obstructing.
During Marten's cross-examination in the first trial, she explained that in their dealings with social services they were following the recommendations of a man called Ian Josephs, who is based in Monaco and who offers 'free legal advice [on] forced adoption, secret family courts, British social services or social workers'. Josephs propounds a number of Golden Rules, including the recommendation that parents should refuse to engage with child protection services and should not let social workers into their home. (He also recommends fleeing to Ireland in emergencies and to North Cyprus). This advice was entirely counterproductive. In the judge's opinion,
the parents were deliberately evading putting themselves in a position where they would be required to challenge the local authority's evidence, and ... they were also desperately anxious to avoid giving evidence themselves. In the end the mother did give evidence but refused to answer many of the questions put to her, including all questions relating to the more serious allegations made by the local authority. The father declined to give evidence at all.

Some aspects of their evasive behaviour were explicable, if ultimately self-defeating. They couldn't attend in-person hearings when Marten was pregnant because they wanted to keep the fact secret, hence the elaborate excuses and repeated requests for delays. Some of their decisions were more baffling. When their third child was born, Marten was offered a residential placement so that she could stay with her baby, but she refused on the grounds that 'she did not think that the various providers suggested were suitable,' a rationale the judge deemed not credible. Her baby was taken from her and placed in foster care. On the birth of her fourth child, she again declined a residential placement, and the child was fostered until a final ruling determined all four children should be adopted. Although I didn't understand her reasoning - wouldn't you do anything to stay with your child? - I have spoken to women with experience of residential placements who sympathised with Marten's decision. They described the placements as 'worse than prison', and 'factories for making judgments'. Marten had complied with residential placements in Wales, in 2017, after the birth of her first child. Perhaps she felt she couldn't go through that again.
One of the claims made by the local authority was that the couple's relationship was shaped by Gordon's coercive control over Marten. Judge Reardon wasn't convinced. The parents presented a 'united front', she said, and indeed it could be argued that Marten was the one in charge:
My impression during this hearing has been that it is the mother and not the father who has been the dominant personality within this couple, and certainly it is she who has taken the leading role in presenting their joint case. Repeatedly during the hearing, when trying to hear from the father, I would have to ask the mother to refrain from whispering instructions to him. When prevented from whispering, she would mouth the words to him to repeat. On one striking occasion I happened to ask the father rather than the mother about a car accident the parents alleged they had just been involved in. The father looked towards the mother for help, but she was a few feet away. I could hear her whispering but could not hear what she was saying and nor, it appeared, could the father. He froze and appeared unable to speak at all. In the end he simply said, in answer to my questions: 'I can't explain, I can't tell you.'

Marten's evidence in the first manslaughter trial shed some light on the couple's deep distrust of authority and their misguided attempts to outwit the system. After the older two children were placed in foster care, Marten and Gordon were granted regular visits. According to Marten, she noticed in late 2020 that the social worker's reports of these visits were inaccurate: she believed it wasn't being noted that one of the children was distressed and clung to her leg when it was time to leave. To fight the care order, Marten requested that the contact visits should happen in a centre with CCTV, so she could prove the children were unhappy at the foster home and wanted to be reunited with their parents. Her request was denied - no centres with CCTV were available, she was told. The couple responded by refusing to attend visits until a centre with CCTV was found. For three months at the end of 2020 and early 2021, they stood their ground. This refusal was later used against them in the family court as evidence that they were unreliable parents. Again, Marten was in combat mode, fighting a battle and losing the war. And her account wasn't the whole truth. There were many other occasions when they failed to turn up for visits. This 'lack of commitment and inconsistency' was causing their children emotional distress, Judge Reardon ruled. When they did spend time with their children, 'the quality of contact on the whole is excellent,' social workers reported, with 'abundant' evidence of 'both parents' ability to create a warm and comfortable environment for their children'. But too often they just didn't show up.
Behind the anger directed at social services was Marten's rage towards her family. When giving evidence she accused them of being 'bigoted' in their disapproval of her relationship with Gordon (they wanted, she said, to 'erase' his children from the family). She made what at first appeared to be outlandish claims, all of which were subsequently upheld: that both sides of her family had employed private detectives to follow her; that it was her father, rather than social services, who had initiated proceedings to make the children wards of court in 2019; that her family had stated they would look after the children but then changed their minds, leaving them to be adopted by strangers. ('That's one of the reasons I no longer speak to my parents,' she said in the retrial, 'because they were the ones who instigated them being removed from me. I begged them to come forward but they refused, they didn't want them in the "family line".') As the family court documents show, Marten's mother, Virginie de Selliers, did offer to take the older two children shortly before the final hearing, but over the weekend changed her mind and proposed instead that 'if the parents were to separate, the maternal family would be available to support the mother practically, emotionally and financially.' Marten also claimed that one of the children was physically abused by a foster carer, an accusation that was confirmed by the prosecution during the course of the first trial.
I was initially puzzled to see that on most mornings during the first trial, de Selliers sat not in the public gallery, where the relatives of defendants usually follow proceedings, but in the well of the court where the victim's relatives sit. Occasionally she was accompanied by one of her sons. The triangulation of relationships was tricky to work out. De Selliers was there as the family of her deceased granddaughter - the victim. But her daughter was on trial alongside the man de Selliers blamed for everything that had happened, and her daughter refused to look at her. Not once did Marten turn her head in her mother's direction. Given everything else she had to think about during the trial, this was a determined feat. She was letting her mother know, in public, that she wasn't going to forgive her, that she would never acknowledge her. In an odd twist of courtroom dynamics, both Marten and her mother were classified as bad mothers who did not care sufficiently for their children. They were both in the dock for their failures, but only Marten was on trial.
If Marten had seen her mother's appeal in February 2023 - 'I want to help you and my grandchild' - the phrase 'my grandchild' must have rankled. It struck me as an oddly possessive choice of words to use, especially if you knew that your daughter was aware you hadn't taken in her other children. Did de Selliers not consider the four older children her grandchildren? But it's unlikely Marten saw or heard her mother's appeal. In the weeks after Victoria's death, as she told the court, she and Gordon were 'living like rats', hiding in the woods and rifling through bins for food.
What wasn't alluded to in the first trial, by Marten or anyone else, was Gordon's rape conviction. The judge had banned any mention of his past in front of the jury and in all reports of the trial. But if one knew about it, one couldn't help feeling some sympathy for Marten's mother. And it was hard not to imagine that at least some members of the jury remembered the sensational news coverage of it when the couple were on the run. In January 2024, Gordon's defence barristers applied to have the case dismissed on the grounds that a fair trial would be impossible given 'the extent and the adverse nature of the publicity' a year earlier. The judge refused the application, stating that people who knew about the story in any detail had been excluded from the juror pool and that the jury comprised twelve suitably uninformed members of the public. But Gordon's criminal convictions hovered just out of sight throughout the first trial, and they seriously undermined the second.
The story  of these convictions is shocking, and not only for the crimes themselves. Gordon was fourteen at the time and in the care of his 24-year-old brother in Broward County, Florida, while his mother was in New York. Sylvia Satchell was Jamaican but had lived most of her working life in England. Mark was her fifth and youngest child, conceived with a man who had another family while she was going through a divorce. Mark met his father only once, when he was seven, Satchell explained to a state defence attorney in January 1990. She also told the attorney that when Mark was four years old, he had been sexually abused by a male employee at his nursery in Birmingham. She was advised not to talk to him about the abuse, in the hope that he would forget about it. They lived for two years in New York, and had moved to Florida, where they had relatives, shortly before the crimes took place. Mark hadn't settled in school, Satchell said. He started skipping lessons; his room was a mess; he had no friends. She had asked for the school to arrange for him to see a counsellor, but nothing happened. Glenn Caddy, the forensic psychologist appointed by the Broward County public defender to evaluate Gordon at his sentencing hearing, reported that he spent all his time reading porn and watching the Playboy channel at home, while his brother - with whom he did not get on - was out at work.
At around 5.30 a.m. on 29 April 1989, Gordon broke into the house of a neighbour who lived alone with her two young children. He detained her for more than four hours, forcing her at knifepoint to have oral sex with him (he was a virgin and couldn't have the penetrative sex that was his apparent goal). Three weeks later, he broke into the house of another neighbour, armed with knives as well as a garden shovel, and entered the bedroom, waking a sleeping woman. She screamed and woke her husband, who fought with Gordon before he escaped out of a window. None of the neighbours identified Gordon, but following an anonymous phone call, detectives started visiting the house he shared with his brother. On the third visit, Gordon told them: 'I was in her house.' He was taken to the police station, where he made a taped confession. Many of the details in his confession didn't tally with the rape victim's account; he did not see a lawyer and he gave his statement without an adult present. He later said he believed he would be released if he confessed. A court-appointed psychologist reported his account of learning he was to be taken to a detention centre: 'I thought I was going home. And the guy at the desk said, not with these charges you aren't.'
In June 1989, Judge John Miller presided over a 'waiver' hearing to decide whether, given the seriousness of the charges, Gordon's case should be transferred ('waived') from the juvenile court to an adult court. A psychologist who interviewed Gordon recommended a residential programme in the juvenile system; he assessed him, the defence attorney reported, as 'not as mature as a normal 14-year-old'. The state attorney disagreed, attributing Gordon's dangerous maturity, in part, to his having lived in the Bronx and abroad: 'We have a child that is very difficult to call a child. This is someone that has lived in New York City, in the Bronx, for a couple of years, someone that's lived overseas, somebody that, although his mother describes him as not socialising much with people his own age - as being more of a loner - somehow he gets out of that house ... the community needs to be protected from this child.'
Miller ruled he was to be tried as an adult. Gordon was advised to plead guilty, although it is unclear how his defence thought this would benefit him. As his new attorney explained to the judge, 'the prosecutor and I have been unable to come up with what I feel is a reasonable plea offer so I'm just going to present what evidence I have at the sentencing hearing and let you make the decision.' Gordon was asked whether he understood the proceedings. Did he know that he did not have to plead guilty, that he could have a jury trial? Did he understand what a jury trial was? He answered yes. But he was also asked whether he had ever been treated for a mental illness, to which he answered seriously: 'Yeah, for like a cold.'
By the time of the sentencing hearing in March 1990, Gordon was fifteen and had spent ten months in detention. The defence psychologist described him at the hearing as a boy with a 'tunnel focus around his sexuality'. He was, he argued, not 'an immoral kid, or a sociopath', but a naive and embarrassed child who needed strong supervision. He was 'not a usual sexual offender' and 'at his age, most definitely he's salvageable.' He suggested a foster placement, but thought it possible he could be treated at home: 'If his family can in fact provide the sort of supervision that's necessary, then Mark is going to need some competent professional care surrounding the entire matter of his specific abhorrent approach to sexuality.' He was against incarceration: 'What we will be doing is creating a system wherein the chances of him being well integrated into society as an adult may not be terribly good.' This sanguine assessment was based on Gordon's account of the rape, which he seemed to understand as partly consensual. He had put down the weapons, he said, then he and the victim had lain on the bed talking; there was even a suggestion that he had invited her to stab him in a kind of game. Some hours into the ordeal she heard her children moving in the next-door room and asked to be allowed to go to them. According to her own account, she dressed and Gordon nodded in assent when she went to the door. He was apparently surprised that when she got outside the room she started screaming.
What the defence psychologist interpreted as the behaviour of a misguided and immature boy who 'simply misread the cues', the victim experienced as four hours of torment at the point of a knife. Because Gordon pleaded guilty, there was no trial and neither account was tested in court. The psychologist for the prosecution based his evidence on the testimony of the victim, whose account, he said, had all the marks of a 'sociopathic sadistic rape where the victim is subjected to torture and fear'. He insisted on describing Gordon as a sociopath, even though his role was only to describe the psychological effects on the victim: 'If we listen to some of the fear, we just see all that fits the definition of a sociopath.' And he argued that Gordon's 'sadistic manipulation of a victim' put him in a select category of violent sexual offenders: 'That's your Ted Bundys, your Wilders, that obviously enjoy it. So it's something that actually fuels them. They are a progressive kind of rapist that would go, I expect, from just raping to raping and murdering.'
Ted Bundy was responsible for more than thirty murders; Christopher Wilder abducted twelve women and girls in 1984 and killed eight of them. The prosecution psychologist suggested not only that Gordon would do it again, but that there was no proof he hadn't done it before. In her statement, the victim asked the judge to 'show him no mercy', and he didn't. The 'predisposition report' recommended sentencing Gordon as a youthful offender, but the judge said he couldn't 'agree with that at all': 'The likelihood of reasonable rehabilitation if he is assigned to juvenile services and facilities in my opinion is nil.' He sentenced him to four terms of life imprisonment, to run concurrently, and a fifteen-year tariff for aggravated battery. Gordon's mother couldn't comprehend it: 'What ... you are sending a 15-year-old for life? Is that what you are saying?'
One of the  striking things about all this gathered material is that Gordon almost never speaks. He is spoken for by the police, his mother, the psychologists and the lawyers, and he occasionally answers a direct question from a judge. But he is so silent that it is easy to forget he was in the courtroom during the hearings. Two years after his sentencing, a defence attorney brought a 'motion to suppress confessions, admissions and statements'. Gordon argued that he had been intimidated and had confessed out of fear; he had signed the form waiving his juvenile rights because he felt he had no option. It seems that 1989 was the last time he said 'yes' to someone in a position of authority. His demeanour during the two Old Bailey trials was one of refusal. He had two methods of signalling his resistance. The first was to say nothing, and stare at the ceiling, as he did during the first trial. The second was to talk over people, repeating himself and rambling for what could seem like hours, as though he were trying to bore the opposition into submission. Neither strategy got him anywhere, and maybe that was the point. Barring about eleven years following his release and deportation, Gordon has spent nearly the whole of his adult life in prison. Neither silence nor talking can have been an effective method of resistance against a regime that required inmates to conform or be punished. In the courtroom, they were empty gestures of defiance.
Gordon was sentenced to life in an adult prison because two judges (at the waiver and the sentencing hearings) rejected the risk assessments of the psychologists who had met him and who argued he should be sentenced as a youthful offender to a residential rehabilitation centre. He was sentenced instead as 'a child that is very difficult to call a child', someone 'that fits the definition of a sociopath' and 'a progressive kind of rapist'. I don't have the figures that would allow me to state definitively that had he been a white 14-year-old things might have gone differently. But it is clear that the psychologist who feared he would struggle to reintegrate into society if he was incarcerated in an adult prison was right to worry. During the first trial, John Femi-Ola KC, Gordon's defence barrister, made a short but impassioned speech (in the absence of the jury) about the imperative to keep Gordon's history away from the court. For many people, and for the state, the offence of rape puts someone beyond the possibility of rehabilitation. The ongoing risk associated with sexual offences is codified in the Sexual Offences Act 2003, which required that Gordon give his details to the police whenever he stayed longer than seven days in an area. As the legal scholar Lucia Zedner has argued, this method of control creates 'shadow' forms of punishment for those judged to have a propensity towards crime. What, Femi-Ola asked the court, did this mean in practice? If you made a series of terrible errors at the age of fourteen, and paid for them with twenty years in jail, could you never have a child? Could you never be considered sufficiently responsible to be allowed a relationship?
For Marten, Gordon's history was one of victimisation. 'I am very protective over [him],' she said. 'I feel he gets blamed for everything.' Here class was relevant. Marten was not prepared to be treated as someone who could be told what she could and could not do. Little accused her of an 'upstairs-downstairs mentality'. The press gossip about her at the beginning of the trial, mean as it was, did get at something. Marten behaved as though she couldn't believe this was the way ordinary people were treated. She clutched her file of papers because she was convinced - and maybe still is - that explaining the situation would make people see things her way.
As Marten knew, women the world over have got into fights with their partners, have been hurt, have been enraged, and afterwards have forgiven them (or tolerated it) because life is complicated. I've done it, and though I might regret it for other reasons, I was not at risk of having my children removed because of it. Marten was in court because she could not accept the way the authorities treated people without status. Most people in her position - including the majority of those who come before the family courts - would not have the resources, or the self-belief, to fight.
The loss of Marten's five children stemmed, as she saw it, from structural injustice. Her husband was black and a convicted sex offender; he was always going to be in the wrong. Since nothing could redeem him in the eyes of the law, or her family, it was up to her to believe in him. 'Why won't she say the thing that will get her off?' a barrister unconnected with the trial asked me one day in the lunch queue at the Old Bailey. What he meant was, why doesn't she say she was forced into it? If she blamed Gordon, she might get off. But he was her cause as well as her partner. She was not going to betray him.
Gordon's failure to comply with child protection services (barring the door to social workers, refusing to answer questions, failing to turn up to meetings) required the officers assigned to the family to take further action. All their red lights were flashing, and he did nothing to reassure them. Their duty was to measure 'risk of harm' to the children, and Gordon's previous convictions meant the risk was already considered high. He was branded a character with 'a propensity to violence' and his failure to complete annual risk assessments didn't help. As a result, by default, he remained classified as high risk.
As the criminal justice theorist Nicola Lacey has argued, assumptions about bad character (once central to attributions of guilt) are 'enjoying a revival' in English and American ideas of criminal responsibility. We like to think that defendants are punished for what they have done, or attempted to do, not for who or what they are. Doubts about character have long formed part of predictive policing and offender profiling (Stop and Search, for example) - all covert and morally questionable forms of what the police call 'riskwork'. But recently, according to Lacey, ideas about character have crept back into the courts. They are at the heart of civil orders aimed at preventing harm, which, once breached, can result in a criminal conviction. She points to sex offender notification requirements, control orders 'on those suspected' of being terrorists, Asbos, travel restriction orders, Imprisonment for Public Protection orders, detention rules and the expanded admissibility of evidence of bad character (under the Criminal Justice Act 2003). In all these cases, defendants are liable to be punished on the basis of assumptions about character, rather than conduct (or intention).
Lacey attributes this shift in part to public pressure. She describes an electorate 'informed by a scientific culture which has made it optimistic about the power to control risk ... it is, hence, rather intolerant of it, and rather insistent on government efforts to control it.' One way to satisfy this insistence is to control 'risky' characters. But what was striking, particularly during the first trial, was the jury's reluctance to abandon notions of conduct and intention in their deliberations. Everyone attending the first trial agreed the jury was unusual, not least because of the number of questions they asked. The kinds of question, especially after they had retired, were notable too. These sometimes concerned matters of fact but more often they were about states of mind: 'What is the meaning of "intention"?' 'Can you define "wilfully"?' This was a jury that seemed to understand very well that the battle in the courtroom was between character and conduct, and they were trying to separate the two.
Relatively early in their deliberations the jury gave guilty verdicts on the two more minor charges facing the defendants: concealing the birth of a child and perverting the course of justice. But when it came to deciding on the charge of child cruelty, they ran into difficulties. From the questions they asked, it appeared they were trying to distinguish sustained and deliberate cruelty from haphazard, one-off behaviour. They weren't arguing about the facts but about what the facts relayed about human behaviour and the role of contingency. Does the behaviour need to be persistent, they asked? The judge told them it did not, that a single instance of neglectful behaviour was enough to warrant a guilty verdict on child cruelty. In effect, he took the question of intention out of it. If they were convinced that the couple had neglected their child on a single occasion, either by exposing her to the cold or falling asleep in a dangerous manner, that was enough to find them guilty of cruelty. When the jury came in to deliver their guilty verdict on that charge, it was clear that several of them had been crying. One juror mouthed 'sorry' to Marten in the dock.
They could get no further. In June 2024, the jury foreman announced to the judge that they were at an impasse. They could not agree on the charge of gross negligence manslaughter, and so the judge thanked them for their six months of hard work and discharged them back to their lives. A retrial, with a new jury, was scheduled for March this year, to decide on the final two charges: were Marten and Gordon guilty of manslaughter, or, failing that, of causing or allowing the death of a child? Or was Victoria's death an accident?
The tenor  of the second trial was wilder, less disciplined. For seasoned court observers this was remarkable in itself: the first trial had been mayhem; it was hard to imagine more chaos. But everyone was angrier. No one wanted to be back there again. The failure of the prosecution to convince a jury of the manslaughter charge might have given the Crown Prosecution Service pause. Was it in the public interest to attempt a retrial on the same charges? But rather than rethinking the charges, the prosecution came back with a slimmed-down case. They kept the two alternatives of death from hypothermia and death from co-sleeping, but this time placed much more emphasis on co-sleeping, arguing that Marten's exhaustion was in itself a form of negligence.
The defendants had spent another eight months in prison awaiting the retrial and it was clear their mental stamina had suffered. Marten in particular seemed unwilling to go through it all again. She complained of toothache so severe she couldn't attend court but refused treatment when it was offered. She yawned theatrically when being taken through her evidence by FitzGibbon, who she seemed now to believe was against her. She refused to continue giving evidence after one especially tetchy exchange under cross-examination, but not before an intervention that seems to have been designed to scupper the trial altogether, when she announced from the witness box that Gordon had a conviction for violent rape. No one reacted while the jury was present. Judge, barristers, journalists - everyone held their breath. FitzGibbon attempted to carry on as though nothing had been said. So she said it again: 'violent rape'.
Once the jury had been sent out, the courtroom erupted. Joel Smith accused Marten of 'a deliberate attempt to take a wrecking ball to this trial'. If so, she had miscalculated. The next day, the judge acceded to an application from Gordon's counsel to discharge the jury in his case, since a fair trial would now be impossible. Marten, who seemed to have been looking for an opportunity to show her displeasure, sacked her barristers (she later reappointed her junior counsel, Tom Godfrey, who became the lead barrister in her defence). Gordon, realising that he would have to wait another year to be tried on his own, called out from the dock that he couldn't cope: 'I can't handle it!' He begged for the trial to continue. 'Don't worry about the prejudice! ... You are a fair judge, I believe you will make this a fair trial!' Judge Lucraft, who had just decided Gordon could not get a fair trial, changed his mind and said he could. It was total chaos, but the situation was to grow even worse when Gordon sacked his barristers and chose to represent himself.
The judge had his head in his hands. He was barely able to control proceedings. Gordon was given a microphone so that he could be heard from behind the glass wall of the dock. He stood to speak and held the microphone up close, his delivery somewhere between that of a Southern preacher and a nervous person stumbling through a question at an academic conference. He complained about the lack of support he was given as a person conducting his own defence. He repeatedly asked for a copy of 'Archibald', though the judge pointed out that the latest edition of Archbold's guide to criminal law, which runs to three thousand pages, would not be much help to him. (Gordon was given print-outs of relevant pages, which he carefully folded and put in his trouser pockets.) He kept on asking for more time to study the law. When he was given another day, or a weekend, he asked again for more. At one point, the judge inquired whether he wanted three years to take a law degree, which expressed the frustration everyone in the courtroom felt. Would this ever end? Gordon spoke a lot about fairness and justice, and alternated between complaining (mainly when the jury was absent) that the process was 'unfair' or 'not fair' and offering rhetorical flourishes on the nature of truth and the laws of England. It was difficult to gauge whether his aim was to frustrate the legal process, or whether he had any aim at all:
This is not the correct format from Parliament [of a document prepared by the judge] . . . This language is not lawful ... It's not fair ... It's unfair ... I stand in truth and this is not lawful ... I'm in this courtroom and I'll say I came here for justice from our great king in his justice and compassion ... I plan to challenge this case. I ask the king in his mercy, and those who work for, him to help me.

I don't know what kind of education would have been available to Gordon as a 15-year-old in the US prison system. While Marten scribbled notes and consulted documents throughout both trials, Gordon never looked at the papers he carried in a bulging plastic bag. When he was given court documents, he folded them over and over and stashed them in his pockets or bag, but he clearly had no system. Now, as a litigant-in-person, the judge required him to write out his questions to witnesses and to his co-defendant in advance, so that he could check they were admissible; to provide a copy of the evidence he wanted to give in his own defence; and to submit for approval his closing statement to the jury. These were tasks of which he was barely capable. Initially he had the help of a solicitor, who typed the questions he dictated. But after some days she recused herself (we weren't told why) and he was on his own. He read slowly and found his own handwriting difficult to decipher - a task made no easier by the fact that he plainly needed reading glasses.
He peered closely at his pages of notes and kept getting lost. He continually harped on the culpability of the police for instigating the manhunt ('those are the ones we should be looking at'), even calling for a public inquiry. He rehashed in agonising detail the arguments about tents and temperatures and insisted that going onto the South Downs was not 'something that we chose to do out of our volition, it was more of a force situation ... For us it was a crisis of our baby being taken away from us ... The crisis happened upon us, we tried to mitigate the circumstances as much as we could.' Of the period after Victoria's death, he said:
We were in great distress ... I couldn't have anticipated that ... We've had four children, and she'd never have caused the death ... I didn't know how to manage the situation. I didn't feel like she was responsible in that it wasn't intended, and it wasn't predicted ... I think things happen sometimes ... If I could have predicted it, I would have done something ... How could I have foreseen that?

Whatever else, he didn't appear to be lying. And there were moments of real affection in his cross-examination of Marten - surely one of the most unusual scenes in the history of the Old Bailey - as they swapped between first and third person. 'Did your husband play with the children?' he asked. Marten laughed and replied: 'Yes, you did.'
Had Gordon limited his evidence to making the same points made by Marten a bit less skilfully, it might not have done him much good, but it would probably not have done him any harm either. But he began his address with a series of statements that were to cause a great deal of damage. He chose to begin his account by claiming that he had not had a deprived upbringing, which was odd since it hadn't been suggested he had. He said his mother was a nurse who had taught him empathy and compassion. On the press bench we scratched our heads over why he was offering this little titbit from his childhood. Marten's counsel had invited her to talk about her childhood, which she had described as rich in money and poor in affection ('There wasn't a lot of love'). Perhaps Gordon thought this was the way it was done. Perhaps it was a defensive, rhetorical claim of personal pride, his way of saying: 'Don't pity me.' It may have been a pre-emptive gesture: he had been sentenced to life as a 15-year-old in part because a psychologist had argued that he was a sociopath who must be locked up for the safety of others. Perhaps he was trying to show he wasn't a sociopath. But whatever the reason for the claim, it was a mistake (one that a barrister would have warned him against). When Gordon finished his evidence and the jury went out for a break, Tom Little immediately jumped up to argue that Gordon was misrepresenting his background, and therefore the details of his violent crimes could be placed before the jury as a corrective.
Gordon was dumbfounded. He called out from the dock in evident confusion that he did have empathy, he wasn't trying to big himself up, he never said he was perfect, he didn't say he didn't have any convictions, he was just trying to talk about his early childhood. He offered to get on the stand and tell the jury he took it all back, to say he didn't have empathy if they wanted him to. He didn't think the jury was really listening to him anyway, and he hadn't meant to suggest he was other than he was. Had he had access to the guidelines on bad character, he said: 'I would have informed myself, don't even go there Mark. I would have set parameters for myself.' And then he asked: 'How can you determine whether I have empathy or not? ... Every human being has empathy.' Gordon seemed to be implying that Little saw him as not fully human. Even though Gordon's mother wasn't in the courtroom, she too was in the dock. She couldn't have been a good mother (who taught her son empathy) because to have had a good mother and commit a violent crime throws into question everything we know about criminal behaviour.
As Gordon tried to reverse what he had said in the witness box, Little retaliated: 'That ship has sailed.' Later, it was: 'We have crossed the Rubicon.' Gordon had handed the prosecution an opportunity, and Little was going to take it. The judge ruled that the two American convictions, and a more recent conviction for assaulting police officers in Wales, could be adduced in 'limited' fashion. When Gordon returned to the witness box, he was defeated. 'I'm done,' he said. 'I'm not answering questions.' And the courtroom reached a new level of anarchy.
Gordon was completely out of his depth. While Marten refused to be spoken for by her counsel, Gordon was lost without someone to represent him. The prosecution argued that since there was going to be no cross-examination, they would bring oral (hearsay) evidence of the previous convictions, which they could do if Gordon agreed that he had been convicted. Gordon kept calling from the dock: 'I oppose, I oppose.' It was unclear if he was saying he didn't agree to having the convictions mentioned, or he didn't agree there were any. The judge accused him of 'antics' and spoke to him like a headmaster: 'This is not a game.' Through the whole of the ensuing discussion of legal rules and arguments, Gordon sat blankly. It was a game, but only if you knew how to play according to the rules. When asked by the judge if he had anything to say, he said simply: 'I don't understand.' Here's a flavour of a typical exchange:
Judge: Mr Gordon?
Gordon: Yes? ... I don't know what you mean ... I just received this [document] fifteen minutes ago. My solicitor has left me. I need more time.
Judge: You don't accept you were convicted in America?
Gordon: I oppose this application. I don't have a solicitor ...
Judge: At no time in these proceedings has there been any challenge to your conviction. This isn't law; this is fact.
Gordon: I can't talk about facts, I can only talk about now ... I'm opposing all of this stuff ... I need an opportunity to consult the law.

At this point, Marten's junior counsel attempted to cut through the disorder by suggesting that Gordon disputed not the fact of his rape conviction but the facts of the case. He quoted a statement by Gordon's offender manager, from August 2016, in which Gordon disputed that he was an active risk: 'He says he didn't commit the offences ... [he was] let down by legal reps [representatives].' But Gordon had lost the opportunity to challenge his history by declining to be cross-examined. Eventually the court moved on to his convictions for assaulting two police officers, offences to which Gordon had pleaded guilty:
Judge: Mr Gordon?
Gordon: What is it that you want from me? What do you want me to do?
Judge: Do you accept that you were convicted in the magistrate's court in Wales?
Gordon: I don't accept this ... I really need a break ... This is a bit much for me ... My solicitor walked out on me ... It's been a long day.
Judge: It's going to be even longer.
Gordon: I need a bit of assistance here. It's not an easy thing. It's ... I can't actually talk about these matters. I need a rest. I would like to come to back to this.
Judge: Do you accept that you pleaded guilty to various offences in Carmarthenshire?
Gordon: No.

These exchanges did not take place in front of the jury, but they were nonetheless a disaster for the defendants. First, the details of the two Florida convictions were read out to the jury. Then the prosecution called as a witness one of the police officers who had attended the hospital in Wales. Marten had been posing as 'Isabella O'Brien' and everyone in court had marvelled at her ability to maintain an Irish accent throughout labour. But Gordon had not gone to drama school. When he was taken into a side room in the hospital and asked for his name and date of birth, he wrote down 'James Amer, 31 April 1987' - whereupon the police officer pointed out that there were only thirty days in April. She told the jury that he began rocking back and forth on his chair and muttering to himself. Marten must have drilled him in what to say, and he knew he'd blown it. He made a dash for the door and as the officers grabbed him, he forced his way out and ran down the corridor towards the ward where Marten had given birth that day. He was overpowered in the corridor with the help of a new father who ran out of a ward to help. He was charged with two counts of assaulting a police officer, and in the family court papers this went down as proof of his propensity to violence under stress.
The jury  in the retrial did not take long to reach its verdicts, unanimously finding both defendants guilty of gross negligence manslaughter. The offence carries a maximum sentence of life imprisonment. Marten and Gordon will be sentenced in September. The jury had been a dutiful group, turning up on time each day for a trial that was scheduled to last eight weeks but went on for more than twice that. The first jury had deliberated for 72 hours and failed to agree, but I was not surprised by the speed and clarity of the second jury's verdict. The prosecution's case was tighter in the retrial, and the defendants were totally out of control. In effect, they refused the jurisdiction of the court, and the jury had no sympathy with that.
But I am still left feeling puzzled as to why the case was brought, and how it could possibly have been in the public interest. Was there an element of revenge on the part of the Crown Prosecution Service, a determination to put them in the stocks for all that run-around? In the end, the CPS got the result it wanted, at enormous cost, but it failed to get Marten and Gordon to accept the legitimacy of the court, or to acknowledge responsibility for what happened. Nobody learned anything. The case will not serve as a warning to others. Instead, the courtroom functioned as an arena in which the public (by which I mean not only the jury but the police, prosecution and other members of the panoply of justice for which the public has voted) could perform its horror at the behaviour of a deviant couple who had risked the life of their innocent child. The righteousness of the media coverage in the wake of the verdicts is testament to a wave of public revulsion against negligent, selfish parents. The verdicts allow us to feel virtuous about our attempts to keep everyone safe in a society that is, as Mary Douglas put it, 'almost ready to treat every death as chargeable to someone's account'. We feel shame about the ruthlessness of life for blameless children, and we want to know something is being done about it. But there is more than irony in the fact that it was in a public nursery that Gordon was abused as a child, and that one of the couple's children was physically abused in foster care. Victoria's death needed to become a crime for the public to feel safe in a vertiginously unsafe world. It took two trials, and a juggernaut of over-prosecution, to get that result.
In order to prove responsibility for the death of a baby on the South Downs in January 2023, each side unspooled a protracted history, though the prosecution case worked backwards from Victoria's death, while for Marten at least, events progressed forwards. Where the prosecution worked retroactively to determine blame, Marten saw her history, beginning with her parents' refusal to accept Gordon, as progressively exonerating her from responsibility. Perhaps she starts even further back, with Gordon's Florida convictions, or in her own childhood. She believes her hand was forced by illegal interventions and a long-drawn-out process of risk assessment whose validity she rejects. Nor does she accept the courts' right to judge her. She refuses any jurisdiction over her moral life, or what she calls her family's right to privacy, and it was this attitude the courtroom could not countenance.
Marten's analysis was structural, based on systemic factors rather than individual agency. She acknowledged she may have been the immediate cause of her daughter's death through falling asleep on her, but denied that she was the morally responsible agent. For the prosecution, the couple's responsibility for their daughter's death hinged on the fact that the risks were obvious. They should have known better, and they should have acted differently. It was as though the prosecution were functioning in a 19th-century novel, where the emphasis is on character, foresight and the value of learning from experience. Little was playing a role straight out of Dickens. Marten was supposed to take on a role like that of Hetty Sorrel in Adam Bede, who returns to the place where she has left her newborn baby hidden under leaves in the forest, is apprehended and learns to repent in prison. Or she could have chosen Tess of the d'Urbervilles. Blown about by fate, prevented from burying her illegitimate child in consecrated ground, Tess performs her baby's baptism herself and assembles a makeshift cross for her grave.
But Marten was in a Greek tragedy, where the outcome is determined by action, not character. By framing events in terms of compulsion, rather than rational choice, she was challenging the claim that risk-taking can be understood primarily in terms of moral responsibility and moral character. The jury was - implicitly - being asked to decide between incompatible narrative modes.
I don't mean to diminish the seriousness of the contest in the courtroom by likening it to a drama. The stakes were very high. And although the prosecution described Marten as a consummate actor, she was not good in every role. She would have played better with her audience had she made more of a display of her regret and her despair. It is tempting to think of her as a kind of Antigone. She was determined to defy the laws of the state in the name of kinship, though in her case defiance was embodied in her unburied child. She was using the power she had as a member of an elite to make a claim for belonging on behalf of those who could not: her partner and her children, but also - in her call for journalists to investigate what she called the scandal of forced adoptions - others who may have suffered at the hands of state power. Like many civic warriors (including Antigone), she didn't seem easy to get on with. She was arrogant and, like Gordon, 'difficult'. She put people's backs up, never more so than when she attempted to school the prosecution in cultural relativism: babies have been carried in slings for thousands of years, she told them; mothers everywhere sleep with their babies. As 'naturalists', she and Gordon were against medical intervention - a perspective that shaded into Covid scepticism, anti-vax beliefs and conspiracy theories of different kinds. There was an old-fashioned English Toryism about her stance, championing an alliance between the top and bottom strata of society against the bureaucratic mediocrity of the middle.
Her background was used against her by the prosecution (she 'has not had a deprived upbringing' - a portrait Gordon tried, disastrously, to match). Not only should she have known better but 'she could have turned to her family for help.' The Irish Traveller antics, the periods they spent living alongside unhoused communities in Wales and the plan to contact people smugglers were all evidence that Marten was merely playing with deprivation. But this was plainly untrue. By choosing to be with Gordon, she had thrown in her lot with people who were not counted full citizens.
Following his deportation to the UK, as a registered sex offender with a rape conviction, Gordon became politically illegible. He lived in the interstices of the state. The prosecution let slip that he had never paid tax in the UK and had never received benefits. In allying herself with Gordon, Marten lost her place in society. She was in flight from her natal family and was refused licence for her own. The state, in effect, insisted she remain childless so long as she stayed with Gordon, as did her family. The precarity and displacement the couple experienced began as a result of her disobedience to her family, but escalated to civil disobedience.
Marten was rich, clever, well educated, yet her liberty was circumscribed, first by private investigators, then by social services, and finally by the police. The couple's irregular status allied them with antisocial youth, persistent offenders, sexual offenders and suspected terrorists, all of whom occupy spaces at the margins of civil society. Indeed, their probationary status resembled that imposed on immigrants and asylum seekers. There was a certain logic, then, to the idea of seeking asylum in North Cyprus.
We don't need  to agree with Marten and Gordon's account of social services to question whether the CPS should have brought criminal charges against them. That question remains salient even if they did have their children rightfully removed by the family court. There's a case to be made that a mother who kills her child, whether intentionally or not, deserves compassion not punishment. But the way that Marten behaved was guaranteed to disallow sympathy. As for Gordon, there's a telling moment in the family court papers when Judge Reardon describes her regret that he couldn't learn from the past and move on. She's quoting a psychologist's assessment: 'Dr Redding's suggestion was that the father experiences strong feelings of shame which may obstruct his engagement. If that is right, then the father has missed a real opportunity within these proceedings, because shame is a powerful emotion that can act as a driver for change.'
We saw evidence of this in the manslaughter trials, during which Gordon became incapable of articulating his reasons for opposing discussion of his past. ('It's not an easy thing ... I can't actually talk about these matters.') Reardon's statement is annoyingly pious. Gordon was never 0ffered the possibility of rehabilitation in the juvenile system. It would have been better for everyone, of course, if he had been able to come to terms with his past and worked through his shame. He was disabled by disgrace and embarrassment and fear, and by the devastating burden of racialisation, and none of that did him any good in his interactions with authority. By contrast, what people couldn't stand about Marten was that she was so brazen. She gave a shameless performance. She was willing to acknowledge guilt, but not shame. I did it, but it wasn't my fault. There was no room for Antigone in the courtroom.
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At the Musee Carnavalet
'Le Paris d'Agnes Varda'
Jeremy Harding

1598 words[image: 'Couple dans une gare parisienne' (1959) by Agnes Varda] 'Couple dans une gare parisienne' (1959)




In  1959, the French monthly Realites ran a piece by Bernard Frank, a precocious novelist and former protege of Sartre, explaining that a lost generation of young bourgeois had found their bearings in existentialism. Post-occupation and post-Vichy, he argued, the model hero was an impoverished intellectual, the model heroine an affectless free-thinker, and the typical pairing was a relationship in which 'love' was conspicuously absent. Realites hired a promising photographer to illustrate the piece. Agnes Varda had just turned 31; she had held a photographer's union card for roughly ten years. In her compositions of young lovers in states of suspended affect - on the landing of a gloomy staircase, in the front seats of an open-top car or separated by the windshield of a stationary motorbike - the characters, played by actors, are uneasy and distracted. A couple in a railway station are shown in a tight embrace but remain somehow stranded in their own thoughts. Is one of them returning from a journey or are they saying goodbye? It may not matter. Vapour and smoke from a steam locomotive drift around them.
Le Paris d'Agnes Varda, de-ci, de-la, at the Musee Carnavalet (until 24 August), brings together more than 130 of her photographs and contact sheets, along with notes and jottings, several stills from her films, publicity posters and dozens of photos of Varda herself or her actors on location. Though the show concentrates on Paris there is a wealth of material, which gives an idea of the size of her archive: she travelled widely with two absentee stints in Los Angeles, the first in the late 1960s with her husband, Jacques Demy, the second from 1979 to 1981 during the pair's brief separation. But Paris was her working milieu for most of her life. She approached it at times like a canny native informant, at others like a child enchanted by a sprawling circus whose routines changed from one arrondissement to the next or season by season. Often she leaned on close acquaintances to divulge the rituals of the city. Her photographs of the young Vilar children - a resolute older sister and two small brothers - on their way to school after the long summer holiday appeared in Marie-France in 1951. Early morning sunlight floods the cobbles; the children are cheerful. Their father is the actor and theatre director Jean Vilar, brother-in-law of Varda's lover, Valentine Schlegel, a sculptor and ceramicist. Varda's eye for mises-en-scene was matched by her ability to requisition people she knew - and their children - as players.
She had been living in Paris since 1942 or early 1943, the year before the Liberation. In 1951, with help from her father, she bought part of a property in the 14th arrondissement on the rue Daguerre - named for the photographer Louis Daguerre. The premises, abandoned by Parisian craftsmen, was a set of rundown ateliers around a courtyard and a pair of shuttered shops fronting the road. She reconfigured the framemaker's shop and adjoining grocery store as comfortable living quarters plus darkroom. Within months of the purchase, she took in a family of Spanish refugees on the upper floor, which later became her studio. Schlegel moved in and used an oven across the way to fire her pieces. She left in 1957; Jacques Demy moved in the following year. By then Varda had a repertoire of characters to work with, including an Italian mother and daughter in an adjoining street with a window onto the courtyard. The ivy had been stripped from the walls; the worst of the debris had been carted away and her neighbours along with her friends (often artists and writers) took their roles in the courtyard, Varda's informal theatre. In her studio portraits, they are scrutinised like actors auditioning for fresh appearances.
Varda was born in Belgium in 1928; her father was Greek, her mother French. She was nearly twelve when her family fled the German advance in 1940 and ended up in the Mediterranean port of Sete, not far from Montpellier. As she continued tidying up in the rue Daguerre, her thoughts about a full-length feature circled back to Sete and La Pointe Courte, a fishing village on the lagoon. She began shooting in 1954, with no money to speak of and no firm sense of how things would turn out. La Pointe Courte was released to great acclaim in 1956. It's one of several extramural projects signalled briefly in this very Parisian show. A decade after its release, La Pointe Courte was hailed by the film critic Georges Sadoul as 'the first film' of the New Wave. It must have come as news to Varda that she was a member of the all-male club of directors, led by Francois Truffaut, Claude Chabrol, Jean-Luc Godard, Eric Rohmer and Jacques Rivette, all of whom were contributors to Cahiers du cinema, which was launched around the time she moved into the rue Daguerre.
Then, in the early 1960s, a new conversation emerged about French postwar cinema and with it a school known as the Left Bank group. Varda was one; Alain Resnais, Jacques Demy and Chris Marker were others; the naturalised French director William Klein - also a photographer - is sometimes included; so is Georges Franju, a documentary filmmaker whose first narrative feature was released in 1959. The core figures of the Left Bank group were more collaborative than the New Wave crew: Resnais and Marker worked together on an anti-colonialist short about African artefacts, Statues Also Die (1953); Resnais edited La Pointe Courte for Varda; Klein made an appearance in Marker's montage La Jetee (1962); all four joined forces for Loin du Vietnam, an anti-war film released in autumn 1967, weeks before the Tet offensive. Godard and Joris Ivens, the veteran cinematographer of the Spanish Civil War, were also enlisted. Varda's name appears in the credits but her contribution didn't make the cut. It was a short sequence, shot in Paris using half-demolished buildings around the city to evoke the effects of Rolling Thunder, the US bombing campaign in Vietnam that began in 1965. There is no trace of Varda's footage but the show at Carnavalet includes a set of intriguing location stills by her colleague Michele Laurent that hint at the ambition of the work.
The Left Bank directors were more eclectic than the New Wave cinema nerds, educated in the front rows of their local movie theatres. Did Left Bankers have more time for the contemporary literary scene than these obsessive theoreticians of cinema, as it's sometimes argued? For Resnais, there was the nouveau roman. For Varda, there was the compelling possibility that images in sequence were comparable to sentences in a passage of good prose. 'Photo-Ecriture', a section of the show at Carnavalet that tries to unpack her analogy, uses photographs taken in the mid-1950s of Varda's young niece decked out as an angel with a halo and a pair of white wings. In 'Un ange passe' - a subtle mix of picaresque and whimsy - bustling Tante Agnes deposits her niece in various locations around the city to great effect and captures the reactions of startled Parisians along the way. But the idea of images in series as 'ecriture' makes better sense in cinema than it does in still photography. In a piece for L'Ecran francais in 1948, the critic Alexandre Astruc predicted that cinema would 'gradually break free from the tyranny of what is visual ... to become a means of writing just as flexible and subtle as written language ... no longer a means of illustrating or presenting a scene, but a true act of writing. The filmmaker/author writes with his camera as a writer writes with his pen.' This appealed to New Wave and Left Bank alike. Varda had a word for it: 'The rhythm of filming and editing,' she said, is akin to 'the way a writer chooses ... adverbs, paragraphs, asides, chapters which advance the story or break its flow. In writing it's called style. In the cinema, style is cinecriture.' Like Marker, she was a consummate essayist. Even Sans toit ni loi (Vagabond), her box-office hit in 1985, feels like an essay about belonging and exclusion. Varda told Serge Daney that she had tried to deliver something 'rigorous' and 'absolute' - a piece of exposition. Years later, in an interview with Daniel Trilling for Sight and Sound, she confessed that she was wrong-footed by the film's success, which gave people 'unrealistic' expectations, though it didn't make raising money any easier.
Paris features in many of Varda's films, among them her TV documentary Daguerreotypes (1976), shot on the rue Daguerre; L'Une chante, l'autre pas (1977), her intimiste tribute to French feminism; and Les Glaneurs et la glaneuse (The Gleaners and I), an itinerant documentary from 2000 whose striking finale brings her home to the 14th arrondissement. But Cleo de 5 a 7, released in 1962, is the perfect showcase for the city and the centrepiece of the exhibition, which includes Cleo's itinerary across Paris from first scene to last - 48 locations in all - and superb photos taken during the shoot (though not by Varda). One of them captures Godard and Anna Karina pausing before they resume their roles in the little film that Cleo will watch to while away time before a meeting with her oncologist. Karina is having her hair adjusted by a make-up artist; both she and Godard are smoking. He is got up in shades, boater and bowtie, she is in white, just as they appear in the film within a film.
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Baseline Communism
Richard Seymour

4204 wordsWhen  David Graeber left academia in 2005, he had no intention of going back. His contract had been cancelled by Yale, supposedly after colleagues objected to his tardiness - though he suspected the real reason was that he had stood up for a student organiser whom the authorities wanted rid of. One of the brightest anthropologists of his generation, he scorned his peers on the way out. 'I'm both more productive intellectually than they are, and I'm having more fun. It must drive them crazy.'
This barb suggests a thick-skinned arrogance that hardly matched the intense, hunched, broken-toothed, clever, boyish, utterly genuine figure Graeber cut in person. Still, he does seem to have had most fun as an outsider, a movement anthropologist wending his way among anticapitalist militants, or sitting in on horizontalist spokescouncils, arguing and taking field notes. He would arrive with his notepad, ready to scribble pages of 'thick description'. Then, like Keats's naughty boy, he stood in his shoes, and he wondered. Why this action or that classification and not another? He would discover, for instance, that activists are limited by categorical oppositions - production v. reproduction, or selfishness v. altruism, or values v. bread-and-butter concerns - that are internal to the society they oppose. Or he would puzzle over why the police were waging a vendetta against the giant papier-mache puppets used by anticapitalists, smashing them to bits before demonstrations. From such seemingly trivial details, he teased out the tacit rules of engagement between activists and police.
In Fragments of an Anarchist Anthropology (2004) - a manifesto for his method, in which Graeber attributes the 'strange affinity' between anarchism and anthropology to the anthropologist's 'keen awareness of the very range of human possibilities' - he describes the 'non-vanguardist' intellectual contribution to struggle: observe, decipher 'the hidden symbolic, moral or pragmatic logics that underlie [people's] actions' and 'offer those ideas back ... as gifts'. This is strikingly reminiscent of the communist's role, per Marx, as someone who shows 'the world what it is really fighting for'. And indeed, Graeber described himself at one point as a 'libertarian, practice-oriented Marxist'. There was 'no necessary contradiction' between Marxism and anarchism, he said, since the former was 'about theory' and the latter the 'ethics of practice'. Or, more pointedly: 'The Marxists can tell us why the economic crisis happened ... the anarchists can decide what to do about it.'
Graeber was lured back into teaching soon enough. He moved to London in 2007, taking posts at Goldsmiths and then the London School of Economics. An avalanche of publications followed, though some of his most important work has attracted little attention compared with his later blockbusters. Towards an Anthropological Theory of Value (2001) is a cross-cultural revision of value theory which characteristically draws on but also stretches Marxist categories in order to move beyond theories of value internal to capitalism based on such quantities as labour-time or utility. Building on Marcel Mauss's description of gift economies, Graeber argues for a labour theory of value that defines labour 'much more broadly than almost anyone working in the Marxist tradition ever has': since labour is an act of self-realisation, however alienated under capitalism, individuals are evaluated on the basis of their actions. What is of value in any society, whatever the mode of production, will be judged according to the imaginative and ethical principles guiding communal life.
Graeber's doctoral fieldwork among the Malagasy in the rural community of Betafo, Madagascar, conducted in the early 1990s under Marshall Sahlins's supervision, was eventually published as Lost People (2007) and explored manifestations of historical trauma among descendants of slaves and slaveholders. It is difficult to overstate how formative this was for Graeber's politics. Here was a place where people were still haunted by history, disempowered and poor. Yet, as he observed in Fragments of an Anarchist Anthropology, these rural people had withdrawn from the state and gone about their lives, and the sky hadn't fallen in. They were still, at least in potentia, historical actors. Lost People is also exemplary of Graeber's idiosyncratic way of theorising: the book is an opulently observed micro-ethnography, on the basis of which he makes sweeping theoretical claims. He treats magic and ritual as ordinary contemporary facts that suffuse systems of law, exchange and bureaucracy. On Kings (2017), written with Sahlins, takes a similar approach, interpreting kingship as a system of cosmological beliefs, ritual obligation and kinship structures that imposes moral and spiritual imperatives on king-ruled communities. The essays in The Utopia of Rules (2015) examine a supposedly disenchanted modernity to discover its hidden fetishes, taboos and magical thinking.
What made Graeber's name, however, was his work as a participant-theorist, first in the anticapitalist movement and then in Occupy. Direct Action: An Ethnography (2009) is half thick description, in diary format, of a movement, its tactical dilemmas and above all its deliberative ethos of consensus decision-making, and half meditation on the nature of anarchism and its practical ethics. Direct action embodies the anarchist ethos: not a 'cataclysmic seizure of power' but a 'continual creation and elaboration of new institutions' and 'non-alienating' relations. Far from requiring a totalising transformation, anarchy is always a possibility latent in the present.
The Occupy movement, whose slogan 'We are the 99 per cent' is often credited to Graeber, sprang up shortly after the publication of Debt: The First Five Thousand Years (2011) and inspired The Democracy Project (2013). Debt, Graeber's most ambitious work up to that point, is a revisionist history of exchange systems which argues that debt preceded both barter and money as a structure of violence. There was 'no better way', he wrote, 'to justify relations founded on violence ... than by reframing them in the language of debt'. If debt is a language of violence, the tradition of a debt jubilee is a vital means of averting social disaster. The Democracy Project, written in the afterglow of the spread of Occupy camps across the United States, Europe, South America, Africa, East Asia and the Middle East, when the horizons of possibility still seemed wide open, was a story of success. Focused on the US, it asks why the movement wasn't immediately shut down by police, and how it was able to break through the usual media omerta on substantial coverage of radical politics and liberate the anarchic democracy latent in American life. More than a decade later, the legatees of the Tea Party are now setting the agenda through a series of domestic and global conflagrations, while the descendants of Occupy are once more consigned to the fringes.
The Dawn of Everything (2021), arguably Graeber's most important work, wasn't published until after his death from pancreatitis in September 2020. It is in this book, co-written with the archaeologist David Wengrow, that Graeber emerges most clearly as, in Ayca Cubukcu's phrase, an anthropologist of human possibilities. Always hostile to evolutionist theories of history, whether Hegelian or Darwinian, Graeber upends the familiar history of the species in which primitive societies were egalitarian and the agricultural revolution brought a new order of class and domination. He wanted to show that life wasn't really like that: there were always multiple, contending possibilities. Stories of a human fall from Edenic bliss 'simply aren't true; have dire political implications; make the past needlessly dull'. This is, you might think, dubious on all three counts, and only works at all if the purview is limited to the last thirty thousand years. But the point, as Graeber and Wengrow stress, is to move 'the dial a bit further to the left than usual', to explore the possibility that 'human beings have more collective say over their own destiny than we ordinarily assume.'
The Ultimate Hidden Truth of the World, edited and introduced by Graeber's widow, Nika Dubrovsky, attempts to convey the breadth and flavour of his thought by selecting essays, articles and interviews from across his career, most of them already available on his website. The quality of the material is decidedly uneven, some of it (the debate with Thomas Piketty on debt, for instance) barely scratching the surface, some of it (the essay 'On the Phenomenology of Giant Puppets') incomparably rich. A method is implied in the title, which alludes to Graeber's conviction that the 'ultimate hidden truth of the world is that it is something that we make, and could just as easily make differently'. Wherever he encounters what seems to be a structural limit to human freedom, he inquires into its history and class basis. In his critique of economics, as in his philippic against 'bullshit jobs', he stresses the political decisions involved in what appear to be basic economic realities. Whatever Graeber is writing about, however recondite his research, whether it is the history of democracy or the relationship between slavery and debt, he is usually trying to solve a problem in the present or to expose its latent potential.
The Ultimate Hidden Truth of the World begins with a long and ambitious critique of 'the West', which gives an extended commentary on Samuel Huntington and civilisational discourse before revealing its true purpose: a defence of consensus decision-making. For Graeber, the model of democracy acquired from an idealised fifth-century BC Athens depends on being able to force minorities to abide by decisions they detest. Societies far more egalitarian than that of ancient Greece, and lacking a coercive capacity, tend to rely on reaching consensus. The familiar objection to this approach, that it replaces the problems of majority rule with the problems of minority rule, may be correct but misses the point, which is ethical not operational: people, born free, shouldn't have to abide by decisions that affect them but to which they do not consent. Non-coercive social relations must be prefiguratively and painstakingly built in the present, not deferred to the endlessly receding time 'after the revolution'. And while it's true, as Graeber acknowledges in The Utopia of Rules, that consensus groups can also lend themselves to moral coercion and clique formation, why would the answer be to formalise cliques and coercion constitutionally in the form of elected leaderships?
The cliched response to all this would be that consensus is a lovely, fluffy idea in principle, but entirely unrealistic in practice. In fact, its precepts are perfectly reasonable, and there is nothing prefigurative about it. Based on the anthropological evidence that Graeber sets out, consensus is an excellent way for small, face-to-face groups to sublate their differences. But beyond that, in my view, it is a disastrous idea. Why should groups of people who want different and opposing things be compelled to agree? Why should minorities, who may be hostile to the goals of the group, wield a veto? Why should the decision-making process favour a handful of activists with a lot of free time who spend much of their lives arguing over politics? And what of exigency? Notoriously, several camps in Occupy were sandbagged by obsessive, circular discussion of their own processes. One struggles to imagine this model being effective in the context, say, of industrial action. As for the future, unless humanity devolves into a set of small egalitarian communities, it's unclear why consensus should be considered anything other than a specialised, pragmatic option for very tightly knit communities.
Graeber's  argument is based, however, on a more fundamental and challenging idea. From Mauss and Pierre Clastres, he draws the insight that counterpower isn't just something realised in special circumstances, when self-governing institutions face off against the state, but a 'dialectical possibility' in daily life. All societies maintain what, in Debt, he calls 'baseline communism': a free, non-commodified mutuality without which no society can exist. Baseline communism happens wherever 'no accounts are taken' and it would be 'offensive, or simply bizarre', even to consider taking them: giving a stranger directions, buying someone a pint, offering food to a guest, or fixing a friend's car. Graeber finds this 'raw material of sociality' everywhere, usually working alongside more hierarchical and contractual relations.
'Baseline communism' is suggestive, like so many of Graeber's formulations, of untold possibility in the present. But sometimes the formulations are less satisfying, even patronising. 'Anarchism is just the way people act when they are free to do as they choose,' he writes in one essay, 'and when they deal with others who are equally free.' Just like your local bowling club or credit union. From this point of view, freedom and coercion are among the myriad possibilities in any society regardless of its historical situation, and it is the job of anarchists to back the libertarian and egalitarian streak in everyday life. The challenge of building the future in the interstices of the present is not successfully answered by rehearsing the flaws of prefiguration. It is interesting, in this regard, that The Ultimate Hidden Truth of the World does not include Graeber's coverage of the Kurdish Rojava experiment, a bold effort to realise Murray Bookchin's 'social ecology' in a fragile space created by state collapse, civil war and funds from trade in black market oil. In the most unpromising of circumstances, Kurdish revolutionaries built a 'stateless' enclave based on communes, but it's debatable whether this would have been possible without the implosion of the Syrian dictatorship.
The next section of the book, 'Against Economics', spins off the research for Debt. Far from being against economics as such - Graeber draws a great deal on heterodox economists - its foil is the Quantity Theory of Money (QTM), the idea that money should be regarded as a physical commodity, not a social convention, and that prices rise and fall with the amount of money in circulation. He traces this way of thinking to the 16th-century French jurist Jean Bodin, who blamed inflation on the glut of gold and silver reaching the Continent from the Spanish colonies. In fact, Graeber says, most of that loot didn't get to Europe at all but was reinvested in other colonies and markets. QTM always 'seems self-evident, but only if you leave most of the critical factors out'. In Debt, Graeber links this fetishistic notion of money to 'the Myth of Barter', which originated with Adam Smith and held that money arose from spot-barter transactions in moneyless societies. Graeber argues that the anthropological evidence in fact suggests that money first came about in places like Mesopotamia, not as a unit of exchange in the market but a unit of account in the palaces. In an argument overlapping with Modern Monetary Theory, he argues that money may in some circumstances take the form of a tangible material like gold, but is in its essence a form of debt. The 'feeling that bullion actually is money tends to mark periods of generalised violence, mass slavery and predatory standing armies': a thought worth bearing in mind given the pervasive goldbugging on the contemporary far right, as documented recently by Quinn Slobodian in Hayek's Bastards.*
In 'Against Economics', Graeber develops the argument as a counterpoint to austerity, with its derisive attitude to 'magic money trees'. The banks, he argues, are indeed magic money trees. As the Bank of England felt compelled to explain in 2014, banks create money by making loans. Government borrowing doesn't 'divert funds from the private sector', as Graeber puts it, but creates 'entirely new money'. Frugality is a political choice, reflecting the preferences of small-state, pro-creditor factions in political life. Does this dial a little too far to the left? It is true enough that governments can create money by borrowing, and that printing money might make good, countercyclical sense in a deflationary period when credit is cheap. This possibility underpinned the project of the Corbyn-led Labour Party, which Graeber strongly supported. But the post-Covid era of inflation and rising borrowing costs has brought that era to a close: no state could now fund ambitious spending projects without taxing concentrations of wealth. The result, given the left's retreat, is a flaccid, authoritarian centrism embedded in the logic of austerity.
The collection turns next to Graeber's fascination with bureaucracy, its occulted functions and moral satisfactions. The salient contribution here is Graeber's essay for STRIKE! magazine on 'bullshit jobs' - occupations so soul-crushing and worthless that even the people in them are aware of it - which evolved into a bestselling book published in 2018. (Graeber's one-time partner Erica Lagalisse has said he joked that Bullshit Jobs was his 'sell-out' book - the advance he got from Simon & Schuster was enough to buy a house, though in the event he remained a renter. As a reader, this might be something to rue; as a writer, it fills me with optimism.) Keynes predicted that advanced societies would work fifteen-hour weeks. 'In technological terms,' Graeber says, 'we are quite capable of this. And yet it didn't happen.' As a corollary, he wonders why useful labour is so undervalued and useless labour so heavily remunerated. Is capitalism doing something supposedly foreclosed by the profit motive? Is it keeping millions busy with pointless and unprofitable occupations that largely service 'managerial feudalism'? This isn't Graeber at his absolute best - he's relying on an intuitive interpretation of anecdotal evidence - but as ever he produces, offhand, some luminous axioms. People 'find a sense of dignity and self-worth in their jobs', he says, precisely 'because they hate them'. So deeply has the capitalist work ethic saturated contemporary life that to have a job that was satisfying would seem almost frivolous. But the analysis is empirically weak in relying on polling evidence to suggest that a third of workers feel their job is of little value: more detailed research suggests the figure is closer to 5 per cent. And his reading elides the ways in which socially irrational allocations might be rational for companies or bureaucracies.
Better by far are the essays 'Dead Zones of the Imagination' and 'On the Phenomenology of Giant Puppets'. The first studies the 'boring, humdrum, yet omnipresent forms of structural violence' which, because they lack symbolic 'density', don't tend to attract the attention of anthropologists. What Graeber has in mind in particular is everyday encounters with bureaucracy, and his own experience of struggling to arrange Medicaid for his mother after she had a series of strokes. Any institution, he writes, involved in the 'allocation of resources within a system of property rights regulated and guaranteed by governments ... ultimately rests on the threat of force'. Violence is useful in such a system because it 'may well be the only form of human action by which it is possible to have relatively predictable effects on the actions of a person about whom you understand nothing'. Bureaucracy is an 'area of violent simplification'. And yet, as he also argues in The Utopia of Rules, it is not without 'a kind of covert appeal', since the pleasure we take in complaining about red tape implies that if only it were perfected it could deliver the 'fairness' it seems to promise.
In the second of these essays, originally published in 2007, Graeber reverts to his role as participant-theorist to consider the secret rules governing the dynamic between anticapitalist activists and the police in the US. 'Cops hate puppets,' he observes, discussing their habit of seizing and destroying giant papier-mache puppets before protests. 'Activists are puzzled as to why.' Graeber detects an answer in the way the puppets, made from salvaged trash and worn as garish, outsized costumes, are put to work during direct actions. Police, he writes, are 'bureaucrats with guns', and the surest way to prov0ke violence is to 'challenge their right to define the situation'. That was the role of the puppets. Just as a conventional stand-off was developing, the puppets would trundle through police lines and upset the co-ordinates. Graeber engages in a sustained reflection on the various political and ideological conditions which might lead the police, trained to believe they protect the innocent, to become violent towards protesters whose concerns may not seem personally unreasonable to them - a critical problem, because when governments are toppled 'it is usually at the point when the police refuse' to fire on protesters.
Apersistent challenge  to anarchism is that it can't work because human nature 'isn't like that'. People are too selfish. Graeber responds by casting doubt on the idea that human nature is so simple. 'Neither egoism nor altruism are natural urges,' he writes in 'Army of Altruists'. They are 'ideas we have about human nature', and the opposition between egoism and altruism is itself inconceivable without the market and its imperative of competition. The job of the left is to undo that opposition, so that pragmatic, self-interested action is also collective, other-interested action - as in mutual aid. This doesn't stop Graeber looking for signs of altruism where it is least expected. He finds it lurking, improbably, in the US army, whose outreach programmes at overseas military bases had soldiers repairing schoolrooms, offering free dental check-ups and the like. The programmes were kept up not because of their success in improving local relations but because of their 'enormous psychological impact on the soldiers', who would 'wax euphoric' about them: 'This is why I joined the army.' Elsewhere, he speculates that a perverse source of austerity's ideological appeal is that working-class people care too much. It is a 'universal sociological law' that the poor are more giving than the rich, and that those at the bottom of any unequal arrangement 'think about, and therefore care about, those on top more than those on top think about, or care about, them'. And if 'caring for one's community' once meant 'fighting for the working class itself', in the era of austerity, during which the majority were stripped of any form of collective belonging other than the nation-state, caring could mean a stoical acceptance of belt-tightening for the good of the country. The wrinkle in this picture is that the most popular austerity measures were often the most sadistic. In the UK, for instance, there was greater public support for reductions in benefits than other cuts. It's easy to support 'sacrifices' at someone else's expense. But this is exactly the point: human motives are rarely simple, and we learn more from articulating the contradictions than we do from simple moralising.
Graeber is at his most speculative, and engaging, as a theorist-practitioner of fun. Elaborating the political ethics of play and care, in the final part of the collection, he takes up a version of the question he once posed in an introduction to Kropotkin's Mutual Aid: 'If all you can imagine is what you claim to stand against, then in what sense do you actually stand against it?' In an essay titled 'What's the Point if We Can't Have Fun?', on the 'intellectual scandal' of animal play (actually a growing topic of ethological concern, as seen in the works of Gordon Burghardt and Marc Bekoff), he notes that evolutionary psychologists have created a minor cottage industry explaining why, for example, 'sex is fun.' What they can't explain 'is why fun is fun'.
A large body of work will inevitably include some mistakes and conceptual sloppiness, and over the years Graeber supplied plenty of ammunition to his critics. In Debt, for example, he appears to confuse the economist Carl Menger with his son, the mathematician Karl Menger. In The Dawn of Everything, Graeber and Wengrow mistakenly describe Rousseau as one of a class of men who 'spent their lives having all their needs attended to by servants', even though Rousseau had himself been a domestic servant. In his essay 'Turning Modes of Production Inside Out', Graeber mangles a line from Marx's The Poverty of Philosophy and attributes it to A Contribution to the Critique of Political Economy. In the same essay, he startlingly claims that Marxists have 'largely abandoned' the concept of 'mode of production' - which would be a shock to most Marxists. Errors of this sort suggest that Graeber was at times only half attending to his sources. Still, there is always a tension between innovation and rigour, and Graeber was nothing if not inventive.
Unlike the work of most academics, Graeber's theoretical innovations bore immediate political fruit. In the spring of 2011, in the anticlimax of the UK's student movement, I was on a panel at the ICA delivering what I thought was a glib, rather worthy talk on the art of democratic self-government. After I had finished, I sat for a moment, flustered and uncomfortable. Soon, a slightly wayward, randomly dressed man from the audience bounded to the desk. 'That was great,' he said. He seemed as unready to make eye contact as I was, and his teeth - his 'godforsaken working-class teeth', as Lagalisse put it - were as ruined as mine. Recognising him, my spirits lifted. Had I, inadvertently, said something novel? No, I had merely alighted on some of what he had been chewing over for decades. Debt came out soon afterwards, and quickly went through several reprints. Within months, he was at the heart of an occupation that would trigger a worldwide social movement, whose consequences are still working themselves out today.
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Poem
Jorie Graham
Then the Fog

694 wordsfilled the fields. The way forward filled with the way
back. Are those humans out there or
just hollows filled with mercury & ash.
When it comes into view the mountain is cleaved open.
The silver is picked out.
Thousands of them with their instruments up against the face of
the rock. Their bodies break & they are replaced.
Is it BC or AD. The years break & they are
replaced. The event organiser imagines himself a vision seeker.
He says their flesh must be useful.
It is a sacred gift.
No point in wasting it.
They will learn to give it willingly.
That becomes policy.
Becomes theology.
For a time it is almost law.
Then for a time it is God's law.
The priests observe the men from the heights of the earth,
they look down into the depths,
they conclude it is not hell,
it is a system of production.
We go on.
We do not turn back.
The world becomes so small we can fit it into a handshake,
into a glance cast across the room,
a finger raised to the lips.
Everyone's fingers are crossed behind their backs.
History welcomes us with open arms.
It fans out dead ends in all the directions.
Here, it says, here is knowledge of the world for you -
don't rattle your teeth that way,
don't lift your hands from sifting the dirt,
don't finger the barbed wire - it is the only music we get - that
thrumming all along its miles,
sometimes a bit of lightning like prophecy
& a shock fleeing the wire into our hands, into our hearts.
Are you a crown of thorns I wonder
when the bolt jumps the wire.
I think I saw a crown around here somewhere
& beneath it an open mouth a screaming an unintentional
nakedness.
It's not even the third act, says history,
listening for the expected sobs,
the wind or is it the wound suggesting sighs of relief.
To break the spell.
To crack the heat.
We can hope for a change of scenery can we not, or a change of over-
seer, a shift in the packaging, in the narrative bloom -
at least the props -
maybe not gold & diamonds this time -
maybe not oil
blood-drenched and inexact -
maybe the elevators can stop ferrying us down for a while
& we can be placed in front of these screens.
We still have at least for now attachment to place.
Time we gave up, time we traded in for
this instant, this one right here in these syllables
though nothing hangs in the balance &
it is already
gone, it is
gone. Place has the upper hand if you look up.
Will you look up.
What is it bursts into laughter now
as if you were asking for a commutation of this sentence, here,
caught in this trap -
are u an informer? are you sure,
are u the curated audience to
a fratricide, an ecocide, a
genocide? How long has this
been going on - what is a very long time, I can't
tell. But a trial is going on
in my heart.
I am listening to the witnesses. Shh.
Everyone has a first-hand account.
The empty jury box stares at us in amazement.
The story is hard to believe.
It is a powerful alibi - we tell it again & again -
it is the history of poetry,
a long string of luminous alibis,
though the murder & the theft went on regardless
behind the arras
for all the singing up front -
& the song was necessary, yes, it was soothing & distracting -
it could justify, almost, our sense of
being human -
Call yourself alive? the jury-ghosts whisper
loud enough for us to make out.
And we promise again that we did not know, that we are
innocent, that we're just the
talent, the event planners should be found to vouch for us -
our wings are gauze, we're on guide-wires,
just here to create memories for you,
to accompany you along these few seconds
of time you still have -
to slow them a bit,
to help you linger.
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Don't we all want to be happy?
Jonathan Coe

2040 wordsIn  1888, two soon to be famous composers completed their earliest significant works. In Leipzig, where he was employed as second conductor at the Stadttheater, Gustav Mahler put the finishing touches to what would later be known as his Symphony No. 1. These days performed as a four-movement work, it received its premiere in Budapest as a five-movement 'symphonic poem'. When this first outing proved unsuccessful, Mahler made some radical revisions, overloading the piece with programmatic information, including a new title - Titan: A Tone Poem in Symphonic Form - and an elaborate framework of allusions to Jean Paul's novel Siebenkas (1797). Clocking in at just over an hour (fairly modest by his later standards), it is a quintessential work of Germanic late Romanticism: dense, chromatic, thickly textured, ambitious, scored for an uncompromisingly large orchestra and developing its themes with time-consuming thoroughness and deliberation.
Meanwhile, in Paris, a self-effacing young man of 22 - one of whose pieces of advice to composers would be to 'keep it short' - dashed off three miniature piano pieces, to which he gave the mysterious title Gymnopedies (it refers to a dance performed by naked young Spartan men). They are works of radical, pellucid naivety. In the first and most celebrated, the wistful main theme unfolds over simple (but, for their time, unusual) major seventh chords. This theme never develops: instead, it is repeated. The atmosphere is one of perfect calm and melancholy serenity. There are no changes in dynamics. The tune is stated, and then it's gone. It's all over in about two and a half perfect minutes.
By themselves, Satie's three pieces could not have precipitated a musical revolution, and seen off the forces of Wagnerian bombast and Mahlerian excess. The Gymnopedies broke through largely because they found two influential champions. The first was Claude Debussy, who in 1897 orchestrated the first and third pieces (although Satie grumbled about the praise lavished on Debussy's delicate textures and timbres: 'Why won't he allow me just a little corner of his shade? ... I don't want to take any of his sun'). The second was Maurice Ravel, a stalwart champion of Satie, who in 1910 founded the Societe musicale independante (SMI) in Paris as a counterblast to the stuffy conservatism of the Societe nationale de musique, and wasted little time in programming Satie's work. At the opening concert of the SMI's second season, Ravel himself performed the Prelude to the First Act of Le Fils des etoiles, the second Sarabande and the third Gymnopedie. The programme note - which Ravel probably didn't write, though it certainly reflected his views - said of Satie's early compositions (by now almost a quarter of a century old, a long time in the fast-evolving musical landscape of the Belle Epoque) that they 'surprise by their anticipation of modernist vocabulary and by the almost prophetic character of certain harmonic discoveries'. The note remarked that the Sarabande's date of composition - 1887 - was 'amazing', and hailed its composer as a 'subtle researcher' and a man who had spoken 'the daring "slang" of the future'. (Satie was conscious of the debt he owed Ravel for bringing his work back into circulation, and in 1912 repaid it with a letter, written after hearing the expanded and fully orchestrated ballet version of Ma mere l'Oye, in which he called Ravel a 'magnificent artist' and 'my dear friend' - although eight years later, in a letter to Georges Auric, he would refer to him as 'un con'.)
On these and other occasions, the younger members of the French musical establishment wielded the Gymnopedies as a potent weapon against the Germanic solemnity and ponderousness they loathed; in the process, they lent these pieces a prominence they might otherwise never have attained. The rest is by now well-trodden history. Satie's three piano pieces changed the harmonic vocabulary of 20th-century music. The major seventh chord became ubiquitous, first in jazz, then in pop music. Repetition, rather than development, became the guiding principle of composition. Satie is the progenitor of torch songs and lounge music, systems music and minimalism, even (with his later innovation, 'musique d'ameublement') muzak and ambient music. Mahler's influence, by comparison, has been non-existent. Arthur Honegger - the most serious and 'Germanic' of the young composers who gathered not always admiringly around Satie under the soubriquet of 'Les Six' - saw what was coming, and didn't like it. In 1951 he wrote:
Think of Erik Satie's music, which some musicians look upon as genius, and the degree to which it reverts to a primitive simplification of language - an absence of harmonic richness, an absence of contrapuntal richness. At the rate at which we are going, before the end of the century we shall have a very scanty and barbaric music, combining a rudimentary melody with brutally stressed rhythms - marvellously suited to the atrophied ears of the music lovers of the year 2000!

One of the great strengths of Ian Penman's new book about Satie is that it barely concerns itself with any of this. Unlike Honegger, he is preoccupied not by Satie's influence on other composers, or even solely by his aesthetic, but by his whole personality, his entire way of being in the world. Honegger's complaint comes from a book called I Am a Composer - a bald statement of self-identification. Satie, let us remember, never referred to himself as a composer at all. At the outset of a magnificently self-mocking essay called 'What I Am' (collected in A Mammal's Notebook, Ornella Volta's anthology of Satie's prose), he writes:*
Anyone will tell you that I am not a musician. They are right. From the beginning of my career I immediately classified myself as a phonometrographer. My work is pure phonometrics ... In fact it gives me more pleasure to measure a sound than to hear one. With my phonometer in hand, I work with joy and with assurance ... The first time I used a phonoscope, I examined a middling-sized B flat. I can assure you, I have never seen anything more revolting. I called my servant to have him look.

Hard to imagine the sombre Honegger writing such nonsense (or indeed, reading it with any pleasure). But for Penman, this is the very essence of Satie. His book is not a biography, nor is it an essay on the music. In its frank, conversational, seemingly haphazard way it is nothing less than a manifesto, campaigning with admirable persuasiveness for the artistic and human virtues that Satie embodies: delicacy, irreverence, lightness; the improvised, the throwaway, the frivolous and the aleatory. Satie was a sly humorist whose jokes usually had an abrasive undercurrent - as when he claimed that 'Ravel has refused the Legion d'Honneur - but all his music accepts it'; or when he told Debussy, a propos the first movement of La Mer, 'De l'aube a midi sur la mer', that he particularly liked the bit at a quarter to eleven. (I can't help feeling that Satie would have adored the best joke ever broadcast on Radio 4's I'm Sorry I Haven't a Clue, when Humphrey Lyttelton informed listeners that Debussy had completed his revisions of La Mer while staying at a hotel in Eastbourne, and was lucky to have been given a room with a sea view, adding that on his return the following year he was not so fortunate, 'leading to the composition of his lesser-known tone poem, Le Tesco's Car Park'.)
Many of Satie's apercus are familiar, but Penman is perhaps the first person to make a point of placing his humour in context, and to locate him in a recognisable tradition which includes not only Rabelais, Flann O'Brien and Spike Milligan, but also - more surprisingly - the likes of David Nobbs, Ken Dodd and Les Dawson. (The middle part of the book consists of a kind of Flaubertian dictionary, a 'Satie A-Z', and it's pleasing to note that of the two Leses on offer, Les Dawson has a much longer entry than Les Six.) Satie as a Gallic exemplar of the famous British sense of humour? Why not? His mother was English, and with his bowler hat, velveteen suits and collection of hundreds of umbrellas, he resembles no one so much as John Steed in The Avengers - a show much loved in France, and still running weekly on TV there under the title Chapeau melon et bottes de cuir. Satie himself stressed the Englishness of his humour (which he said was 'reminiscent of Cromwell's') and would remind people that his birthplace, Honfleur in Normandy, marks the point where the Seine flows into the English Channel. In any case, Anglophilia has always been one of the hallmarks of the French avant-garde. It makes sense that among Ravel's programming choices for the SMI's cutting-edge 1912 season was Vaughan Williams's ultra-English song cycle On Wenlock Edge.
For Penman, however, Satie is more than a joker. He is the supreme practitioner of a species of art forever undervalued by solemn-minded dullards, and which is anything but trivial. In the first of his Six Memos for the Next Millennium, Italo Calvino designated it 'lightness' but also coined another suggestive term: 'weightless gravity'. A work of art that manifests this quality, he wrote, is analogous to 'the sudden agile leap of the poet-philosopher who raises himself above the weight of the world, showing that with all his gravity he has the secret of lightness, and that what many consider to be the vitality of the times - noisy, aggressive, revving and roaring - belongs to the realm of death, like a cemetery for rusty old cars'.
There are plenty of classical pieces, I suspect, that Penman would like to consign to 'a cemetery for rusty old cars'. As in his last book, Fassbinder Thousands of Mirrors, he peppers his cultural commentary with snippets of autobiography, and in a diary entry for 4 January 2023 (the third and final section of the book is called 'Satie diary') he writes: 'What put me off classical music when I was young: big puffed-up symphonies and self-important concertos; sweaty drama-queen conductors; the annual flag and bluster of the BBC's Last Night of the Proms.' (To which I can only say: hard relate.) He has his own terminology for Calvino's 'revving and roaring'. Observing that much of Satie's music 'has this distilled feeling of a happy - or at least pleasantly bittersweet - acceptance of passing time', he adds that 'too much classical music has the opposite feeling: great granite blocks shouldered against the unfairness of human mortality: an egomaniac's name writ large, a fist banging hard on the work table.' His feelings on this subject are not confined to music, though: 'The superficial playfulness of some practitioners of avant-garde art ... barely hides an intransigent, humourless, rhino-sized ego. Too many artists put a premium on difficulty, impenetrability, doom. No such transcendent value is afforded the light, the dizzy, the caressing.' Elsewhere, in the alphabetised entry on 'Happiness', he casts his net even wider:
Why this general tendency to fetishise 'darkness'? Why is so much reflection about modernity tangled up with melancholy? Why do we overstress the abject, the obscene, the transgressive? ... Henry de Montherlant's 'Happiness writes in white ink on a white page' has been used for too long as a kind of unthinking, head-nod punctuation. Not contempt for happiness exactly, but certainly some kind of deep-seated suspicion. I mean, don't we all want to be happy? Why fight against it?

Satie makes an excellent foot soldier in this battle against solemnity, but he is not the only one co-opted in the course of Penman's book. There are glances - and often more than that - at the films of Jacques Tati, the music of Bill Evans, the work of Hockney, Queneau, Glenn Gould, Shostakovich, Jean Rhys, Federico Mompou, Carla Bley, Rene Clair, Mallarme, Cocteau, Burt Bacharach and a few dozen others. It's not a bad pantheon, you have to admit. There were few pages where I didn't find myself nodding along or sometimes even punching the air. The Societe musicale independante would have welcomed Penman with open arms.
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At Tate Modern
'Leigh Bowery!'
Brian Dillon

1288 words[image: Leigh Bowery] Leigh Bowery (1991)




On  28 September 1992, the artist and London nightclub impresario Leigh Bowery took the stage at Kinky Gerlinky, a peripatetic club then established in Leicester Square. Wearing sunglasses, a headscarf and a striped cotton dress, the imposing Bowery had got himself up as Divine - his most obvious precursor - in John Waters's film Female Trouble (1974). Looking conspicuously larger than usual, Bowery fell to the floor moaning and through his tights 'birthed' his naked friend (and future wife) Nicola Bateman. The umbilical cord was a string of sausages. The pair repeated the birth routine several times over the next two years, before Bowery's death from Aids-related meningitis on New Year's Eve 1994. In video footage at Tate Modern, where Leigh Bowery! runs until 31 August, the performance erupts between 'Useless Man', a dirge from Bowery's trash art noise band Minty, and a rendition of David Bowie's 'Ashes to Ashes'. What might Bowery have identified with in the latter song? I ain't got no money and I ain't got no hair? Or something to do with salacious self-mythology? Sordid details following ...
He was born in 1961 and grew up in Sunshine, a suburb of Melbourne, before moving to London in 1980. An exhibition label briefly notes a parallel with Barry Humphries, who made the same journey following a prankish Dadaist youth in Melbourne. Nick Cave also relocated to London around the same time as Bowery. Was some antic influence at work down there, or just the urge to escape and scandalise? Bowery had missed the convulsions of Punk - 'I'm the Punk of the 1980s!' he declared later, by which he meant he was a whole movement - and found himself socially and creatively excluded from the brittle New Romantic scene that succeeded it. In a diary entry from this period, alongside a resolution to control his weight, Bowery writes that he must soon make his mark in art, fashion or literature. The last is funny: the crowd at Taboo, the club where he reigned mid-decade, may have been camp and cutting and culturally savvy, but they weren't noted for verbal wit, save for the doorman, Marc Vautier, who would direct unlucky punters to a mirror: 'Would you let yourself in?'
'I have always thought about/staying in and going out,' New Order sang in 1985, the year Taboo opened. Bowery and his friend and sometime lover Trojan styled themselves as garish emissaries of the new scene, jewelled and body-painted, sporting a look they lamentably named 'Pakis from Outer Space'. (Bowery's immersion in London's club and street culture did not improve his racial politics: a pre-Minty band appeared in blackface.) Wearing platform boots, they led one of the first 1970s revivals in the 1980s: pop veterans such as ABC and Boy George soon borrowed from their palette and repertoire. Taboo, however, was about more than style: the club was part of Bowery's larger ambition to provoke. To Dada, Warhol's Factory and the films of Waters, we might add to the list of Bowery's influences the Viennese Actionists and the performance artist Chris Burden, who had himself shot in the arm and later nailed to a Volkswagen Beetle. Bowery once planned to walk up to the bar at Taboo with an axe and chop off his own hand, but he chickened out.
I remember reading about this in one of the London style magazines of the time; it all seemed exotically removed from New Romantic sangfroid and the zoot-suited excess of good taste that had supplanted it. For a while, Bowery touted himself as a legitimate if outre fashion designer, but it's clear from the Tate show that it was never going to work: he was too addicted to the one-off extravagance of 'the look' to commit himself to the practical demands of a collection or commercial line. His diverse looks are the main attraction in this exhibition, whether photographed, hung on the walls or draped on Bowery-scale dummies. Here he is in a low-cut glittery green bodice, scarlet gloves, a silver cape and the sort of skull-hugging mask last seen on 1970s wrestlers. And again in all-over polka-dot fur, in black-and-white clown face, head like a cracked Alien egg with waxy black rivulets running from the crown. The one exquisitely wearable thing he made was for a Blitz magazine feature in 1986: a Levi's denim jacket covered with a haze of golden hairpins.
In the same year, Bowery reached the teatime TV mainstream when he appeared on the BBC's Clothes Show to model and comment on a selection of his looks. A monster with multiple pairs of goggle-eyed sunglasses, a crash helmet or meringue-like confection passing for a wig, he had more in common with Hugo Ball at the Cabaret Voltaire in 1916 than he did with anything in the Hamnett-Westwood-Ozbek axis of London fashion in the mid-1980s. Bowery is even wilder-looking and more endearing on the same programme two years later, visiting Harrods while resembling a frilled gingham sea slug, and assuring viewers in velvet tones that he's been coming to the store since he was a small boy: 'The staff adore me here.' Nightclubs and magazine shoots may have been his natural environment, but he came differently alive when out of context. In October 1988, he appeared for a week as an art object of sorts at Anthony d'Offay Gallery in London. Dick Jewell's film What's Your Reaction to the Show? records visitors' reactions: boredom, puzzlement, awe. It's impossible now not to recall that the performance took place in the same year Section 28 was passed.
In the mid-1980s Bowery began working with the dancer and choreographer Michael Clark, at first as a costume designer and later as a performer in his own right. In 1984, the bare arses of Bowery's costumes made it onto another BBC show, Whistle Test, in a performance with the Fall: the band's music was already part of Clark's choreography, but they now embarked on a collaboration proper. The artist Charles Atlas provides the best documentary evidence of Bowery's relationship with Clark. Atlas's film Hail the New Puritan (1986) includes performance footage and semi-fictional interludes at home with Bowery and friends - including Trojan, who died of a heroin overdose the same year. When Bowery eventually joined Clark and his dancers on stage, he added a further element of affront to the company's body of work, as if to say: How dare I? The pair eventually fell out over one of Bowery's more cartoonish costumes: a foam and lycra bodysuit that covered the wearer from head to toe and had 'A CUNT' emblazoned across the face in black type.
His work with Clark was in some ways the summit of his creative potential - what to do with your outraging presence when fashions change and you have failed to parlay your persona into a long-term lucrative career? Bowery was ill-suited to the dressed-down rave scene of the late 1980s, but he was always at some club, looking increasingly abstract, as though he'd become his own logo. At other times, he seemed a more flagrantly physical being, with his flesh squeezed to resemble cleavage and a spiky merkin to hide his tucked genitals. Lucian Freud's nude paintings of him captured an unaccustomed vulnerability, but Bowery pursued more aggressive styles in public. In a murky video at Tate Modern, a mistimed onstage enema sprays an early-1990s audience. The singer and drag artist Alan Pillay once called Bowery 'the sickest person that a spotlight ever hit'. Had he lived, it is hard to imagine him on a chat-show sofa or in a podcast studio, mildly revisiting his days of excess.
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Lumps of Cram
Colin Kidd

2587 wordsMost  UK-based academics who don't work at Oxford or Cambridge have at some stage experienced the turbulence of university restructuring. In my case, it happened at the University of Glasgow in 2009. The twenty or so departments and research units in the Faculty of Arts were told to reconfigure themselves as four multidisciplinary super-schools. In the mating dance that followed I popped the question to my colleagues in English literature; but they feared that by joining the History Department they would find themselves ranged alongside Celtic and archaeology in a musty School of Old Stuff. In the end the faculty reorganised itself into a School of Modern Languages and Cultures, a School of Culture and Creative Arts, a School of Humanities and a School of Critical Studies, the last of which included the Department of English Literature, though it could have found a place under any of the four umbrellas. The new School of Critical Studies brought together the former departments of English literature (including creative writing), English language, Scottish literature and theology. English language was largely philological, oriented towards the history of language - Scots and English - as well as to medieval literature and linguistics, while Scottish literature, which had no umbilical connection with English, was the offspring of the former Department of Scottish History.
 This example helps bring into focus the contingent character of the subject we call English. The very name of the discipline, as Stefan Collini argues, is slippery with ambiguity, 'an adjective masquerading as a noun'. What is the missing noun to which English refers: literature, language or both? If both, does English belong with the study of other modern languages and literatures? Is its primary concern with literature in English or with the culture of Englishness? Indeed, if its canon is capacious enough to include Burns, Scott, Yeats, Joyce and Dylan Thomas, why did it never come to be known as 'British literature', a description that now sounds oddly stilted? A few 19th-century literary historians - Scots for the most part - happily used that phrase, but since then scruples about terminology have been only fleetingly discernible: Collini points out that the formal rubric of the Honours course at Glasgow in the early 20th century was 'English (Language, Literature and British History)'. A further puzzle concerns the badging of English as 'critical studies': how and when did criticism come to supplant rhetoric, belles-lettres, literary history, philology and a decidedly uncritical brand of aesthetic appreciation as the dominant item in a bundle of loosely related approaches to literature and language?
 English is far from alone in its lack of definitional clarity; very few subjects are built on a precise and enduring historical footprint. In their earlier iterations, many of today's disciplines - from economics to geology - were closely intertwined with theology. Take anthropology, a field not as remote from English as it might appear. The 16th and 17th centuries, as Tricia Ross has shown in an article for the Journal of the History of Ideas, saw the emergence of 'anthropologia', a blend of anatomy and theology concerned as much with the human soul as with the body. It didn't follow a clear pathway to modern academic maturity: 19th-century anthropology took shape under the disparate influences of sociologists, biologists, jurists and classicists. Even today its disciplinary contours are strikingly different in Britain and the United States. Similar divergences were also evident in the most deep-rooted and seemingly traditional subjects: for much of the 20th century, classics at Oxford meant ancient history and philosophy, at Cambridge ancient literature and language.
 The history of academic disciplines supplies an antidote to the just-so stories that prevail in most fields of study. Earlier in his career Collini mapped the 19th-century prehistory of political science in That Noble Science of Politics (1983), cowritten with his late colleagues John Burrow and Donald Winch, which rejected the notion that a unidirectional, single-subject narrative was an adequate way of recounting a discipline's history. The authors instead immersed themselves in unresolved contradictions: between deductive procedures derived from assumptions about human nature and the inductive constraints of historical fact, between aspirations to a value-neutral 'science' and practical guidance in the 'art' of government. On the one hand, politics as a subject was 'as empty as a dressmaker's window, ready to be filled by the latest wave of fashion'; on the other, it bulged with content from a multiplicity of subjects. It seemed to represent a vast shaded area in a Venn diagram, overlapping with economics, sociology, law, history and philosophy. No academic subject, it was implied, had ever been an island unto itself.
 Collini's account of English studies rests on the same premise, and the result is an engrossing multidisciplinary saga of false starts, unlikely combinations and strange might-have-beens. Acutely conscious that he is not the first scholar to venture into this history, Collini includes as an appendix a lively bibliographical essay on his predecessors. This begins, surprisingly, with Stephen Potter, once well known as the author of a series of cod-advice books, including One-Upmanship. Potter was briefly an assistant lecturer in English at Birkbeck College in London, and in 1937 published The Muse in Chains, a semi-subversive account of the 'routinised dullness' of teaching the canon. Collini notes the coincidence that another 'gifted comic writer', Terry Eagleton, provided the most influential account we have of the rise of English - seen by Eagleton as a pernicious mystification serving the interests of the ruling class - in the first chapter of his bestseller Literary Theory (1983). But Collini chides Eagleton for misrepresenting a central element in his story and observes that the related thesis of Chris Baldick in The Social Mission of English Criticism 1848-1932 (1983) - English as a means of diluting class conflict - also skirts the actual teaching of the subject in the universities. Nor is he convinced by Robert Crawford's claim that English literature as an academic field was 'invented' in the universities of Enlightenment Scotland, where in 1762 Hugh Blair became the first incumbent of the Regius Chair of Rhetoric and Belles Lettres at Edinburgh. According to Collini, Crawford's argument underplays the difference between the generic discipline of rhetoric and the pointedly specific introduction of English literature to the curriculum. Nevertheless, Collini recognises that the way the Scots taught rhetoric - especially the instrumental use of English language materials as aids towards composition - did play a 'minor and indirect' role in legitimating 'the study of modern vernacular texts'.
 Collini instead traces the discipline's direct line of descent to London University (later University College London), established in 1826, which decided to institute a chair of English Literature and Composition, though the appointing committee amended the rubric to English Language and Literature. The first holder, Thomas Dale, applied after being turned down for the chair of Roman Language, Literature and Antiquities at the same institution, and resigned after only two years. Among his successors was R.G. Latham, appointed in 1839, who exemplifies the unexpected affinity that once existed between English and anthropology. Latham's obsessions were ethnology and philology, especially grammar, with 'evolutionary morphology' providing the methodological link between these disparate interests. Latham left the chair in 1845 to enter the medical profession - another point of entry to anthropology. In the 1940s and 1950s, several of F.R. Leavis's former students became anthropologists, an interest in culture, as Collini notes, 'easily transferring across disciplinary boundaries'.
 The yoking of literature with language was not - at first anyway - a drag on English; the connection served instead to confer prestige on an upstart discipline. Philology was one of the revolutionary sciences of the 19th century, and its discoveries about the origins of the Indo-European family of languages promised to open up exciting vistas of knowledge on the earliest history of humankind. English also came to include the study of related languages and literatures, especially Anglo-Saxon and Old Norse. But the alliance between literary aesthetics and the science of languages was never as comfortable as it was convenient; English was a much more acceptable presence on the syllabus, according to Potter, when 'made to look like a dead language'. In the late 19th century John Churton Collins, a literary critic and subsequently professor of English literature at the University of Birmingham, lamented the 'degrading vassalage' of literature to philology in the ancient universities. To study English philologically as a sprig of the Indo-European language family, he objected, was to operate under the misapprehension that 'English literature began in the valleys of the Punjab and ended at the birth of Chaucer.' There was also the peculiar problem of combining the grind of philology with qualitative evaluation. Philip Larkin, an undergraduate in English at Oxford in the early 1940s, got to the nub of his exasperation with Anglo-Saxon literature: 'I can just about stand learning the filthy lingo it's written in. What gets me down is having to admire the bloody stuff.' Anglo-Saxon is still a compulsory element in the English curriculum at Oxford (despite a campaign in the 1990s to abolish it). Cambridge resolved the issue a century ago, when H.M. Chadwick, the professor of Anglo-Saxon, moved his subject into the Faculty of Archaeology and Anthropology. At this moment in the 1920s Cambridge's new Faculty of English was an outgrowth from the Faculty of Medieval and Modern Languages. This point of departure is suggestive in itself. The carving up of literature 'along national lines' was no more predestined than a hypothetical academic discipline structured around an international 'supercanon' of Homer, Dante, Shakespeare, Cervantes, Milton and Goethe.
 Aware of the fatuousness of treating a single discipline in isolation, Collini traces the emergence of English in the interplay between academic subjects. The gradual ebbing of classics - once synonymous with education as a whole - opened up ground for the emergence of English. But the relationship also involved an awkward, smothering paternalism. Most of those who played a formative role in the rise of English in the late 19th century had been educated in the classics and thought English needed some of that subject's ballast to give it learned respectability. The abject deference of English to classical standards, Eagleton believes, was rooted in status anxiety and surfaced in sadomasochism - the problem of 'how to make it unpleasant enough to qualify as an academic pursuit'. When the heated late 19th-century debate at Oxford over a proposed Honours School in English spilled out beyond the university, E.W. Benson, the archbishop of Canterbury, weighed in to suggest making English an additional component of the degree in classics.
Benchmarking  the subject against classics persisted into the 20th century. A preoccupation with textual editing and emendation was an obvious symptom of this fixation. The Newbolt Report of 1921 on the teaching of English took the emulation of classics to its highest pitch. The report proposed organising English at university level along the same lines as classics at Oxford, with a preliminary course - Moderations - in literature and language to be followed by 'an English Literae Humaniores': the study of English history and philosophy. But instead of English becoming like Greats - English high culture with philosophy at its pinnacle - the curriculum narrowed in most universities, becoming confined to imaginative literature. Cambridge remained a partial exception: under the influence of Arthur Quiller-Couch, the syllabus included a course on 'The English Moralists', as well as papers on the 'History of Criticism' and 'Tragedy', the latter understood philosophically, in the words of I.A. Richards (whose own first degree had been in 'moral sciences', i.e. philosophy), as 'the form under which the mind may most clearly and freely contemplate the human situation'. Basil Willey, Quiller-Couch's successor as King Edward VII Chair of English Literature, transformed the English Moralists course into a general intellectual history of England between the 17th and 19th centuries. But Cambridge also institutionalised a course in 'Practical Criticism' - this had its origin in Richards's request that his students respond to poems without being told who had written them or when - which paved the way for the dominance of criticism in English departments across the country in the 1950s.
 The grand designs of educators and critics offer only a partial and idealised picture of university English. Collini never forgets the bathos intrinsic to academic life: every visionary curriculum is severely dented on collision with the practicalities of assessment and the concerns of the average student. Edward Thring, the headmaster of Uppingham, opposed the idea of an Honours School in English at Oxford precisely because the likely yield for the run-of-the-mill undergraduate would be 'scraps of philology and lumps of cram'. Indeed, the evolving shape of the subject, as Collini recognises, owed almost as much to the mundane issue of what was examinable as it did to high-flown aspiration. He recovers what students were actually taught and the exam questions they tackled. At Mason College, Birmingham in the late 19th century, where students took an external London degree, the intermediate pass course was made up of 160 lectures - forty on Anglo-Saxon and philology, forty on composition and eighty on English literature. At the University of London in 1859 students were asked: 'Give the chief facts in the life of Shakespeare until 1603.' At King's College London in the 1880s: 'Make a list of Pope's chief works in chronological order, with brief descriptions.'
 This state of affairs continued through the foundational decades of the discipline in the late 19th and early 20th centuries; unlike today, 'memorising large amounts of information about literature was what was required rather than a failing to be deplored.' But we should resist the temptation to sneer. A 'representative' question in the matriculation exam for London University in the mid-19th century demanded a sophisticated, quasi-classical command of grammar: 'Explain the origin of the form of the preterite tense in English, and point out accurately its signification, distinguishing it from the aorist.' Despite the dominance of unsophisticated literary history at most British universities in the first half of the 20th century, English was far from a soft option. In his memoirs Frank Kermode, another holder of the King Edward VII chair, wrote that his degree programme in English at Liverpool between 1937 and 1940, which included courses in both Latin and Anglo-Saxon, was 'more strenuous than any now prescribed'.
 The function of university English departments was never entirely independent of wider literary taste, or of critical taste-makers in the press, several of whom, as Collini records, ended up holding chairs in the discipline. The mid-20th century, however, seems to mark a change. Before the Second World War the academic canon still 'formed the staple of lay reading', but in the second half of the 20th century the role of university English seemed to consist in clarifying classic texts 'to a generation who were compelled to study them but had difficulty in enjoying them'. In addition, the centrality of poetry gave way to a near exclusive emphasis on prose fiction, which became the staple carbohydrate of most English curricula.
 English emerges thoroughly defamiliarised from Collini's painstaking archival truffling and acute sensitivity to anachronism, but the 'taken-for-grantedness' so characteristic of the subject in the mid-20th-century heyday of criticism has long since evaporated, replaced by a conspicuous lack of self-assurance. I sometimes wonder whether academics in English literature have forsaken the primacy of the word for the world - rich in possibilities for impact, outreach and activism - that exists beyond the page. Collini is at pains to stress that his primary purpose is historical, not 'elegiac', and the tone is characteristically astringent, but an element of wistfulness inevitably intrudes.
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Dirty Books
Barbara Newman

3260 wordsHistories  of Italian literature begin with the Tre Corone or Three Crowns: Dante (1265-1321), Giovanni Boccaccio (1313-75) and Francesco Petrarca, or Petrarch (1304-74), Boccaccio's intimate friend. All three exalted the Italian vernacular but, to the puzzlement of modern readers, entrusted their most important philosophical works to Latin. This bilingualism is a dominant theme in both Marco Santagata's new biography of Boccaccio and Brenda Schildgen's critical study. Santagata links Boccaccio's vernacularity to his appeal to a female audience, while Schildgen considers his contributions to literary theory in the Decameron and his Latin masterpiece, the Genealogia deorum gentilium (Genealogy of the Pagan Gods).
 Chaucer, a younger contemporary of Petrarch and Boccaccio, read all three writers. During his early diplomatic career, he learned Italian and eagerly sought out their works. Yet while he proudly cites Dante and 'Fraunceys Petrak, the laureat poete', he never mentions Boccaccio, to whom his debts were far greater. Boccaccio's Teseida became 'The Knight's Tale'; his Filostrato inspired Troilus and Criseyde. Chaucer borrowed several tales from the Decameron and adopted Boccaccio's appeal to reader responsibility to defend bawdy stories such as 'The Miller's Tale'. Why the reticence? Why, to avoid naming Boccaccio, did Chaucer invent a fictional Latin poet as his source for Troilus? It seems that Boccaccio already had a reputation problem. From the late Middle Ages all the way to Pasolini's 1971 film of the Decameron, he has been best remembered - understandably, if unfairly - for his most obscene and ribald tales. In Italian, the adjective boccaccesco means 'lascivious'; the New Yorker once described the Decameron as 'probably the dirtiest great book in the Western canon'.
 Boccaccio himself would have been startled to learn that his immortality rested on that 'dirty book', rather than his Latin humanist works. He took great pains with his collection of tales, recounted by seven well-heeled young women and three men in the genteel retreat where they go to escape the Black Death. He revised it extensively and produced several copies with his own hand, including a large-format scholarly edition. But at the end of his life, fearing for his salvation, he developed scruples. In one letter he even fretted that female readers, to whom he had dedicated the book, would consider him 'a foul-mouthed pimp, a dirty old man'. Yet in his tale of Alibech and Rustico (Day Three, Story Ten), he had instructed girls in a new style of holiness. Deep in the Theban desert, the story goes, a young virgin called Alibech decides to dedicate herself to God. After two holy men send her away because of her beauty, she encounters the hermit Rustico, who takes her in. On finding that she is just as naive as she looks, Rustico conceives a stratagem. He tells Alibech to remove her clothes and kneel opposite him in prayer. He soon experiences 'the resurrection of the flesh', and tells the astonished Alibech that the 'devil' who has reared up in his body causes him great torment. Although no such devil troubles her own flesh, she does have a 'hell', Rustico explains, and nothing would please God more than for them to put the devil back into hell. Alibech soon learns to take such delight in this service that Rustico's devil is exhausted, though her hell rages more fiercely than ever.
 While the Decameron includes one hundred tales, some even more high-minded than this one, it begins with an account of the plague in Florence, painting a vivid picture of its grisly symptoms and the social breakdown that followed in its wake. Boccaccio survived the plague of 1347 but Santagata, his biographer, died in the plague of 2020. His book, awkwardly translated by Emlyn Eisenach, has a telling subtitle in Italian: 'Fragilita di un genio'. Santagata argues that Boccaccio suffered from 'psychological fragility' that often led to self-sabotage. Emotionally unstable and intellectually restless, he experienced frequent mood swings that sapped his confidence. Late in life he was certain he had been a failure, especially when he compared his output with Dante's or Petrarch's. Yet the same restlessness also led him to experiment in genre and style, making him, in Santagata's words, 'the most modern writer of his day'.
 Some of Boccaccio's insecurity stemmed from his inauspicious start in life. He was born in or near the town of Certaldo and grew up in Florence. His father, Boccaccino di Chellino, was a prominent merchant and banker and Boccaccio appears to have been his illegitimate son. He never knew his mother and never married, though he had mistresses and at least five children. His father insisted that he first study banking, then canon law, instead of the literary pursuits he would have preferred. Despite a lifelong aversion to marriage, he loved women and dedicated several early works to them, especially to the semi-mythical beloved he called Fiammetta, his 'little flame'. Few women could read Latin, so writing in Italian meant writing, in part, for the 'ladies' who typically consumed romances and other light fare. In his preface to the Decameron, Boccaccio sympathises with the plight of women, confined to their chambers and denied the mind-broadening occupations of men. Such readers, he hopes, will derive both pleasure and sound advice (Horace's dulce et utile) from his stories. Yet the light touch of some tales belies the learning apparent in others, not to mention the sophisticated frame story. Boccaccio undoubtedly wanted male readers as well. He was writing for a mixed audience that could appreciate scholarship and entertainment in a single work - an audience that did not yet exist. He aimed to create it through his writing.
 Anticlerical satire was hardly new in Italy, but Boccaccio took it to new heights - or depths - in the tale of Ser Ciappelletto (Day One, Story One). Ciappelletto, he tells us, was among the most heinous of villains: he had committed murder, fomented strife, revelled in all seven deadly sins and blasphemed against God and the Virgin Mary. He lied as easily as he breathed. On a mission to collect a bad debt in a distant city, Ciappelletto fell ill. This disconcerted his hosts, who did not want such a scoundrel to die unconfessed in their house and bring them into disrepute. So, to ease their minds, the old scapegrace asked for a friar to whom he might make his last (and in fact his first) confession. With many tears he confessed the tiniest imaginary offences, never mentioning his actual crimes. The clueless friar, convinced that Ciappelletto was a saint, glorified his holy life so eloquently in his funeral sermon that the people began to venerate him. As the story concludes, 'God has performed many miracles through him' for those who seek his intercession. As an inverted saint's life, the tale strikes at the heart of popular piety and clerical credulity.
 In a less cynical mood, another tale (Day One, Story Three) features Saladin, the much admired sultan of Egypt, seeking a loan from the Jewish moneylender Melchisedek. Saladin baits Melchisedek by inviting him to court and asking which is the true religion: Judaism, Christianity or Islam. Melchisedek cleverly sidesteps this trap with a parable. Once upon a time, he says, a man willed a precious ring to his son and heir, who in turn bequeathed it to his own son, until the ring had passed through many generations. Eventually it came into the hands of a father with three equally beloved and capable sons. Unwilling to choose among them, he had a jeweller make two identical replicas, then secretly gave a ring to each. On the father's death, each brother presented his ring as proof of his inheritance, but since the three rings were indistinguishable, the 'true' heir could never be determined. So too with the three religions. Impressed, Saladin strikes up a lifelong friendship with Melchisedek. In an era not known for tolerance, the story's account of religious difference is remarkably enlightened. Centuries later, Gotthold Lessing would make Boccaccio's ring parable the centrepiece of his play Nathan the Wise, an appeal for interreligious peace.
 Martin Luther, a less tolerant soul, preferred another tale about a Jew for its vigorous anti-Catholic message. In this story (Day One, Story Two), the Parisian merchant Giannotto tries to convert his Jewish friend Abraham out of concern for his soul, but Abraham clings loyally to his faith. Giannotto tries again and finally Abraham says he will visit the Curia in Rome. If he finds that the pope and his clerics lead admirable lives, he pledges to convert. Giannotto, aware of their debauchery, seeks to dissuade his friend, but Abraham insists on making the trip and, on arriving in Rome, finds a cesspool of corruption. In a surprising plot turn, he converts anyway, arguing that no institution so obviously depraved could have survived so long without divine aid. Juxtaposed as they are, the satire on Ser Ciappelletto, the anticlerical tale of Abraham's conversion and the fable of the three rings get the Decameron off to a provocative start. It should be no surprise that it found its way onto the Catholic Church's Index of Forbidden Books in 1559, more for its religious than its sexual improprieties. One result was the production of expurgated versions: offending monks become students, while naughty nuns turn into 'ladies'.
 Boccaccio conceived the Decameron as a kind of commedia profana, but his admiration for the Divina Commedia was unbounded. He personally copied the whole poem three times and several of Dante's minor works would have disappeared if not for Boccaccio's autograph copies. Much of his career was devoted to promoting Dante's reputation, from his Little Treatise in Praise of Dante to the lectures he delivered late in his life - inaugurating a tradition of public readings, the Lecturae Dantis, that continues to this day. The readings were lavishly sponsored by the city of Florence at a salary of 100 florins for the lecturer, perhaps in atonement for the fact that the city had never recalled Dante from exile. Boccaccio's lecture notes survive, providing one of our earliest commentaries on the Commedia. The sacro poema needed exposition, and also defence. Not only did churchmen take issue with Dante's theological liberties, but he could hardly have condemned so many of his contemporaries to hell without making enemies of their families. More to our point, fans of Latin literature could not forgive Dante for 'prostituting the Muses' by treating such exalted themes in the vernacular. Petrarch himself was among the sceptics. Despite Boccaccio's efforts, he was unable to persuade his friend of Dante's merits. Boccaccio and Petrarch corresponded in Latin and exchanged their Latin works, but not their vernacular ones. Humanism, often misunderstood, could be a deeply conservative, elitist enterprise. While the humanists forged the vital tools of philology and textual criticism, their classical revival style was profoundly retardataire. Petrarch may have pinned his hopes for literary immortality on works like his Latin epic Africa, but it was his vernacular Canzoniere that launched an international craze for sonnets, keeping the courtly love lyric in vogue for two more centuries. The runaway popularity of both the Commedia and the Decameron, different as they are, represented the future.
 The choice of a literary language was inextricable from the appeal to an audience, and in particular, the question of women readers. It was easy to mock their naivety. Boccaccio himself tells how the women of Ravenna, passing Dante in the streets, would say to one another: 'Look, it's that man who goes down into hell and returns whenever he likes.' Almost perversely, Boccaccio wrote his encyclopedia of famous women (De mulieribus claris) in Latin, but his viciously misogynist Corbaccio in Italian. De mulieribus claris is remarkable: no such compendium had been produced before and the criterion for commemorating each woman was simply fame, not virtue. Although the work has no obvious feminist intention, Christine de Pizan would draw heavily from it in her Book of the City of Ladies (c.1400). Il Corbaccio is utterly different, something of an embarrassment to Boccaccio scholars. Its title is not an ordinary noun, but a calque on the author's name coupled with the word for 'crow', a bird of ill omen. The work, which may or may not be autobiographical, has no known occasion. But it may be related to an untoward event of 1361, when a dying monk prophesied Boccaccio's imminent death (he was mistaken) and warned that he must abandon poetry to save his soul. In response, the writer vowed to do so and deepened his piety. Il Corbaccio is dedicated to the Virgin Mary in thanksgiving for a 'special grace', namely Boccaccio's deliverance from lust. In it the narrator, enamoured of a beautiful widow, has a dream in which he meets her deceased husband. Spouting contempt for his wife's physical and moral flaws, the ghost persuades the narrator that 'a woman is an imperfect creature, excited by a thousand foul passions,' more abominable than a pig. Today, the work's bitterness and vulgarity are more shocking than all the obscenity of the Decameron.
 While blaming women might seem straightforward, praising them could be ambiguous. A case in point is the last of the hundred tales (Day Ten, Story Ten), which sings the praise of 'patient Griselda'. A poor girl marries a marquis and vows at his command never to disobey his will. Obsessed with testing his wife's fidelity, the husband stages the fake murder of both their children, then repudiates Griselda in favour of a younger, prettier bride who is in fact her daughter. As a final test, he recalls her from her hovel, still dressed in rags, to prepare his palace for the wedding feast and supervise the servants. Griselda bears all this with stoic equanimity, earning the 'reward' of a renewed matrimonial pact and reunion with her children. Petrarch, though he was no great fan of the Decameron, admired this tale so much that he retold it in Latin, turning it into an allegory of God and the soul. (In the years after the Black Death, God might have seemed very much like an abusive husband.) Chaucer read both Boccaccio's and Petrarch's versions, and his 'Clerk's Tale' manages at once to praise Griselda, excoriate the marquis, retain the Petrarchan allegory and end with a spoof of the whole tale. In his envoy, the clerk warns husbands that 'Grisilde is deed, and eek hir pacience,' while encouraging 'archewyves' like the Wife of Bath to 'stondeth at defence' and 'suffreth nat that men yow doon offence'. Taken at face value, the tale is almost unbearable, but Boccaccio adds neither moral nor satire. Griselda's heroism stands at an uneasy crossroads between hagiography and horror.
 Lacking independent means, Boccaccio held a variety of minor civic offices in Florence, with the result that he was caught up more than once in the political feuds that roiled the Italian city-states. Twice he was sent as ambassador to the pope in Avignon. In difficult times, his friendship with Petrarch was a stabilising force in his life, and the two collaborated on many humanist projects. Their greatest success came in 1360, when they persuaded the Studium of Florence to establish a professorship in Greek. The position was given to Leontius Pilatus, an eccentric Byzantine scholar from Thessaloniki, who was to give public lectures, tutor private pupils in Greek and produce a Latin translation of Homer. But he lasted for only two academic years, unable to adapt to Italian ways, and died from a lightning strike during a storm at sea. He did, however, complete the translation, which he left in Boccaccio's hands. The triumphant Boccaccio boasted that he 'was the first who, at my own expense, called back to Tuscany the writings of Homer and of other Greek authors, whence they had departed many centuries before'.
It is impossible  to overestimate the prestige of the Greco-Roman classics in humanist circles. Yet there had always been some Christian resistance to recycled pagan myths, filled as they were with deities committing rape, incest and other abominations. One standard response was to allegorise the myths, finding profound truths about human nature concealed beneath their artful surface. This is the line Boccaccio takes in his Genealogy of the Pagan Gods, a monument of scholarship that catalogues more than seven hundred mythical figures. More innovative is his impassioned defence of poetry in Book 14. By 'poetry' he means all of what we now call literature - prose and verse, pagan and Christian - and he defines it as a 'stable and fixed branch of knowledge, founded and established on eternal principles'. Speaking against its cultured despisers, he calls poetry a 'fervent and exquisite invention' proceeding from the bosom of God, granted only to a few chosen souls and worthy of reverence. Nature in her wisdom has fashioned all human beings with their diverse vocations - carpenters and sailors, merchants and priests, lawyers and kings - but the list culminates in 'poets, philosophers and sublime theologians'. Moreover, poetry is socially useful: it can teach, console and invigorate the mind. Most significant may be Boccaccio's understanding of fiction as an autonomous category, neither factual truth nor reprehensible lies. As Philip Sidney would later put it, 'the poet ... nothing affirmeth, and therefore never lieth.' In Book 15, Boccaccio goes on to establish an Italian literary canon, seamlessly linking ancients and moderns, Latin and vernacular writers, culminating in Dante, Petrarch and himself. This is not so much self-promotion as a far-sighted vindication of the vernacular and the wider audience it enabled, including women. It also cements the idea of a 'Renaissance' with Italy as its heart and soul.
 The Decameron includes a more personal, amusing, and in one sense more radical defence. In the introduction to Book 4, Boccaccio offers an early example of reader-response criticism. Although the book was far from finished, its tales had already begun to circulate and not everyone liked them. It seems that prudish critics had been complaining about Boccaccio's desire to please ladies, interpreting his literary efforts as amorous exploits. Boccaccio disarmingly responds by accepting their critique. Why, after all, should he not love women and take delight in pleasing them? The Muses are ladies, after all, and 'the fact is that ladies have already been the reason for my composing thousands of verses, while the Muses were in no way the cause.' There is nothing shameful about writing for women; Dante himself did so. Where would the Commedia be without Beatrice? Concluding the Decameron in his own voice, Boccaccio makes the revolutionary move of placing the moral responsibility for literature squarely on the reader, not the writer. To the pure all things are pure, as St Paul says, while a corrupt mind sees nothing but corruption everywhere. Even bawdy tales have merit for those who know how to interpret them, but a reader who takes offence at trifles can just skip the offending stories and focus on the edifying ones. In short, 'the lady who is forever saying her prayers or baking ... cakes for her confessor should leave my tales alone.' This is Boccaccio's greatest contribution to literary theory: vernacularity, writing for entertainment, reader responsibility and the autonomy of fiction are all braided together and gendered feminine. For better or worse, that chain would hold - especially when more women began to write. It is more than gender that binds the elegant storytellers of the Decameron to the 'damned mob of scribbling women' that Nathaniel Hawthorne would denounce in the 1850s.
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Short Cuts
What is the meaning of support?
David Renton on the challenge to the banning of Palestine Action

2499 wordsWhat does it mean when a government makes support for an organisation unlawful? Support is what a rank-and-file member of a party provides for its leader when they donate money to the cause, when they vote for that leader, when they tell their friends that she is the best candidate. But it can also be something much vaguer. The problem with the interpretation of the verb 'support' by the police and courts in Britain today is that the state accepts no limit to its meaning. Since October 2023, the police and the Crown Prosecution Service have insisted that anyone expressing support for any act of resistance to Israel is thereby expressing support for Hamas, indirectly supporting the group by supporting activities that Hamas would also be expected to support.
In May 2024 activists in London unfurled a banner showing a giant dove carrying a key and flying through a breach in Israel's apartheid wall. A police officer noticed that the dove was flying in what he described as 'a clear blue sky with no clouds'. In the images of the Hamas attack on 7 October, he thought to himself, there were no clouds. The banner, he concluded, was supportive of what had been done on that day and therefore of Hamas itself. Four protesters were arrested, interviewed, held under police bail, and spent months threatened by prosecution under Section 13 of the Terrorism Act 2000 before the police decided to take no further action. Being investigated for terrorism offences isn't a small matter, even if the police eventually drop the case. Most employers would see the mere fact of arrest on terror charges as grounds for dismissal.
With the proscription of Palestine Action early in July, the question of what support for a terrorist group means has become urgent. Very few people in Britain supported al-Qaida; many more support the disabling of factories that supply arms for use in Gaza. Protests were held in many places on 19 July to challenge the treatment of Palestine Action. More than a hundred people were arrested for showing support for the group. In Glasgow, a man was arrested for holding two pieces of A4 paper, one bearing the words 'Genocide in Palestine', the other 'time to take action'. A week earlier, on 12 July, an 80-year-old retired teacher was arrested on terrorism charges after holding a placard at a demonstration in Cardiff. She was held by the police for 27 hours, according to the Guardian; her house was searched and nineteen items were removed, including books on Palestine and materials to do with Extinction Rebellion and the climate crisis.
The proscription of Palestine Action was first challenged in the High Court on 4 July, through an application for an interim injunction to prevent the ban from taking effect. After that application failed, the group's lawyers issued an appeal which was heard at 10 p.m. that same evening, with the Appeal Court judges galloping through their decision not to uphold the injunction. Blinne Ni Ghralaigh KC, who represented Huda Ammori, one of the founders of Palestine Action, complained about 'the broadness of the way with which the proscription regime will apply'. She returned to a question that had been raised in the High Court that morning: after Palestine Action was proscribed, would the lawyers representing its members have become terrorists? Mr Justice Chamberlain had asked the lawyers representing the home secretary, Yvette Cooper, this question. They replied that they were 'not there to give legal advice'.
The only definite limit to the meaning of 'support' is stated in Section 10 of the Terrorism Act, which gives protesters immunity from prosecution for anything done in relation to an application to have a group's proscription lifted. There are questions about this exception (it is unclear, for example, whether it would apply to judicial review proceedings). But the general intention of the Act's drafters is clear: they wanted those who supported terrorist groups to be given long jail sentences; they wanted those who campaigned against proscription to remain free. But this is another line that the police are now crossing. Among those arrested in London on 19 July were protesters carrying placards which read 'Ban Starmer not Palestine Action,' even though saying that Palestine Action should not be banned is one speech act the Act expressly permits.
Earlier in July, a Kent police officer in body armour told a protester who had written on a piece of cardboard the words 'Israel is committing genocide' that such signs were now contrary to anti-terror law. Reading from his phone, the officer said that by displaying the sign the protester had expressed a belief supportive of a proscribed group. When challenged, he said: 'Mentioning freedom of Gaza, Israel, genocide, all of that all comes under proscribed groups, which are terror groups that have been dictated by the government.' He insisted on taking the protester's name, in order to begin an investigation under the Terrorism Act. During the oral exchanges in the Palestine Action judicial review, Mr Justice Chamberlain tried to minimise the incident, saying that a lone officer had misunderstood the law. But after the officer was criticised in the press, his force supported him, claiming that the poster gave rise to a 'reasonable suspicion that an individual is a member or supporter of a proscribed organisation such as Palestine Action' - even though the poster did not mention the group, and did not propose direct action, or indeed any action at all.
You might think that supporting a group would require making some positive statement about it likely to result in those who heard it aiding its aims. But the legislation requires only that someone is 'reckless as to whether members of the public will be directly or indirectly encouraged or otherwise induced by the statement to commit, prepare or instigate' terrorist acts. The senior judiciary have found that many kinds of speech can be deemed supportive. In the 2024 criminal case of ABJ, the defendant was accused of making remarks supportive of Hamas. The case was sent to the Court of Appeal, which held that support could be 'tangible or practical', or it could be neither of these things; it could be criminal even if it was 'indirect support' or 'intellectual support', or if the speaker had no idea 'which kind of support the audience may be encouraged to offer'. (Permission to appeal that decision was granted and the case is waiting to be heard in the Supreme Court.) The judges declined to limit the range of speech capable of being relabelled as support for a proscribed group. They wouldn't even say that support required some words of approval. Whether or not this was the court's intention, the practical meaning of its decision was that anything can be classed as support. 'When I use a word,' Humpty Dumpty said, 'it means just what I choose it to mean - neither more nor less.'
On 21 July, a second round of court hearings began concerning Palestine Action: an application for a judicial review of the government's decision to proscribe the group. Both sides had reason to be cautious about the prospects of victory. Over the last thirty years, there has been a series of cases in which the judiciary has asserted our legal system's deep support for freedom of expression. In the 1994 case R v. Central Independent Television PLC, which concerned a family's right to be protected from the broadcast of a documentary after the father had been convicted of indecency involving young boys, Lord Justice Hoffman said that if freedom of expression limited itself to what judges thought was responsible comment, it would be no freedom at all. He said that, in law, 'there is no question of balancing freedom of speech against other interests. It is a trump card which always wins.' Again, in the 2008 case of Animal Defenders International, which dealt with the right of an animal rights campaign to broadcast a political film advertising its views, Lord Bingham held that 'freedom of thought and expression is an essential condition of an intellectually healthy society. The free communication of information, opinions and argument about the laws which a state should enact and the policies its government at all levels should pursue is an essential condition of truly democratic government.' It would be possible to fill a short book with similar judicial dicta asserting the common law's support for free speech. Judges understand that the proscription of Palestine Action crosses a new threshold. In the injunction proceedings, Mr Justice Chamberlain accepted that PA had not committed violence against any person or endangered life or created a risk to health or safety, but nevertheless refused to issue an injunction.
Palestine Action stands out from the more than eighty groups proscribed under the Terrorism Act 2000. Most of them are active overseas (including Hamas and the PKK). Fourteen of the proscribed organisations were active in Northern Ireland. A small number of other proscribed groups - on my reading, two after you take account of aliases - have operated in Great Britain. Those groups, the sole precedents for Palestine Action's proscription, are the Islamist group al-Muhajiroun and the neo-Nazi group National Action. There is no doubt that National Action was a terror group: its members attempted to kill the Labour MP for West Lancashire, Rosie Cooper. After the murder in 2016 of the Labour MP Jo Cox, the group tweeted: 'Only 649 MPs to go.' It did not merely carry out violent acts, it glorified violence and wanted people to be afraid of it. Members of al-Muhajiroun have similarly shown their support for violence, by taking part in wars fought by Islamic State and filming themselves participating in the murder of hostages in Syria.
Palestine Action is not a terror organisation, as Mr Justice Chamberlain accepted in the injunction proceedings, in the 'colloquial' meaning of the term. That observation, from which the courts have so far declined to draw any conclusions, is likely to be central to future hearings. Proscription does significant damage to the freedom of expression of members of Palestine Action. Among other penalties, any funds held by a terrorist can be frozen; a bank cannot provide services to a terrorist; police can search, fingerprint and photograph a terror suspect without consent. The criminal offences created by the Terrorism Act 2000 outlaw both membership of a proscribed group and support for it. The principal issue in the judicial review was whether proscription was a proportionate restriction of the freedom of expression of members of Palestine Action. The court's concession that the group's members are not terrorists in the ordinary sense of the term is significant and its importance will increase: any finding that proscription is proportionate will be hard to sustain at future appeals, as examples of excessive policing are likely to increase. It is obvious that when groups act violently towards people, with the intention of causing fear to those who know of their acts, a restriction on their speech is a more justifiable infringement of their rights. If members of a group have always refrained from acts of violence against people, restriction on their speech, with a possible sentence of fourteen years in prison for membership alone, is harder to justify.
One of the reasons Palestine Action has generated such a wave of support is because politicians and judges have over the last few years repeatedly increased the repressive powers of the state. The Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022 gave police wide powers to place conditions on protest marches. The Public Order Act 2023 criminalised 'locking on' and enabled magistrates to make Serious Disruption Prevention Orders banning people from attending demonstrations. Last year climate campaigners who blocked the M25 were given prison terms of four and five years. The government is now pushing through Parliament a Crime and Policing Bill which will prevent demonstrators from protecting their identity at protests, as well as outlawing pyrotechnics on marches and protesting near places of worship.
The proscription of Palestine Action is both the most egregious of these measures and an incentive to other institutions to take similarly repressive action. Two days after the judicial review, the courts heard another case concerning pro-Palestinian activism. Cambridge University applied to the High Court for a one-year extension to an order banning staff and students from protesting in certain places owned by the university. It justified the continuance of the injunction by raising the threat of further protests, which it said would take the form of 'direct action', redefining this as any form of campaigning that 'seeks to hinder, impede or prevent another person from carrying out a lawful activity on their land'. It invoked the 'continuing threat' posed by Palestine Action, which might 'embolden groups such as Cambridge for Palestine to take direct action' on university property. Other documents in the litigation accuse Cambridge of accelerating the manufacturing of spare parts for the F-35 fighter jet used by Israeli forces in the bombing of Gaza through a collaboration with BAE Systems, and criticise the university for working with Boeing's Phantom Works (a supplier to the Israeli army) to develop hybrid forms of propulsion, which allow drones to carry heavier payloads and fly for longer.
The injunction succeeded - over the last eighteen months the courts have granted every university request for an injunction or possession order - which means that Cambridge can enforce any breach through proceedings carrying a sentence of up to two years in prison. The university cited one student at a graduation ceremony who, instead of collecting their degree, carried a Palestinian flag and made a speech objecting to the university's complicity in the genocide in Gaza, briefly disrupting proceedings. An academic institution that asks courts to imprison students for voicing reasonable criticisms makes itself a supporter of authoritarianism.
At a further hearing on 30 July, Mr Justice Chamberlain gave permission for the judicial review claim to proceed to a further hearing, to take place over three days in the autumn. Proscription, the judge held, 'will have an impact on the claimant's and others' freedom of expression and freedom to protest on an issue of considerable importance. I consider it reasonably arguable that the proscription order amounts to a disproportionate interference with the Article 10 and 11 rights [in the Human Rights Act] of the claimant and others.' Chamberlain's decision has not suspended proscription, or limited the police's interpretation of it in the interim. Whichever side loses the judicial review will appeal, and given the public importance of the issue, both the Court of Appeal and the Supreme Court are likely to grant permission. If Palestine Action loses in the domestic courts, an application to the European Court of Human Rights also seems inevitable.
This is not yet an authoritarian country. For the time being, Britain remains part of an international human rights infrastructure which stands above our judges. So long as we remain part of that system, the autocrats in Downing Street and elsewhere will need to proceed with caution.
30 July
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Goodbye Dried Mince
Clare Bucknell

2873 wordsMinds and bodies  are often at odds with each other in Eimear McBride's novels. In The Lesser Bohemians (2016), the narrator, Eily, gets so anxious giving a blowjob that she makes her actor-boyfriend recite Richard III to get her through it:
Nowisthewinterofourdiscontentmadeglorioussummerbythissonofyork and allthecloudsthatloured upon our house inthedeepbosomofthe ocean     burrrrieeeed nowareourbrowsboundwithvictoriouswreaths ...

Characters use their bodies to get out of their heads and their minds to escape their bodies. Masturbating to porn on her hotel TV, the narrator of Strange Hotel (2020) finds herself suddenly 'seceding from thought'. Sometimes they lose the thread of themselves entirely. In The Lesser Bohemians, Eily's boyfriend Stephen recalls being off his head in Archway and hallucinating his younger self in the street: 'That boy, looking beat to shit. After a couple of hours God began to explain. Remember this? Yourself?' (God lapses into silence when he decides to jump off a roof.) In The City Changes Its Face, which continues the story of Eily and Stephen, there's a moment when Stephen catches sight of his reflection in a cafe window and panics at the weird gestures he is making with his hands: 'He can see that he is mad ... He gets so frightened. Tries to stop. But can't seem to make himself.'
One of McBride's recurring ideas is how hard it is for people to keep hold of themselves, not turn into versions of their worst influences. In The Lesser Bohemians, during a period of compulsive promiscuity, Stephen has loud sex with a woman in a pub toilet while her young son waits outside with a Coke; his father, he tells Eily later, used to pick up women and make him sit outside the bedroom door or in the front seat of the car. When, at 22, he gets his girlfriend pregnant, he grows terrified that his daughter, Grace, won't be safe with him, that he'll do to her a version of what his abusive mother did to him: 'The fear she was in me and would come out in ways I didn't notice.' Physical resemblance seems to confirm the risk. His mother, he knows, is 'his very spit'; when he sees his own reflection he sees her too. 'There. Around the eyes and mouth: a troubling likeness.' It doesn't help that Grace turns out to be the image of both of them, a 'facsimile'.
The City Changes Its Face picks up where The Lesser Bohemians left off, in the summer of 1995. (Again, we see the world from Eily's point of view, so no concessions are made to readers who haven't read the first book.) Eily is about to turn nineteen and going into her second year of drama school; she and Stephen, who is twenty years older, have left his bedsit in Camden for a bigger, brighter flat down the road. The problem is that two have become three. Grace, for many years absent from her father's life, is back in it, a tall, messy teenager who shows up periodically, gets drunk and throws up loudly in the next room. The fact that she's barely two years younger than Eily, who also does things like getting drunk and making scenes, awakens old fears in Stephen about the tendencies that might lurk inside him. During Grace's first visit, Eily notices that he's suddenly no longer interested in sex: it's as if he is 'finding it hard to tell us apart'. 'We can be daughters or lovers but definitely not both. So    for safety's sake    I'd been    sworn off? ... That your pulled wires don't find the wrong connect?' It's the memory of him and his mother all over again, the terror of what might happen when you don't keep certain things separate.
Sex has a structural importance in McBride's work. A lot has been said about her style - the beaten-up grammar, the sentence fragments, the axed pronouns and relative pronouns, the neologisms and puns, the remarkable descriptions of what it's like to be drunk or high - but less about the way she puts her novels together. 'I did not set out to write lots of sex scenes,' she has said of The Lesser Bohemians. 'They kept recurring and I realised they were intrinsic to the story of the relationship.' This is an understatement. Cumulatively, the endless sex is a bit wearying ('Why can't anyone in this book be normal?' I scribbled next to the section in which it emerges that the wealthy older theatre director who takes Stephen in also wants to fuck him). But it has an interesting effect. The sex scenes are so long and so many that in a sense they can't be called scenes: sex is where the narrative sits, not where it goes from time to time, and the frequency with which it happens makes it less instrumentalised, less likely to be the thing plot hinges on, than sex in novels tends to be. It's shown as part of people's lives, as sex is. (In The Lonely Girl, Edna O'Brien, an important influence on McBride, has a character remark that 'Sex is not some independent thing, it's part of what people feel for each other.') Within the general sex-atmosphere, individual episodes move the dial on the relationship. Stephen cheats; Eily cheats; there is a grim rage-filled threesome with her flatmate. When Marianne, Grace's mother, gets in touch, possibly to take Grace away from him again, Stephen medicates in the usual way: 'I could really     I could really use that fuck now.'
Sex in The City Changes Its Face is a different thing. It takes place rarely, its absence is discussed, and both having and not having it are complex and anxious-making. Eily wants it and Stephen doesn't, or feels he shouldn't, and every tiny aspect of their stalemate, seen through her eyes, acquires seismic significance. Stephen putting on a T-shirt to sleep in during Grace's visit is 'this new step - which felt quite like a trip'. (As often in McBride, the language here goes several ways at once - 'trip' relates to 'step', as in tripping over, but it also makes you think of 'trap', and possibly of 'trip' in the sense of crazy or trippy.) Later, when Stephen rejects Eily's overtures with a polite 'Night then', it's as though he's committed treason: 'Night night bitch battle body fold and ache. Bloody spurned to the wall by your blanched shoulder blade.' In the sections of the novel headed 'Now', which take us forward sixteen months to the winter of 1996, there are new cracks in the relationship and a lot more damage has been done (something traumatic has happened, which McBride lets us in on bit by bit), but sex, or the lack of it, is still in Eily's view the thing that explains everything, that could fix it.
The wrongness of her diagnosis becomes clear in the scene in which she hurls - of all things - a jar of piccalilli at Stephen, for his refusal to agree that sex is the problem. 'The kitchen elaborates itself into objects of malice. Mortars. Trajectories to hit. And within this graspy maelstrom it's the piccalilli gets it ... Doodlebugging the air before hitting the radio.' This is an absurd description, but it's supposed to be. Condiment jars aren't 'mortars' and they don't explode like bombs; the mock-heroic inflations here suggest that something has gone awry with Eily's sense of perspective, and - since 'the kitchen elaborates itself' without her consciously making it do so - she isn't in control over where her mind goes. Sex is one metric for how a relationship is going, but it can't be the only one, and it isn't a panacea. Using it to force a change or a crisis, as Eily does towards the end of the novel when she inveigles Stephen into hurting her in bed, instrumentalises it, does away with its pleasurable ordinariness. Caught in her trap, Stephen looks, she thinks, 'like a boy put to work in some vast machine'.
The two of them spend large parts of the book not talking to one another, or trying to talk but not saying much. (McBride has a good ear for the inconsequential, nothingy things people say when they're in a relationship: 'No     I suppose not'; 'Probably fine'; 'Nothing really'.) In place of communication, there are attempts at decoding. 'My eye goes through him for his state of mind,' Eily says, aware that he's 'gauging' her in the same way when he thinks she can't see. 'How is she? Fine. Or she seems okay. Good. Tick. Now? Fine. Good. Tick again.' Immersed in her point of view, the narrative tracks her thinking as if in real time, as she calibrates and recalibrates, makes tiny continuous adjustments. She has two internal voices: as well as her narrative voice, the one she uses to describe what's happening or how she's feeling, there is another, given in smaller type, which cuts across the first - self-editing, calling bullshit, saying things she wouldn't admit to out loud. It's the one that insists that everything she's done in her life has been a choice: 'Unable unwilling? to look at myself as    a person    who might    have made a mistake? A person who might    have misread herself?'
The little voice comes into its own when Eily starts to worry that she might be pregnant. 'You can't just think this one away,' it tells her. But instead she looks over at what Stephen is doing, with his marked-up copy of Doctor Faustus:
Saw, when I glanced up, you making a note by some line you     didn't think worked? And who would you discuss that with? Christopher Marlowe except What if I'm pregnant? he died centuries ago. I know that but what if I am? Pub fight in Deptford, I'm fairly certain. I'm just daring myself aren't I? To imagine it's true? Stabbed through the eye.Except     I am a body too.

General knowledge is good for a lot of things, including keeping unwanted truths at the door. Here, voluntary and involuntary lines of thought flicker over and under one another. Conjunctions - 'except', 'but' - act like hinges, or railway points, allowing one track to switch unexpectedly into the other. Bit by bit, the 'official' track - what exactly happened to Marlowe? - starts colliding with, or being taken over by, the unofficial one, the secret that only Eily knows about herself. 'Except    I am a body too.'
The mixing here - of voice, tone, time, place, London in the 1590s and London in the 1990s - is part of the cognitive effect. (Somehow the phrase 'pub fight' seems more in the realm of Stephen and Eily's grungy locals than Marlowe's Elizabethan tavern.) It captures the associative, multivocal way people think, as well as the particular way Eily does. Reaching for Marlowe as a means of distraction comes naturally to her: she is a reader ('Customarily speaking, we're for fucking and books,' she tells us early on), and both this novel and The Lesser Bohemians are peppered with careless, near automatic allusions to the sorts of thing she reads and acts in. Her apprehensive wait in bed for Stephen one night takes on the shades of Faustus's final, doomed soliloquy: 'It took you an age, but The stars move still, time runs, the clock will strike!' Out in Soho, blind drunk, a friend's cheating boyfriend gets a punchy Shakespearean toast: 'To his clap and her burning pants. A pox on his penis. Minimus! Egg! Dwarf!' (This combines insults from A Midsummer Night's Dream and Macbeth, as well as recalling the friend's late-night food of choice: 'I am chips and she's pickled egg.') In The Lesser Bohemians, three dramatists bear awkward witness to Eily and Stephen's first snog: 'I'll just clear these plates. Goodbye dried mince. May the kissing go better for the Pinter beneath it. Will it? Orange peel on Valle-Inclan. What might have been a plaster on Howard Brenton.'
In A Girl Is a Half-formed Thing (2013), McBride's first novel, the narrator and her friend bunk off school and read Milton, but Milton doesn't get into the text: the girl's language seems to come from within, rather than without, as personal and self-identifying as a birthmark. The Lesser Bohemians, by contrast, opens itself up to the world: it makes storytelling - being able to talk to someone else, to draw on a shared language - its subject. In the middle of the novel, there's an extended set piece in which Stephen lets Eily in on the awful secrets of his past. At the end, his mother - from beyond the grave - gives her side of the story, reported via Stephen's stepfather and his ex-girlfriend. The City Changes Its Face is just as self-reflexive. McBride has said that her early training in method acting (she was a student at Drama Centre London in the 1990s) continues to shape her way of inhabiting her narrators: 'Repurposing that same intimate, closed-circuit perspective has become the method's real legacy for me.' But the most interesting thing about her new novel is its exposed circuitry, the attention it pays to its workings and to the affordances of form more generally.
At its heart, in the place Stephen's story occupies in The Lesser Bohemians, is an eighty-page ekphrasis, a frame-by-frame description by Eily of the film Stephen has made about his childhood and brutal early years in London. The film, in her rendering of it, is rough-going but transfiguring, even beautiful, making shooting up look like artistry:
INTERIOR. PUBLIC TOILET. DAY. The young man's long fingered hands. Bluish for human skin but, regardless, elegant. Carefully laying instruments out like place settings and plates. Except a syringe - not soup spoon. Matches. Shoelace. And the actual spoon, from no desirable set, with its handle already bent out of shape. His accompanying monologue, as impassive as its logic, is strange and sends grave walking shivers down my spine.

Ekphrases are by nature self-reflexive. (It's difficult, scrutinising the form of something, not to reflect on the shape of the thing you're making.) But this one is especially so, because its content is familiar to us - a story hashed out in Stephen's monologue in The Lesser Bohemians, then, more obliquely, in Strange Hotel, in which the unnamed narrator, likely Eily, remembers a night long ago that remains her emotional 'touchstone': 'A man told me a story, and it wasn't just a story, and he thought it would make me run.' So what matters here isn't what, but how. Grace, watching the cut with Eily and her father, doesn't know the half of it and sits with her hands over her mouth in horror; Eily, to whom none of it is new, is interested in the 'nuts and bolts', the filmmaker's bag of tricks. Everything can be analysed: the way the camera cuts away sometimes to leave certain things unseen, only implied; the way the pattern of its attention makes some characters sympathetic and others not; the fact that you can get the best out of a child actor by promising him Opal Fruits; the way an ordinary run-down house can be made to seem the pit of hell. ('INTERIOR. DERELICT HOUSE ENTRANCE HALL. NIGHT. This place born for filming and the camera loves it. Broke glass. Ivied woodwork. Floors Tarkovsky wet.') The film's strategies, laid bare, illuminate the similar tricks the novel plays: its flashbacks and flashforwards, its rapid cuts between scenes, the way it self-consciously juxtaposes episodes that comment on one another.
There's no cynicism here, just technique. Art and life have to be honest, McBride suggests, about how they use each other. (In The Lesser Bohemians, Stephen breaks up with Eily and all the pain of it goes into her Juliet: 'Much better, the Director says at the end You've not wasted your weekend.') What Stephen wants more than anything, Eily realises, is to be able to parse his experience, then slough it off - 'escape from the life of being looked at, into the one of being an eye'. It turns out that the same need is in her too: to 'peel', 'shed', step out from. Anything can be beautiful, if you look at it from the right angle. Lots of things, despite themselves, can be funny. At a dark moment in the film, Stephen's character gets chatting to the owner of a greasy spoon who functions a bit like the gravedigger in Hamlet ('"I lived down south a while myself." "Yeah? Where was that?" "Morden"'). The facts are 'unalterable', but getting outside of and on top of them makes all the difference. After A Girl Is a Half-formed Thing was published, McBride said that her writing was about 'stripping away layers of artifice', 'not accepting the accepted impurities of form'. Now, to satisfying effect, she seems intent on letting the impurities back in.
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Story
No Heartburn, Flatulence, Nausea or Muscular Cramps Either
Diane Williams

337 wordsThe short time they have been together, they have shared sex, the house and garden! - food and drink! - what some would consider freedom! - although this is probably the last time he will visit.
 He can leave, of course.
 Several rooms of her house have small windows, too small for anybody to climb out of.
 As for the garden - yes, there can be golden flecks in it - there is a glow. And the shrubs and trees in her yard are in cone, globe and weeping shapes. Otherwise, it is undecorated.
 Likely, he won't come to her anymore, despite the fact that she has avoided any ethical question and thinks there is no need for them to be led into a discussion of the difference between, say, truthfulness and truth.
 So then, into the kitchen for coffee! - and for pancakes, if he is not too annoyed yet. Not yet.
 Each pancake was puffed up, much like a muffin, and produced the illusion of an even, veneered surface.
 Last night they served supper to invited guests, who had plenty of space to take off their coats and shoes. These were lightly crumpled people that gave the room they sat in a lived-in feeling.
 She is so sorry for her own appearance, for it may seem as if she has been crying, or that she is about to, or that she is slightly off balance - not entirely upright - hair uncombed.
 The man wept when he at last left for good, as predicted, but we can see soon enough from the man's expression, he is no pitiful figure in his present mood.

*
At this point, let me introduce myself - I really don't know what I am talking about - except that when leaving the woman for good, Hugo Crook experienced long views, magnificent views over the countryside, which his colourful personality is perfectly suited for.
Though you should know, I am on her side. My sympathy's with her ... Always will be. I don't want to talk about it!
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On Resistance
Adam Phillips

6689 wordsThe removal of resistances can mean the final loss of the individuality of the person concerned . . . It is really only the psychoanalysts who respect resistances and see in them the unconscious struggle of the person to find himself.

D.W. Winnicott, 'Leucotomy'

Never before  has the word 'resistance' felt at once more imperative and more difficult to imagine and discuss. I want to ask whether the small world of psychoanalysis has anything even implicitly to offer - or even to say - on this subject, mindful of how grandiose and strangely irrelevant psychoanalysis can sometimes seem when applied, beyond the consulting room, to political life. To resist something or someone is to try to ensure that some outcome won't happen; and the resistance implies that - consciously or unconsciously - you know both what you are resisting and what will happen if you don't resist. And perhaps, above all, as the above quotation from Winnicott suggests, you are protecting your sense of yourself (sometimes the point and sometimes the problem; the patient in psychoanalysis uses his resistances to over-protect himself, and in that sense, resistance can be a protection racket). Resistance, that is to say, is often a state of conviction, if not actually a state of omniscience; at its most minimal it is a knowledge-claim, about oneself and about whatever is taken to be threatening oneself. Resistance is at once recognition and a fantasy of catastrophe; indeed, in resisting one has always leaped forward to the impending catastrophe - the catastrophe of submitting to or complying with something fundamentally unacceptable. Or, as we shall see, one is in the process of finding something out: resistance as a form of curiosity.
Resistance, at least in a psychoanalytic context, is felt as a form of malign prediction or prophecy; it is often quick and concise knowledge of the future in the service of self-protection, even though one doesn't always know what the danger is, nor what it is about oneself that might be harmed. And, perhaps above all, one must first have been drawn to something or someone - noticed them, picked them out, felt something in their presence - as the precondition for resisting them. So, resistance reveals preference and affinity, and fear and suspicion, political sympathy and personal antipathy, and the way these might come or go together. This is resistance as conflicted engagement. Resistance, as Derrida argues in Resistances of Psychoanalysis, is a romance and a project. 'This word,' he writes,
which resonated in my desire and my imagination as the most beautiful word in the politics and history of this country, this word loaded with all the pathos of my nostalgia, as if, at any cost, I would like not to have missed blowing up trains, tanks and headquarters between 1940 and 1945 - why and how did it come to attract, like a magnet, so many other meanings, virtues, semantic or disseminal chances?

Resistance, as Derrida makes clear, is the nexus for multiple significant, contemporary meanings, from the French resistance to the Nazis to Freud's virtual obsession with the modern individual's determined resistance to his own desire - to his own nature - and his consequent resistance to psychoanalysis as both a treatment and an account of so-called human nature. Resistance to tyranny, both internal and external, has become a pressing (and sometimes tyrannical) modern preoccupation; the alternatives to resistance - the resistance to resistance - follow in the wake of this. Resistance has gradually come to be seen as the key to survival in an oppressive modern world: a necessary talent, a talent that psychoanalysis, in part, gives us a language with which to think, and talk, about.
The question - which is sometimes a psychoanalytic question - is what would be a good reason to go beyond our resistance? How can one distinguish stage fright from all the other frights? That, one might say, is what it is to take a risk: to find out what is stage fright; which resistances are there to be overcome; which resistances comprise one's individuality; which are the guardians of what matters most. And, of course, which of one's resistances are temptations in disguised form. Psychoanalysis, at its best, reveals one's repressed repertoire of untaken and alluring risks; and so reveals what one is tempted to resist, and why, in desperation, one might need to turn a resistance into a phobia, which never feels remotely like a resistance, but feels, to the sufferer, un-negotiable, beyond consideration. So, when we are thinking about resistance - and partly, but not only in a psychoanalytic setting - it is always worth asking: what is it that I am unable or unwilling to engage with? What do I think I need to avoid to remain myself as I prefer to be? Which also means, what am I unwilling or unable to talk about? Psychoanalysis begins when conversation breaks down, where the conversation becomes impossible, where there is a reluctance to go on speaking, a pause, a hesitation, a wilful changing of the subject. We are full of sentences, and phrases, and words that we dare not speak, even to ourselves. And as with all strong censorship, it never occurs to us that we are being censored. Successful censorship is never experienced as censorship; it seems part of us. In the psychoanalytic story, all resistance is originally or eventually resistance to speaking, resistance to language. And this is of course our testament to the power of language, and to the power of resistance. From a psychoanalytic point of view, language and resistance are inextricable. This apparently simple fact, the fact that language, among other things, is what we resist, has some startling consequences. As the poet Isaac Rosenberg wrote, 'who knows what we miss through not having spoken?'
There is a clinical vignette described by the Canadian psychoanalyst Emmanuel Ghent that exposes some of the psychoanalytic cliches about resistance. 'Many years ago,' Ghent writes (and even the details he begins with would be resisted by so-called orthodox analysts),
I had an office on the ground floor of a Greenwich Village brownstone. As it faced out on a large garden and much open space, the office was quite susceptible to chilly drafts on windy winter days. One such day a woman patient was haltingly recounting, as was her wont, the details of some event that had recently occurred ... She was sitting in a chair at right angles to me, about fifteen feet from the windows. Suddenly, but not abruptly, I got up, went over to where a Scottish throw was folded on the couch, picked it up, covered her lap and legs with it, and returned to my chair. As I sat down, I noticed, to my surprise, that she was sobbing silently. It was the first time in our work, by then over two years in duration, that there was any indication of distress, pain or even sadness. After some time, her first words were, 'I didn't even know I was feeling cold,' and then she wept profusely. The event was a turning point.

Ghent's commentary on this remarkable and simple moment is to describe what he calls 'this conservative tendency' as 'a species of need':
The form it takes may be some version of a repetition compulsion, a need to grind out some rendering of an old and usually self-defeating pattern ... But mixed in with the apparent need to repeat, another (and opposing) motivational system, or need, is operating as well, one that is usually much weaker and less developed; it is an expansive rather than a conservative system, one whose tendency or need is either to seek out a new quality of experience, or to destabilise the smooth functioning of the old, constrictive system.

It is as though this woman's not mentioning, or perhaps not even noticing, that she was cold was an unconscious love test. Would Ghent's engagement with her be such that he would notice she was cold and act on this noticing? The woman was assuming, taking for granted, a kind of neglect, an inability or an unwillingness on the part of herself and of the person she was with to acknowledge and enter into what she might need (presumably an unwitting repetition of a childhood situation). You might say - at a profoundly unconscious level - she was resisting her experience of being cold and resisting making a demand for warmth. But she would not have known she was resisting anything unless and until Ghent acted on his recognition (it is a minor but not insignificant detail that orthodox Freudian analysts would not put blankets on their patients; they would resist, for want of a better word, ordinary straightforward acts of kindness in the service of supposedly higher psychoanalytic aims). This woman could only acknowledge and begin to overcome her resistance when somebody else recognised her behaviour as resistance. Until this happened, she wasn't, from her point of view resisting anything. She was just being herself.
One might infer from this example that ordinary everyday behaviour may be an unconscious probe to find out what the other person will do with what I do or don't do, with what I say or don't say; and whether they can imagine and articulate the need in it, whether they can see something in it that I can't. It is as though ordinary life is a performance art in front of, initially, one's parents and then anyone else who might be interested in one's wants and needs, in one's preoccupations. So the resistance is initially in the audience; once Ghent notices what his patient needs and acts on it, she can too. This is a version, in quite different language, of Lacan's remark that the resistance is always in the analyst.
We don't always know what we are resisting, or even that we are resisting; and we are dependent on the recognition of others who by their words and their actions show us our resistances. They must be able to resist our resistances by seeing them for what they are. The people whose company we keep must not resist their sympathetic and imaginative interest in us. Ghent and his fellow relational analysts - the tradition of psychoanalysis derived from Freud's radical and innovative colleague Sandor Ferenczi - offer us a new picture of sociability, of what people might want and need to do together to improve the quality of their lives, or to make something new and different of themselves. Something, in Ghent's word, less constricted. As if to say - and it is not a mystery why this would be so, but it is shocking - that we resist articulating our needs to ourselves and to others; and we resist the experiment in living that expressing one's needs often entails. And perhaps paramount in this story, and indeed in the Freudian story with which it is aligned, is that paradoxically we are most likely to resist what is most important to us. That is how we know it is important to us: we resist acknowledging it and acknowledging its importance. We resist - at its most extreme in the part of ourselves that Freud enigmatically called the death instinct - the wish to survive and flourish and be gratified. That resistance, in the vocabulary of psychoanalysis, can be the resistance to being alive, the resistance to our aliveness, which is also a resistance to our dependence on one another. The by now familiar diagnostic psychoanalytic categories - hysteria, obsessionality, depression, anxiety, anorexia, phobias - are all forms of self-obsession that are fundamentally self-depriving, self-starving ways of living (which is why, by the same token, psychoanalysis should free us of our interest in ourselves). They are not in the service of what Nietzsche called 'more life'.
But we should perhaps bear in mind that it may be both true and useful to say that one only resists something one is capable of not resisting. That resistance always signifies - whatever else it portends or points to - possibility; resistance, as resistance and not incapacity, is always a missed opportunity. Resistance is something we make, and make up; an artefact of everyday life. And so, by the same token, it is worth looking at the limit cases; at the cases in which the question is: can this refusal or sense of impossibility be described as resistance, and if not why not? If you describe something as a resistance, what are you describing it as? How can you tell an incapacity from a refusal? And one answer may be, you have to experiment, you have to want to find out, which is why psychoanalysis is as much about inciting the patient's curiosity as it is about alleviating their suffering.
Discussing Aquinas's conviction that language cannot by definition describe or define God, the philosopher Stephen Mulhall writes: 'As I began to read each individual Grammatical Thomist's body of work more systematically [theologians inspired by Aquinas's beliefs about language, that Mulhall links to some of Wittgenstein's ideas about nonsense],
it became clear that one central point of resemblance between them lay in their willingness to characterise discourse about God as nonsensical - more specifically their willingness to take as a touchstone of theological insight the awareness that language was essentially incapable of putting us in touch with the reality of God, given the fact that (as mainstream Christianity has always averred) he is utterly transcendent with respect to the world we users of language inhabit, and in relation to which our words attain and maintain whatever meaning or sense they possess.

Mulhall quotes the philosopher D.Z. Phillips by way of clarification: 'When [believers] speak of that which passes understanding, they invite us to consider the possibility of reacting to human life in a way other than by the understanding.' In other words, when it comes to conceiving of God, understanding, or the language of understanding, may be beside the point. It may be what is called in philosophy a 'category error'. It is not clear whether God, by definition, or by intention as it were, resists understanding - the kind of understanding that human language makes available - or whether the whole notion of resistance becomes irrelevant, partly because when it comes to God understanding is irrelevant. Are we, or our language, resistant or simply incapable of conceiving of God; if we are merely resisting, we might, as it were, try harder (the notion of resistance always brings with it a sense of possibilities and options). But what is being insisted on here is that language and description and understanding are of no possible use in our relationship with God. And what this irrelevance of resistance - in us, in our language or in God - makes clear, among many other things, is that talking about resistance reveals a confidence in human agency, in human potentiality; that one of the things that we are more than able to do is to resist, and the implication might be that if we know how to resist we know how to stop resisting. Resistance is a human artefact, a device, a trick for surviving, but not useful or usable everywhere in our lives. And just as we need to know when and where resistance is the right word for what we are doing, we need to know when it is the wrong word, the wrong picture, the wrong description (calling something a resistance might, say, make us overconfident about solutions). We are not resisting giving an account of God and our relationship with him, it is simply something we can't do; and among other things this inspires us to acknowledge where else, in D.Z. Phillips's words, we can 'react to human life in a way other than by the understanding'.
We resist understanding for all sorts of reasons, and sometimes understanding is not the point. Were I to call all lack of understanding resistance, I might drive myself mad. Once we have dropped the idea of our resisting something we might say, 'I'm not resisting, I'm just doing something in my own way'; once resistance is out of the picture, we might try to work out what else might be going on if resistance is not on the cards.
The resistance story about ourselves is really a fear story about ourselves; it suggests that self-protection is our paramount consideration, and that vulnerability is our primary preoccupation. And God, as our representative figure for omnipotence and omniscience, is that which cannot be resisted, with all the pleasure and relief and terror this entails (we might think here of Abraham, or Jonah; or in a secular context we may think of so-called addictions). Our investment in the idea of omniscience and omnipotence - alive and well as the most wishful and wished-for part of ourselves - attests to our founding ambivalence about resistance. Resistance and its relinquishment are both compelling objects of desire. Development is the ongoing discovery of where in one's life resistance works, and what, when it does work, it works in the service of. We may wonder whether we prefer to define ourselves by what we cannot resist - breathing, eating, dependence, ageing, death - or by what we can resist. If we describe someone or something as irresistible, we are either, in a bad-faith kind of way pretending to relinquish our agency (as though to be without intention is to be without guilt), or we have come up against the limits of our agency. God exposes the limits of our language. And as Freud and the psychoanalysts who followed him wondered, is language the form our resistance takes, or are there limits to language that have nothing to do with our resistance?
'A poet's words and rhythms are not his utterance so much as his resistance,' Geoffrey Hill wrote in his book about the 'circumstances of language', The Enemy's Country. Resistance is always a way of talking about agency and language and invention; it is a way of trying to sort out our determinisms from our freedoms, of determining where what we call our control begins and ends. What, Hill makes us ask, are the poet's words and rhythms a resistance to, and why is resistance what we believe we need to do? What do we think will happen to us if we don't resist (noting, meanwhile, that many, though not all, of our greatest pleasures and achievements in life involve a kind of yielding, the overcoming of a resistance)? I think it is of interest that once we become bewitched by the idea of resistance - as psychoanalysis encourages us to be - we begin to see it everywhere, as though we forget to ask what the notion of resistance can itself be a form of resistance to (or, indeed, what it might be useful for). It becomes all too easily essential to the picture we have of ourselves. Art as resistance; sexuality and aggression as that which we resist; resistance in political life; mobilising the body's resistances in immunity and so on. The term 'resistance' is used four times in Shakespeare's plays and 629 times in the Standard Edition translation of Freud. It seems suggestive, but it might be unwise, to speculate as to what kind of cultural shift that may or may not reveal. The differences between resisting, opposing and withstanding seem telling. But each word intimates, at its most minimal, degrees of impermeability; the setting of limits to exchange; the fear of impingement and violation, and indeed flexibility; the absence or presence of a certain kind of agency or autonomy. In our resistances are we making something of ourselves or submitting to something? And all of this implies questions about degrees or versions of agency and choice-making. When we talk about resistance we can't help but talk around and about intentionality. All psychoanalytic stories about development are about the opening and closing of the bodily self; and the way the possibility of resistance - of resistances of various kinds - makes development possible (Winnicott and Lacan in quite different languages spoke up for the individual's capacity not to be unduly waylaid by the demands of other people). It was impossible for Freud to describe the modern individual without the word and the idea of resistance.
If one word  for resistance in psychoanalysis is defence, the other word for resistance in psychoanalysis is pleasure. And just as, of course, there are many so-called 'mechanisms of defence' in psychoanalytic theory, there are many kinds of pleasure; not least, of course, the pleasure of having no pleasure, the pleasure involved in attacking one's pleasures. The pleasure, in short, of resisting or even triumphing over one's pleasures: pleasure as a resistance to pain, masochism as the psychic trick of making pain pleasurable. Freud found resistances everywhere; and increasingly it was the paradoxical and ironic and indeed intractable senses of resistance that he was more and more preoccupied by. Resistance, he quickly realised, was never straightforward. Writing about the 'resistances against analytic treatments and impediments to therapeutic success' in his late, great paper, 'Analysis Terminable and Interminable', Freud found he was writing about
the ultimate things which psychological research can learn about: the behaviour of the two primal instincts [the life instinct and the death instinct], their distribution, mingling and defusion - things which we cannot think of as being confined to a single province of the mental apparatus, the id, the ego or the superego. No stronger impression arises from the resistances during the work of psychoanalysis than of there being a force which is defending itself by any possible means against recovery and which is absolutely resolved to hold on to illness and suffering ... For the moment we must bow to the superiority of the forces against which we see our efforts come to nothing.

The patient who comes to psychoanalytic treatment ostensibly to be cured wants nothing less than to be cured. What is wanted is resisted; what is wanted is resistance. Freud had discovered through his psychoanalytic work that the patient who resisted his sexual and aggressive impulses because they were forbidden - sabotaging his hard-won equilibrium and exposing the intensity of his neediness and so of his dependence - by the same token resisted psychoanalytic treatment because it exposed him to the parts of himself he needed to repress, deny or conceal, most of all from himself. ('The defensive mechanisms directed against former danger,' Freud writes, 'recur in the treatment as resistances against recovery. It follows from this that the ego treats recovery as a new danger.') There is a profound resistance to the desires of instinctual life, and so a tenacious resistance to any form of treatment that urges the acknowledgment of such desires. And, to add insult and despair to injury, in his supposed discovery of a so-called death instinct - always a contentious idea in psychoanalysis - Freud realised that there was also an elemental and powerful part of the self that didn't in any sense want to feel better: it wanted either to suffer or to feel nothing and was determined to abolish all forms of excitement and aliveness and enjoyment in the self. What it seemed to resist was life itself. Resistance is not quite the right word for Freud's supposed death instinct, which is more of an attacking force, but Freud was simply discovering the limits of psychoanalytic treatment; it would take Ferenczi to reveal just how narrow, limited and limiting, and indeed pessimistic, Freud's account of resistance really was, almost as though there was a part of Freud that resisted psychoanalysis (and called that resistance the death instinct).
In the Freudian subject, of course, there is no strong agency, or sense of agency, just a beleaguered and often forlorn and helpless ego struggling with the overwhelming pressure of the internal world, the external world and what Lacan refers to as the 'obscene superego', obscene in the ruthless severity of its restrictiveness and its punitiveness. Freud says that the ego is not master in its own house; in his account, virtually nothing can resist the power of these resistances to being helped. In fact, we can only speak of resistances to being helped if it is assumed that a person really wants to be helped. In Freud's later picture, the individual is not exactly resisting a cure: he wants and holds on to his suffering. With the appearance of the death instinct, the ego has virtually no resources, not even an illusion of agency, however absurd. Often in Freud's writing, one gets the sense that the life instinct is insufficiently strong to counteract what he refers to as the (silent) workings of the death instinct (it is not of course incidental that Freud formulates the idea of a death instinct towards the end of his life). Increasingly in Freud's account it becomes a question for the individual of how best to survive the determinisms - the life and death instincts - that are taken to constitute the self.
When Freud writes of the 'resistances' to psychoanalytic treatment, he is describing why psychoanalytic treatment is more or less impossible. To describe the patient as resisting the analyst puts the emphasis in the wrong place; it is not that the patient is resisting the analysis but that he wants to suffer. His suffering is his object of desire, not the cure, despite what he says. No agency, no resistance. To resist, oppose or withstand is to have the wherewithal to do something, to 'act' in a certain way. Against the tyranny of the life and death instincts, the ego has no real say; he must merely submit to, and at best compromise, their tyranny. Freud's picture of the individual's internal predicament is in this sense an accurate transcription of the external political predicament of his times. There was to be no real resistance on the part of individuals to the two cataclysmically destructive world wars, and no real resistance for the Jews to the Holocaust. Resistance, one can say in the aftermath of such catastrophes, is part of the vocabulary of optimism. The best and the worst things are irresistible. And what else would one do with the best and worst things but try to resist them, or eagerly submit.
Once Freud had redescribed and elaborated his idea of the unconscious, resistance became the order of the day. The unconscious makes resistance a necessity. 'In psychoanalytic treatment,' Laplanche and Pontalis write in Language of Psychoanalysis,
The name 'resistance' is given to everything in the words and actions of the analysand that obstructs his gaining access to his unconscious. By extension, Freud spoke of resistance to psychoanalysis when referring to a hostile attitude towards his discoveries in so far as they exposed unconscious desires and inflicted a 'psychological blow' upon man.

Resistance is now integral to the whole psychoanalytic project; if there is, in any sense, an unconscious, there is resistance to it; this is what the unconscious is: that which one resists. So, by this logic, resistance is the surest sign of the acknowledgment of something of real significance. You know something or someone is of value - or rather of significance to you - because you resist them. Whenever resistance is being held accountable in psychoanalysis, it implies choice and intention and a degree of agency, not to mention taste and aesthetic preference (someone is doing the resisting, according to their lights). When one resists something, one is protecting an already existing system of values, of moral and emotional preferences and imperatives, however unconscious. And in this sense resistance is always, as Freud intimates, conservative, because it is conserving something presumed to be of ultimate value. When one is defending against something one is always defending something else. And, paradoxically, when one is resisting something one is keeping oneself in contact with that which one needs to resist.
Once there was what the analyst Paul Gray calls the 'rather slow acknowledgment that resistances themselves, although not part of the repressed, were in fact unconscious', then psychoanalysis involved not only the making conscious of unconscious desire but also the making conscious of unconscious resistances to this desire.
We have to know what we are resisting, and that we are resisting; and this means being curious rather than anxiously impressionistic about what we are tempted to resist and noticing that resisting is what we are actually doing rather than, say, being ourselves or being very discriminating. And this, of course, is what psychoanalysis is for as a treatment. It says, at its most extreme, that what you call living your life, or being yourself, or doing what you can is in fact living in a state of hyper-vigilant resistance. That, if you accept Freud's description of the unconscious, then resisting is not something you do occasionally, or in certain recognisable situations, but something you need to do all the time. Freudian men and women live in a state of continuous emergency, always potentially threatened by overwhelming, unpredictable and often unrecognisable, largely unconscious desires. It is, of course, an absurd picture when it isn't a disturbing one. But what it means, if and when we are not living in the cult of resistance, is that we may wonder what a non-persecutory unconscious would be like; or what a picture or a story about so-called human nature would be like that was not antagonistic and conflictual, in which we are not taken to be the sworn enemies of our own nature. Or we might want a different story about the nature of resistance.
It was the idea of development in what became known as object relations, in a sense initiated by Ferenczi - relationship privileged over gratification, development preferred to sensual gratification - that was, for better and for worse, the psychoanalytic attempt to save us from ourselves, or, rather, from ourselves as Freud and some of his followers described us. It was clearly unpromising, from a psychoanalytic point of view, to think of ourselves now - in these times and in these places - as flourishing, in the way Aristotle did. Or to think of a life, again in classical terms, justified and enjoyed as the pursuit of a sovereign good (Lacan is explicit and insistent that there is no sovereign good, and that such fantasies are no longer viable ways of holding us or keeping us together; Winnicott, although he doesn't and wouldn't put it like this, seems to believe that individual development is our sovereign good, if a very ambiguous kind of sovereign good). Resistance is the heart of the matter, at least for Freud and his immediate followers, because human beings, unlike other animals, are essentially resistant to their nature and so attack it.
What the Aristotelian philosopher Alasdair MacIntyre describes as the person growing up, coming 'to understand what good in fact is', sounds, at least in a psychoanalytic context, unduly naive; the phrase 'what the good in fact is' now seems something that many of us would resist, or at least question. But if, in fact, you have no real idea of what the good is, then what else will you, or can you, know? Resistance at least implies that there is a good one knows and wants to protect, even if it doesn't imply that you know you could be wrong. And it may be in the working through of resistance in psychoanalytic treatment - and the working through of Freud's grim view of resistance - that one might discover something about the good in life that one might value.
'In the course of the analysis,' Ferenczi writes in his 1928 paper, 'The Elasticity of Psychoanalytic Technique', 'it is as well to keep one eye constantly open for [the patient's] unconscious expressions of rejection or disbelief and to bring them remorselessly into the open. It is only to be expected that the patient's resistance should leave unexploited no single opportunity for expressing these.' The patient, it is assumed, is unrelentingly resistant to the treatment; and it is this unrelenting resistance that the analyst must above all attend to. In this paper, Ferenczi gives an account of, and accounts for, the patient's inevitable and unavoidable resistance to psychoanalytic treatment, but as a precondition for, rather than an obstacle to, the patient's positive and eventually helpful relationship with the analyst. Resistance is not the problem but the point. In Ferenczi's account, the obstacle becomes the instrument; where Freud became increasingly gloomy and despondent about the power of the patient's resistances to sabotage and discredit psychoanalysis, Ferenczi - far less sceptical than Freud about psychoanalytic 'technique' - insisted that it was precisely the patient's resistances, and the way the analyst approached them, that both facilitated and confirmed the efficacy of psychoanalysis. It was because the patient was allowed and encouraged to resist the treatment that the treatment worked. As if to say, the patient needs to acknowledge and articulate all his suspicions, misgivings, doubts, criticisms, prejudices and loathings - his hatred in other words - of the analyst and of analysis before he can arrive at his appreciation of the treatment. The analyst should not dismantle or try to free the patient of his inevitable resistances, but should allow for them, expect them and use them. The psychoanalyst, unlike virtually every other professional practitioner, facilitates and cultivates the most extreme criticism of his practice. It is the patient's doubts and misgivings about both the treatment and the analyst himself that is the material the analyst works with. In an interesting extension of Descartes's belief in doubt, the analyst assumes that the patient's doubts about the treatment and about the analyst himself (taken to be reiterations of doubts about the parents and the self) are what need to be understood and analysed. 'I have on many other occasions tried to describe,' Ferenczi writes,
how the analyst must accept for weeks on end the role of an Aunt Sally on whom the patient tries out all his aggressiveness and resentment. If we do not protect ourselves from this, but, on the contrary, encourage the only-too-hesitant patient at every opportunity that presents itself, sooner or later we shall reap the well-deserved reward of our patience in the form of the arrival of the positive transference. Any trace of irritation or offence on the part of the physician only prolongs the duration of the resistance period.

It is as though the patient to begin with puts the analyst through an elaborate kind of test; as if to say to the analyst, 'if you can survive without retaliation or masochistic guilt and defeat the full blast of my hatred, then I can rely on you as fully accepting of me through your good-natured resilience. Once you have seen and felt my hatred, I can risk my love and hatred, because you have proven that my hatred won't destroy someone.' In other words, Ferenczi is proposing here that resistance can be a form of stage fright; that it is a way of entering an uncertain threshold, or transition; a kind of initiation rite for both the patient and the analyst. And that, indeed, resistance may therefore be the necessary precondition for such transitions. That by initially saying no, one is testing the possibility of saying yes. In this story, it is clear that, at least from Ferenczi's point of view, if there is no initial and initiating resistance there can be no real relationship. And it is not incidental that this extraordinary paper ends with Ferenczi suggesting that the aim of psychoanalytic treatment is
To do away, at any rate temporarily, with any kind of superego, including that of the analyst. The patient should end by ridding himself of any emotional attachment that is independent of his own reason and his own libidinal tendencies. Only a complete dissolution of the superego can bring about a radical cure.

The psychoanalytic process Ferenczi proposes is the gradual overcoming of resistance through the uninhibited articulation of the resistances in all their irrational violence, and the establishing through this voicing of a positive relationship in which all extrinsic morality - the superego - is dissolved. The patient is left with his 'reason' (his idiosyncratic and singular intelligence) and his libidinal tendencies (his desire) in all their complexity. Lacan's moral principle that analysis should, ideally, enable the patient not to betray her own desire is a redescription of Ferenczi's project. But resistance as research, preparation, examination, curiosity, is the precondition, the starting block, for any possible new and potentially satisfying experience.
Resistance, in Ferenczi's radical revision of psychoanalysis, prepares the ground for the abolition and the irrelevance of the superego, and so for significant change in the patient. Dissolving the superego means, in Emerson's words, doing one's own thing, living one's life in one's own way, following one's inclination and curiosity and refusing to be intimidated, being able to make experiments in living. Not, in Lacan's language, betraying one's desire. No resistance, no enlivening future; no resistance, no apparent interest in the future, in pleasure and possibility. So, in this story, it would be the absence of resistance in ourselves and others that should make us wary or should make us at least curious. We need to notice that many of the best things in our lives, about our lives, begin as resistances. Our interest may require what Winnicott calls a 'period of hesitation'. Because we resist when something is at stake; we resist when something matters to us, even if we don't always know what it is. We resist when there is the apprehension of excessive pleasure or excessive suffering, or both. But resistance, as Ferenczi intimates, is apprehension and prediction. The patient can only begin psychoanalytic treatment by resisting it: resisting it and trying to find out to what or whom he is entrusting himself.
In this story  our resistance can be - as Ferenczi suggests - one of the best things about us; it signifies both our desire and our need to do things in our own time, in our own way. Our resistance is central to our singularity. It shows us that desiring is something we can only really do in our own time, partly because we are always tempted to resist desire, or to take refuge in desiring only what others want us to desire. Impatience, Kafka wrote, is our original sin. Our frustration, or our apparent inability to bear it, can make us compliant, what Ferenczi calls 'polite'. As though compliance is a magic cure for both frustration and impatience, a handing ourselves in to the authorities, the authorities who require us to be well-behaved. Complying is what we do when desiring seems too dangerous and too difficult.
So, when we resist, we are also always resisting compliance - refusing to fit in, refusing to play the game - or trying to find out if we can. Our resistance is like a probe to find out what the analyst - or the other - will make of our resistance, and what this will reveal him to be (authoritarian or kind, say, impatient or flexible). We resist people as a provocation, as a way of getting them to reveal themselves. From a psychoanalytic point of view, resistance is a paradoxical act, distancing people as a way of finding out if we can get close to them, making them cross to find out how kind or accepting they are. In this story, sociability, relationship, exchange - not to mention psychoanalytic treatment - is impossible without resistance. We might say by celebrating resistance, by making the case for it (as Ferenczi does more enthusiastically than Freud), psychoanalysis radically redescribes resistance as essential to exchange, to sociability and therefore essential to development. Of course, resistance always runs the risk of degenerating into stubbornness, or arrogance, or revenge, or grudge or dismissal. But as long as it initiates a process - the process Ferenczi so vividly outlines - rather than pre-empting it, psychoanalysis can show us how and why resistance is the one thing we should not resist.
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On Hallie Flanagan
Susannah Clapp

858 words[image: Hallie Flanagan]

Hallie  Flanagan: a woman killed by Congress. Or at least by Congress-approved committee. From 1935 to 1939, Flanagan ran the most extraordinary of stage ventures, a dramatic instance of imagination spurred by political principle. The Federal Theatre Project, set up under FDR's New Deal to give work to unemployed theatre practitioners, produced more than a thousand plays, estimated to have been seen by thirty million - roughly one in four - Americans. The celebrated 'voodoo Macbeth', which took an all-black cast into Jim Crow country, disrupted a creaking Shakespearean tradition, transporting Dunsinane to Haiti, getting rid of kilted thanes and launching the career of Orson Welles. A much needed (still needed) strand of documentary theatre was launched with a series of Living Newspapers, described by Arthur Miller as 'the only new form that was ever introduced into the American theatre'. Modern dance was eased out of its overlooked niche; the revolutionary lighting designs of Abe Feder resculpted the stage. Audience surveys recorded that two-thirds of spectators had never before been to a theatre. When the project was closed down after four years, deemed to be promoting un-American activity, Flanagan declared her life had been a failure.
Latter-day parallels shudder through James Shapiro's The Playbook (Faber, PS12.99), whose title touches on both scripts and proscription: division between American citizens, the tearing apart of democracy, the shutting down of arts organisations, culture wars! His account keeps the resonances light, concentrating on the Federal Theatre's particular, enviable qualities. Flexible and light-footed, not based in a building or rooted in a capital, this new model for a nationwide theatre did not merely summon audiences but travelled to them, and adapted its dramas to local circumstances: a play propagandising for slum clearance featured a blazing tenement when seen on Broadway, but in Philadelphia, where poor construction was a more persistent problem, turned on a building's collapse. In New York, the pivotal figure was a Jewish man, in Philadelphia a black woman.
Dissent also came from within, from the left as well as the right. Mary McCarthy berated the project for 'aesthetic fatigue' and New Deal toadyism. Practitioners smudged the truth, not least about that celebrated Macbeth. Welles, who described himself as 'King of Harlem', talked down the distinction of his collaborators ('the only other member of the coven who had any English was a dwarf with gold teeth'). The producer, John Houseman, made up a past as a cowboy and Cambridge graduate. The critic who flattered the production's reputation for jinxes by dropping dead after filing a disobliging review had been ill for ages; his main complaint was that the curtain went up late.
The chairman of the House Un-American Activities Committee before whom the Federal Theatre's organisers were summoned in 1938 was Martin Dies, an eight-cigars-a-day, on-the-up congressman from East Texas, who in his stump speech railed against the African American congressman Oscar Stanton De Priest for taking his wife to a White House tea: 'That burr-headed wife of De Priest may be good enough for Mrs Herbert Hoover, but I'll tell you here and now that she's not good enough for you.' Keener on sniffing out communists than Nazis, he focused his most intense investigations on the scripts of the Federal Theatre. A fellow inquisitor gave the New York Herald Tribune a laugh when, after Flanagan talked of 'a certain Marlowesque madness', he demanded: 'You are quoting from this Marlowe. Is he a communist?' More desolating than the prosecutors' inadequate knowledge of Elizabethan drama was their failure to grasp what a play actually was. They could not see that it was possible to stage an opinion without endorsing it. Metaphor evaporated in front of literal-mindedness; a blunt instrument flattened a subtle opponent. Flanagan flummoxed everyone when she said: 'I am combating un-American inactivity.'
The daughter of a seamstress and a salesman - Arthur Miller's play made her weep - Flanagan was a playwright, an unpublished memoirist, a teacher at Vassar. A 1937 photograph in Shapiro's dimly illustrated book (come on, Faber) shows her in trim hat and buttoned-up jacket looking po-faced at a radio script: she might be dispensing dietary advice in challenging times. One adversary told her, supposing to flatter: 'You look like a Republican.' A stronger picture (left), in the Library of Congress, not included in the book, shows a face that might have quelled the quip: amused and forthright under a swaggering hat. Flanagan is essential to the incidental feminism of The Playbook, which alights on incisive stage commentary by women, not least Willa Cather, who reviewed for the Nebraska State Journal and described the theatre delivering human experience 'not only by voice and attitude, but by all those unnamed ways in which an animal of any species makes known its terror or misery to other animals of its kind'. They did things better than on this side of the Atlantic, where theatre criticism was long a male preserve. Twenty-eight years ago when I expressed bewilderment that male reviewers should outnumber women by more than ten to one, a colleague put me right: 'It's rather a macho job.' That's Hallie Flanagan told. S. Clapp, too.
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Diary
Back to the Rectory
Patricia Lockwood

3333 wordsIsaw  the end of it then, I mean the end of it as it was, as my mother told the story of my father's sudden deafness. The turn towards the deer in the snow, two pairs of black eyes, the earplugs falling out soundlessly, the shot - then the line on his hearing chart falling off a cliff at a thousand decibels.
It was our first visit to Kansas City since before the election and the rectory seemed to have grown smaller, darker, dingier. The Trump flag hanging in the alcove where we used to smoke with the seminarian; my father locked in a corner of silence, not seeming to see us. He shot out his own hearing? we gasped. Yes. With a high-powered rig like the one that kid in Pennsylvania used to send the bullet whistling past Trump's ear.
I had felt what was going to happen in October 2024, coming down through Connemara, driving through one rainbow after another, drinking hot water and honey for a smoky throat. A swell of dread. I had left my lucky bracelet on the windowsill of the ferry keeper's cottage in Doolin. And something else: they had stopped calling the Republicans weird. Harris's numbers haven't moved, I thought. They should have moved.
It was Super Bowl Sunday and I was tucked into bed upstairs with the lights off. I was watching Season Six of the X-Files. By this point, the show had moved to LA. The sun was almost pink, going down behind Mulder's ear. Two men together in a car being swept by searchlights. This was the episode in which Bryan Cranston plays a man tormented by a piercing hum that will make his head explode unless he drives west as fast as possible. Cranston was the actor my co-writer, Heidi Schreck, had picked to play my father in our planned adaptation of my book about him, Priestdaddy. Possibly for tighty-whitie reasons. An actor's actor, a four-dimensional presence. Knives of blue light on his face, a nervy impulse, a cimarron energy.
'Mr Mulder could you,' Cranston says, 'go a little faster. Please.'
The episode seemed unbelievably powerful, some speedometer clicking higher and higher, until I realised it was half-time in the game playing downstairs and Kendrick Lamar was rapping, crouched on the hood of a car. The whole stadium exploding, some unison in the outside world.
IT'S HIGH ART, my husband, Jason, called up the stairs. IT'S THE STORY OF HIS LIFE. I ran down to catch the tail end of it. It was a sort of assassination in musical form. We had returned from Kansas with what I can only conjecture was a new variant of Covid; as always, when I had it, I saw and heard things that weren't there. Me, feverish, as the players filtered back onto the field: Tight end, what does they do? Jason, feverish: Be big catch.
Experience seemed heightened and the past very close, all episodes playing at the same time. Don't you get waves of nostalgia when you have it? I asked. Don't you want to be back there? In my childhood? he said, aghast. No, never.
The first thing that happened when we entered the rectory: my father's little dog, Sparky, whirled like a dervish at my feet and exploded from every orifice. Oh my God, I said, and dropped to my knees to clean up, as my father stood over me benevolently in his underwear, pointing out the spots I had missed. This was what was hard to get into the adaptation, a form of pustulent comedy, ready to go off at any moment. My father explaining fondly that sometimes Sparky ate birds' heads in the frozen backyard.
Now I saw it all through a person, as Heidi had. The tighty-whities were what had unlocked it for her. Cranston - Walter White in Breaking Bad - standing with his legs spread against that desert background, his head full of chemical equations. To write for someone's capabilities, or even just a little beyond them. He would be perfect, Heidi said. It would be transcendent. It would be the role of a lifetime.
WHAT IS THE GOVERNMENT DOING? That's a fun question to ask now. A ringing in the ears, even outside the ears. Oh Lord, I should have known it - we were talking about the Hum. Everything you'd read about in Ripley's Believe It or Not!, the X-Files would eventually cover. Was that show bad for us? For our minds? Maybe nine straight years of FEMA LIES ABOUT THE HANTAVIRUS was not good, in retrospect.
Just nothing here, my father said, showing my husband his chart, where the line suddenly dropped off. And he could not hear women's voices at all.
A strange brave torch is being passed in the car. A kind of relay is being run. Two actors locked in a crystal sphere together, driving west. The actor in the front seat is tired, it's been raining on him for the last six years. The actor in the back is as dry as the Mojave, ready. Cranston's comedy is to be a half-step ahead of the beat, David Duchovny's to be a half-step behind. In a moving car this balances, like when you perfectly pace a moving walkway so it appears to be standing still. In their silences they are talking about ambition, acknowledging strengths and weaknesses, they are keeping the ball alive.
All music falling away, and the Hum. My father could no longer hear confessions. Could no longer stand as the god of the room, holding forth, certain that everyone was listening. That bullet still just whistling, hanging suspended in the air.
It was stupid, he said sadly. He had ruined his lungs in a similar fashion, shaping and sanding guitar bodies out of exotic wood without a respirator. There is some other reality where none of this ever happened and he's still out in the garage making stained glass windows as I sit on a bench against the wall breathing the smell of lead solder. The unsquareable idea, that that would have been his virtuous life, rather than this one.
'A man can't help what he's born to ...' Cranston and Duchovny are talking about capabilities, what you do with your length and what you set out to do.
'We'll figure this out.'
'You'd better figure quick. We're running out of west.'
So long, Cranston is saying from the back seat of the car, just before his head dutifully explodes. Score-keeper, deduct one life.
Ihad returned,  marvelling, to the Thompson room at Harvard's Barker Centre with its statue of Winged Time. I had taken the same picture under the bust of John Harvard as I had on my last visit. I had seen William James's house, had imagined Elif Batuman scampering around campus, gathering material for The Idiot. I had refused, out of pure perversion, to see the Glass Flowers, had gone to visit the Chinese jades instead, and Gaston Lachaise's Woman Bending Backwards. Cambridge was beginning to thaw, to exhale blue spring. Letters were being signed, lawsuits brought, protests planned; a Tufts student would be taken off the street by plain-clothes policemen the night of my event.
But you must see the Glass Flowers, everyone said. If you do nothing else you must see the Glass Flowers. Two men in a room, making permanent petals, thirst along long green stems, more than four thousand perfect glass models over fifty years - competition in the realm of the purely decorative, the lifelike.
I was being interviewed by Tara Menon, a Harvard professor I had met five years earlier. We agreed, before the event, to deface my Wikipedia entry and say I was a supporter of Manchester United. This was the sort of thing that was funny to me now. She asked about my parents. You see them very fully even though you never get at their interiority. Yes, I agreed. I don't understand them, or why they do anything they do. But you can get at character just by writing down exactly what someone is saying. What is that thing your mother says? Tara began. I picked it up almost immediately: OH YEAH! her mother screamed in her OH YEAH! voice.
My father took Jason on a tour of his studio, one room of the decommissioned school. It's so strange, my husband said later, that his guitars should be so beautiful, as if he were intended to do something else, with his hands, in the realm of beauty. Who, with a working passport, chooses to leave the realm of beauty? A craftsman who wants to be that shooter in the snow. I shouldn't have - but I asked if he had recorded anything recently. He looked at me, his eyes big, and said it was so difficult, that he was still working on a song about my niece who had died. He couldn't finish it.
What does it mean to lay down a gift - a voice, a guitar, a shaping hand? Or to turn your gaze away from that thing that is your material?
All your books are shaped by illness, aren't they? Tara asked. Even in Priestdaddy, having to move back into the rectory because of your husband's eye condition. You're quite right, I said, after a moment. But to realise that would have been to realise that my life had been shaped by it too.
The lecture room was almost hilarious in the dangers it presented: fluorescent lights and a wall of vertical lines at the back. You learn how not to look at things directly. I recognised what I was doing as something my father does in his quieter moments: resting in his pain. All that boisterous talk, all those big laughs, and then he sinks into a chair against the wall and shakes hands with it in a kind of truce. The peace of it, the reality. I was explaining how he fell down a submarine hatch when he was in the navy and his bones never knitted right again. He had become the body of pain, which is as highly mapped, with all of its rises and falls, its sunlit and darkened areas, as the body in love.
Can you imagine him in that place? I asked. Alone in the middle of the ocean, falling and falling, then that crack in himself, between the future and the past. I had failed to imagine him, I said, realising that it was true.
I felt one outstretched finger towards him, such pity for his lost upper range. In adapting Priestdaddy, Heidi and I had considered humorous hunting scenes. For a while it was my father's dream to kill feral hogs from a helicopter; we pictured him shooting my brother, PJ, who had been drafted into this venture by mistake. Some chaos. The lesson I learned in that house: what was going to happen.
The flag wasn't even the saddest thing. That was the LET'S GO BRANDON mug in the cabinet. A grown man, now a great-grandfather, who watches YouTube videos where talking penises DEMOLISH Taylor Swift 'whenever she manages to make it on the charts'. A wall of weird masculinity supplements behind him and a carnivore dog.
You may want to lay off the coffee, we told him gently, when he described how his hands shook when he was trying to install the guitar pickup. On the mornings I have metalsmithing class, I drink green tea, I said. That's a very good suggestion, Bit, he said eagerly. He no longer took insulin, believing he had cured his diabetes, and would soon end up in hospital in full ketoacidosis, with a blockage in the left branch bundle of his heart - and still describing himself to the doctors and nurses as a self-taught nutritionist. I knew he would try out the tea for a week and then decide it was oestrogenic.
At my age you need all the testosterone you can get, he said. Does he know there is a time when he won't have ANY testosterone? Jason asked on the drive home.
Is he entirely off the planet? Is he now George eating gold? I said, referring to my grandfather, who had revised his story towards the end of his life into something wondrous and strange - he was an astronaut married to his own daughter. He spent a large portion of his fortune on the supplements of the day, which the next generation understood to be useless, even laughable. In his mind he owned diamond mines, and oil wells and estates on the moon and eternal life.
My father was shaken, almost childishly chastened, to learn he had not cured himself - but this too would be temporary. They got him on that ribeye and olive oil drip? my brother Paul asked. The craziest part of him choosing death by animal proteins is how unsurprising it is. On the way home from the hospital, he would demand a detour to obtain tacos, and a well-thumbed book would appear in the living room called The Statin Disaster - and I would wonder, as I did in childhood, where he found these books, behind what revolving wall of what esoteric library.
Tara wanted to talk about criticism. I found that was always what people wanted to ask about. I was thinking the whole time that THIS is what you should be doing, her husband said afterwards. What you should get to do.
What I had been describing in the interview was a kind of paradise of reading: whole uninterrupted mornings. An impossible life, I now understood, and one which I was still determined to live. We were defending our right to read into the past, to believe that people really lived in history. In short we were defending the right to move around in our own hours - to count, as Tara had done, how many characters appear in Jane Eyre (147).
At some point you have to stop talking to the interviewer and start talking to the room. Collecting faces, allowing silences, sending your listening into different corners. I realised the voice I was using was the one my father put on when he said Look and laid something out. Look, I remember him saying gently to a student, you can't start down it. He meant the path of questioning the Bible. You can't start down it because it will lead you somewhere: through, or up, or out.
When did he start to believe that? I wondered, eavesdropping from the kitchen. I still see him sprawled on the bed, in his characteristic position and his tighty-whities. Biblical literalism had never been a feature of my childhood. But now he had taken to describing Elon Musk as the smartest man alive and RFK Jr as his hero. Uh, does he know who his dad is? Jason asked.
Show me how you read, Tara said. Want a couch? somebody called from the audience and proceeded to drag one into the room with the help of two graduate students. I lay down, kicked up a leg and showed them the body of my father. Tara, lightning fast, passed me a book to prop between my legs. What we were doing was a kind of improv. Suddenly we were all so glad to be there. We were not reading the news. We were acknowledging that we no longer knew how to read it. But you had to keep the ball alive. Be big catch.
What is the purpose of criticism? a voice called from the middle of the room. And from the left quadrant: Is attention the same thing as love?'
Tara overestimated my reading, as people often do. She gestured to one essay: so much information arrayed there. No, I said, look. You can put things in an essay that you yourself do not know. There is a library all around you. You take a book off the shelf, find the fact or the sentence and put it where it fits. It never belonged to you, you never really had it. It comes from the library, it goes back to it. And it waits there for the next one who needs it.
Is it a reaction, is it a resolution, is it even protest - to insist on working slowly, go long on people of the past, though the minute is calling us to attention? The purpose of criticism: to read into people who have really existed, to raise the ceiling on your own intelligence. Are you doing it against something? And is it fair to say?
Really it's choosing a lifetime of homework, I said. Did they ask you to write about the X-Files? someone piped up. No, I wanted to write about the X-Files.
The anxiety about genre is really an anxiety that history should have happened differently, that the realism of the 19th century should not have turned to the experiential writing of the world wars, that those wars should not have been fought by journalists who became novelists who became memoirists, that we should not have become a nation of analysands, that an overeducated class of women should not have been locked up in the suburbs in the 1950s on tranqs, that their successors should not have taken up the sharp fragmented reportage of the 1970s, and on and on.
Do we live in a describable time? New sentences have appeared on earth, not written by human beings. Metallic whiffs from texts, emails, articles. Then there was the decal situation on a truck I had seen recently, which seemed to summarise the clash of ideologies so characteristic of the present:
Before you can be strokin' and cummin'
You better be ROCK HARD BITCH
Yin yang
Peeing calvin Peeing calvin
FUCKIN BITCH FUCKIN BITCH

People who talk to ChatGPT like a therapist say, almost uniformly, that it is because it is so encouraging, so full of love. What if parents or teachers had talked to them that way? Told them they could make art, music, movies. Apparently the em dash is the thing that gives it away, though the essay had that first.
A friend was reading to me one day from The Waves and I misheard a line as 'the senses have wind.' They did, they do. I saw it immediately: white manes and horses switching their sight from eye to eye as they high-stepped across the horizon. Breezes move in the senses, and mistrals, and sometimes the breath blows so cold that nothing can grow and you freeze in each green blade of grass. The visible world, and the world of sound, scent, taste, touch are perpetual only in their perpetual passing.
And the sixth gift too, prophecy.
In that snowdrift my father's hearing was absolutely still. He was the only one on earth who couldn't hear me. No, it doesn't feel good to look back and see that your books were, apart from anything else you intended, predictions.
Did they leave already? my father cried to my mother on the fifth day of our visit. He wanted to explain why he wasn't socialising. He wouldn't admit it at first, my mother said, that he had done it to himself. Then he approached her, saying: I think you're right. The shocking attention he now paid to our moving mouths. Is that the same thing as love.
I saw the end then, as it was. That turn towards the other living thing in the snow. Two pairs of black eyes. Recognition.
Hey, he said sadly. At least I got the deer.
Strangest set of points I've ever seen, the deer processor told my father, who believed, all alone now in the world, that he had won.
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